

MANAGING BIODIVERSITY FOR ECOSYSTEM SERVICES IN APPLE ORCHARDS

Doctor of Philosophy

Centre for Agri-Environment Research School of Agriculture, Policy and Development University of Reading

Sean M Webber

September 2017

Declaration

I confirm that this is my own work and the use of all material from other sources has been properly and fully acknowledged.

Sean M Webber

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisors: Simon Potts, Martin Lukac, Alison Bailey, and Theresa Huxley. Thanks for your advice, ideas, and support, and thank you Theresa for showing me the retailer's side of food production and for generally broadening horizons.

CAER has been a great place to work and I've thoroughly enjoyed working with all of my colleagues/friends in the SAPD. I'd like to thank all of my officemates, housemates, and Park Housemates, with particular thanks to Mike, for your advice, Louise, for your patience with assorted frozen invertebrates, and Racheal and Megan for your orchard solidarity. I'd also like to thank Michelle F and Simon M for their constructive and valued input on how to improve this thesis.

Further thanks to the directors and staff at AC Goatham and Sons, particularly Nigel and Lisa, for allowing me to use their orchards and caravans, and for always being very helpful and generous.

Thank you mother, father, and brother for your continued support, earthworm digging, and ad lib tea supply.

This research was funded by the Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Research Council and Sainsbury's Supermarkets Ltd.

Thesis abstract

Conventional intensive agriculture is largely reliant on high agrochemical inputs and has resulted in damaging environmental impacts including large scale biodiversity loss. More environmentally sustainable agricultural production methods are required. Ecological intensification is an approach which aims to sustainably increase production by using biodiversity-derived ecosystem services and replacing agrochemical inputs where possible. This can be achieved through modifying agricultural management practices to support ecosystem service-providing beneficial species. This thesis investigates the ecological intensification of commercial apple orchards in the UK. Apples are one of the most economically and nutritionally important fruit crops globally and their production relies upon a number of ecosystem services including pollination, pest regulation, and soil fertility services.

Alleyway cover crops were trialled as a novel management practice which has the potential to improve a number of orchard ecosystem services. Three different cover crop species mixtures, all based on perennial legumes but each with a different rationale, were compared to a standard mown-grass control. Growing cover crops in the alleyways was provided improved habitat quality for beneficial species, attracting greater numbers of natural enemy taxa including predatory beetles, parasitoids, and active-hunting spiders, without increasing the abundance of crop pests. Greater numbers of pollinators were also observed in alleyways sown with cover crops. Despite the greater numbers of beneficial species recorded in the cover crop treatments, no increases in pest regulation or pollination services were detected and no change in production was observed during the timescale of the study.

A second potential benefit of alleyway cover crops is the production of mulch material. Traditionally, organic mulches were used in orchards to help supress weeds underneath the trees, increase soil nutrients, and retain soil moisture, however many of these functions have now been replaced by agrochemical inputs. The cuttings from alleyway cover crops can provide an in-situ source of mulching material. Alleyway cuttings were compared to two traditional mulch materials, compost and straw, and a standard no-mulch control. Alleyway cover crop cuttings boosted numbers of earthworms and enhanced leaf litter decomposition, whilst the traditional straw and compost mulches improved some soil fertility measures including soil organic matter and moisture when compared to the control.

In the final study of the thesis, the importance of pollination is quantified and the methods used to assess pollinator dependence and pollination deficits are tested, with recommendations made about

iii

the scale at which these experiments should be carried out. Following pollinator exclusion apple yields were found to fall to 55% whilst supplementary hand pollination led yields to increase to 167% of current 'open' pollination rates, showing that pollination deficits existed in the study orchards. This study also highlights the importance of pollination for fruit quality, a key deciding factor of a crop's economic value.

Alleyway cover cropping was found to have positive effects on ecosystem service providers both above and below ground. Even relatively inexpensive cover crop mixtures, combined with a reduction in mowing frequency and increase in mowing height, were found to increase numbers of beneficial species. The findings demonstrate the potential benefits of this multi-purpose habitat management method.

Contents

		Page
Declaration		i
Acknowledgements		ii
Thesis abstract		iii
Contents		v
Chapter 1:	Introduction	1
	1.1 Intensive agriculture and food security	3
	1.2 Ecosystem services	5
	1.3 Ecological intensification	8
	1.4 Opportunities for ecological intensification in apple orchards	11
	1.5 Thesis aim and objectives	16
	1.6 References	18
Chapter 2:	The ecosystem service benefits of traditional and cover crop-derived	35
Chapter 2.	mulches	55
	2.1 Abstract	37
		37
	2.2 Introduction	
	2.3 Methods	40
	2.4 Results	46
	2.5 Discussion	53
	2.6 Conclusions and management recommendations	56
	2.7 References	57
Chapter 3:	Supporting natural enemies with orchard alleyway cover crops	63
	3.1 Abstract	65
	3.2 Introduction	65
	3.3 Methods	68
	3.4 Results	74
	3.5 Discussion	79
	3.6 Conclusions and management recommendations	82
	3.7 References	83

Chapter 4:	Orchard ground cover management for pollinators and pollination	91
	services	
	4.1 Abstract	93
	4.2 Introduction	93
	4.3 Methods	97
	4.4 Results	100
	4.5 Discussion	110
	4.6 Conclusions and management recommendations	112
	4.7 References	114
Chapter 5:	The benefits of insect pollination to apple yield and fruit quality	125
	5.1 Abstract	127
	5.2 Introduction	127
	5.3 Methods	130
	5.4 Results	134
	5.5 Discussion	140
	5.6 Acknowledgments	145
	5.7 References	145
Chapter 6:	Discussion	153
	6.1 Review of thesis aim and objectives	155
	6.2 Methodological constraints	158
	6.3 Management recommendations and potential issues	159
	6.4 Future research	163
	6.5 Final conclusions	165
	6.6 References	166
Appendix 1:	7.1 Mulch trial experimental design and orchard management details	
Appendix 2:	7.2 Cover crop trial experimental design and orchard management	
	details	

Chapter 1:

Introduction



(A standard mown-grass alleyway and bare-soil herbicide strip)

Chapter 1:

Introduction

1.1 Intensive agriculture and food security

The increasing growth of the human population and the rising demand for food drives the conversion of natural habitat to agricultural systems; over a third of Earth's land surface is now dedicated to food production (Vitousek et al. 1997; Smith et al. 2008) and 71% of land in the UK (DEFRA 2016a). This conversion of land cover comes at a high price to biodiversity; habitat destruction for agriculture is considered one of the primary drivers for species extinctions (Pimm & Raven 2000; Foley et al. 2005; Barnosky et al. 2011). Many of the natural areas currently at risk of conversion are of great biological conservation value (Vitousek et al. 1997; Hoekstra et al. 2005; Koh & Wilcove 2008; Gibbs et al. 2010). These large-scale changes to land cover are having global and regional effects on our environment and are increasing the release of greenhouse gases and adding to climate change (Vitousek et al. 1997; Smith et al. 2008; Gibbs et al. 2010). As well as the global expansion of agricultural land into natural areas, the increasing demand for food and changes in global diets are leading to greater intensification of existing systems (Lambin et al. 2001). Intensive agricultural systems aim to produce more food from less land; this is generally achieved by employing highly simplified monoculture cropping and relying on considerable external inputs to maintain yields. These methods can, at least over the short term, allow higher volumes of food to be produced (Tilman et al. 2002). However, focusing solely on food production can result in the decline of other ecosystem functions, reducing sustainability (Tilman et al. 2002, 2011; Foley et al. 2005). The reliance on globally traded finite inputs also reduces food security as prices of these resources fluctuate over time and are expected to increase (Tilman et al. 2002; Galloway et al. 2008; Robertson & Vitousek 2009; Godfray et al. 2010).

The inputs used in intensive agriculture consist largely of agrochemicals, including synthetic fertilisers, pesticides, and a variety of products used to regulate plant growth. The production of these chemicals generally relies on fossil fuels, both for the base ingredients and to supply the high energy demand of production. Mechanical inputs such as ploughing and mowing are also largely reliant on fossil fuel derivatives, particularly diesel (Tilman *et al.* 2002). This dependence on oil and other fossil fuels reduces food security and these non-renewable resources have undergone extreme fluctuations in both price and availability in recent decades (Galloway *et al.*

2008; Godfray *et al.* 2010). The agricultural industry is a significant consumer of oil and its derived products, and it is one of the industries most at risk from the consequences of climate change (Gregory, Ingram & Brklacich 2005; Schmidhuber & Tubiello 2007). Attempts to replace oil with intensively produced biofuels may further drive the loss of natural areas as the demand for cropping land increases, and can result in the net increase in greenhouse gas emission (Jørgensen & Andersen 2012).

As well as the global impacts of climate change, intensive agricultural methods can have severe negative impacts on the environment at regional and local scales. Many intensive agricultural systems are irrigated with water abstracted from aquifers or withdrawn from rivers (Rosegrant 2003; Hanjra & Qureshi 2010). Overuse of these sources has led to increasing soil salinity and the reduction of rivers and lakes in some areas (Micklin 1988; Pitman & Läuchli 2002; Matthaei, Piggott & Townsend 2010). The increasing demand for water from the growing human population, and the risks posed to water supplies by climate change, may make irrigation less feasible in the future (Vorosmarty 2000; Allen *et al.* 2010; Hanjra & Qureshi 2010). There is also a risk that increasingly valuable water resources will be polluted with agrochemicals. Contamination of drinking water sources can harm human health and remediation can have a high financial cost (Carpenter *et al.* 1998; Vörösmarty *et al.* 2010).

Synthetic nitrogen fertilisers are one of the most commonly used fertilisers in agriculture and the addition of these and other inorganic nutrients to soils have allowed huge increases in yields. Synthetic nitrogen fertilisers are produced using natural gas through the Haber-Bosch process (Erisman *et al.* 2008; Galloway *et al.* 2008), a process which has been described as the 'detonator of the population explosion' because of its significance to food production and human population growth (Smil 1999; Galloway *et al.* 2004; Erisman *et al.* 2008). The inappropriate use of fertilisers comes at a financial and environmental cost (Erisman *et al.* 2008; Galloway *et al.* 2009). Much of the inorganic nitrogen fertiliser applied to croplands is lost back into the atmosphere, leached into ground water, or passes into waterbodies (Schlesinger 2009). Eutrophication occurs when excess nutrients enter waterbodies and results in severe damage to the ecosystems of rivers, lakes, and seas (Smith, Tilman & Nekola 1998; Conley *et al.* 2009; Stoate *et al.* 2009). The other key group of agrochemicals are pesticides. To control the spread of pests and diseases in crop monocultures, many intensive agricultural systems have become reliant on chemical controls (Tilman *et al.* 2011; Zhang, Jiang & Ou 2011). The over-use and misuse of pesticides, particularly older broad-spectrum products,

has caused significant impacts on human health and biodiversity (Carvalho 2006; Sanchez-Bayo 2011; Zhang, Jiang & Ou 2011). Many of the effects of pesticides on non-target species, and the implications of using mixtures of pesticides and the potential synergies which may occur, are still unknown (Sanchez-Bayo 2011; Gill, Ramos-Rodriguez & Raine 2012).

The economic returns of many agrochemical inputs and intensive agricultural practices vary depending on the time scale over which their use is considered, with trade-offs between short-term productivity and longer term sustainability. High-input farming can produce greater short-term economic returns, however, when considered over a longer term the compounding negative effects on the environment may erode the sustainability of such systems and reduce future production (Rasmussen *et al.* 1998; Tilman *et al.* 2002; Pretty 2008). Greater intensification of agricultural landscapes also causes the loss and degradation of those areas of natural habitat which remain, as more land is converted for production; this can result in further loss of biodiversity and ecosystem functioning (Altieri 1999; Benton, Vickery & Wilson 2003; Green *et al.* 2005; Butler, Vickery & Norris 2007; Henle *et al.* 2008). Preventing the loss of habitats and species is important for biological conservation as a whole and for the cultural and human health benefits of natural habitats and biodiversity, but it is also important for food production and the fundamental functioning of the system as many species provide vital ecosystem services.

1.2 Ecosystem services

Ecosystem services are commonly defined as: "the benefits which people obtain from ecosystems" (MEA 2005), though there is some debate over terminology with other definitions including the processes behind these benefits (Daily 1997; Costanza *et al.* 1997). Some definitions also make distinctions between 'intermediate services', for example pollination, and 'final services', such as improved crop yields (Boyd & Banzhaf 2007; Fisher, Turner & Morling 2009). The most common definition of ecosystem services divides them into four broad categories; supporting services such as soil formation and nutrient cycling, regulating services such as natural pest regulation and pollination, cultural services such as education and recreation, and provisioning services which include food production (MEA 2005). Agricultural systems are essentially ecosystems which have been modified to primarily achieve the ecosystem service of food production (Foley *et al.* 2005). Biodiversity-derived ecosystem services are performed by beneficial species, which are sometimes collectively referred to as the

'functional diversity' of a system. Ecosystem services occur throughout agricultural systems and are as diverse as nitrogen fixation in the soil, to the pollination of flowers in a fruit tree (Swinton *et al.* 2007; Zhang *et al.* 2007).

Biological nitrogen fixation in agricultural soils is mainly carried out by bacteria growing in symbiosis with the roots of certain plants, such as legumes, and to a lesser extent by bacteria living freely within the soil (Herridge, Peoples & Boddey 2008). Biological nitrogen fixation was historically the primary route of nitrogen into food production and is still exploited in many extensive and pastoral agricultural systems (Galloway et al. 2004; Graham & Vance 2014). However, since the invention of the Haber-Bosch process the availability of cheap synthetic fertiliser has diminished the role of biological nitrogen fixation in many intensive systems (Galloway et al. 2004, 2008). Other soil-based ecosystem services include nutrient cycling and decomposition of detritus by soil organisms. Such services are essential to the functioning of all terrestrial ecosystems and are vital for soil fertility and agricultural productivity (Lavelle et al. 1997; Jouquet et al. 2006; Barrios 2007). Earthworms are an example of valuable soil species and their importance for soil formation and nutrient cycling has long been known (Darwin 1881). Earthworms are considered 'ecosystem engineers' because of their importance for soil formation (Blouin et al. 2013). The overuse of ploughing and excessive use of herbicides and other pesticides can damage soil functional diversity, including earthworms (Pfiffner & Luka 2007; Tsiafouli et al. 2015). These practices can also result in negative effects on important soil physiochemical properties such as organic matter content and structure (Balesdent, Chenu & Balabane 2000; Holland 2004), and have led to erosion and leaching of nutrients (Hansen & Djurhuus 1997; Shi & Shao 2000; Steenwerth & Belina 2010). The functioning of soil ecosystems is complex and involves a diverse array of chemical cycles and microscopic and macroscopic species. Considerable knowledge gaps remain in our understanding of soil processes, despite their fundamental importance to food production (Barrios 2007; Gardenas et al. 2011).

Natural enemies form a diverse collection of species, usually predators or parasitoids, which help to limit pest damage by suppressing pest populations (Wilby & Thomas 2002). Natural enemies may be generalists or specialists and the multiple interactions between natural enemies, crop pests, and other species can be both complicated and dynamic, including potential competition, predation, or complementarity between natural enemy species (Rosenheim, Wilhoit & Armer 1993; Cardinale *et al.* 2003; Gontijo, Beers & Snyder 2015). Different natural enemies require a differing range of habitats and both the abundance and diversity of these beneficial species are higher in heterogeneous landscapes which contain natural and semi-natural areas (Landis, Wratten & Gurr 2000; Benton, Vickery & Wilson 2003; Bianchi, Booij & Tscharntke 2006). In intensive systems where monocultures of genetically similar or identical plants, often of varieties which are less robust than their wild-type progenitors, crop pests and diseases are presented with the opportunity to thrive and rapidly spread (Andow 1983; Zhu, Chen & Fan 2000). These systems often become reliant on pesticides for much of their pest control and although these chemical controls can be effective, many have unintended consequences on non-target species, including natural enemies (Wilby & Thomas 2002; Geiger *et al.* 2010).

The loss of natural enemies through habitat destruction and the negative effects of pesticides reduces the biological pest regulation services which natural enemies provide and further increases reliance on chemical controls (Bommarco *et al.* 2011; Meehan *et al.* 2011). The declining biological control services in intensive systems, increasing restrictions on pesticide use, and the evolution of pesticide resistance in some crop pests, have all led to renewed interest in agricultural methods which can support natural enemies (Landis, Wratten & Gurr 2000; Fiedler, Landis & Wratten 2008; Jonsson *et al.* 2008). The management of biological controls falls into four methods; 'classical', 'inoculation', and 'inundation' biological control all involve the introduction of biological control agents which have been reared or collected elsewhere (Eilenberg, Hajek & Lomer 2001). These methods are common in protected cropping systems which are largely isolated from the wider environment (van Lenteren 2012). 'Conservation' biological control differs as it involves supporting naturally occurring populations of natural enemies, through sympathetic management practices; it is therefore considered an ecosystem service (Fiedler, Landis & Wratten 2008; Jonsson *et al.* 2008).

Insect pollination is a key ecosystem service contributing to food production, with 35% of global outputs and 75% of global crop species depending, at least in part, on this service (Klein *et al.* 2007). Pollinator dependent crops are also some of the most valuable in terms of nutritional content and fibre (Eilers *et al.* 2011; Chaplin-Kramer *et al.* 2014), and therefore play an even greater role in nutritional security than the tonnage of their yields suggest. Bees are the most important pollinators globally, though a diverse range of other taxa also contribute to crop pollination (Klein *et al.* 2007; Rader *et al.* 2016). Domesticated honey bees (e.g. *Apis mellifera*) are the most numerous and widespread pollinator species and many intensively produced pollinator dependent crops rely on them for production (Potts *et al.* 2016). Honey bees are

facing a range of threats however, and the growing demand for pollination services makes wild pollinators increasingly important (Aizen & Harder 2009; Potts *et al.* 2010a, 2016; Garibaldi *et al.* 2013; Brittain, Kremen & Klein 2014). Unfortunately, as with natural enemies, pollinators have declined in many European agricultural landscapes due to a combination of habitat loss and exposure to pesticides (Kremen, Williams & Thorp 2002; Godfray *et al.* 2014; Stanley *et al.* 2015). The loss of both wild and domesticated pollinators from agricultural systems and the increasing demand for pollination services, due to the expansion of pollinator dependent crops, threatens to reduce yields and crop quality and to weaken food security (Winfree 2008; Aizen *et al.* 2009; Garibaldi *et al.* 2011a; Potts *et al.* 2016).

Declines in biodiversity-derived ecosystem services following beneficial species loss can destabilise crop systems and have significant implications for agricultural production (Altieri 1999; Ricketts *et al.* 2008; Garibaldi *et al.* 2011b; Tscharntke *et al.* 2012). The reliance on finite, potentially polluting inputs, and the neglect of other ecosystem services have caused the economic, environmental, and ecologically sustainability of conventional intensive agriculture to be questioned, and the security of food supply chains to be put in doubt (Matson, Parton & Power 1997; Tilman *et al.* 2002, 2011; Godfray *et al.* 2010). In recognition of this situation there have been calls for more ecologically robust methods of production (Allen-Wardell & Others 1998; Bommarco, Kleijn & Potts 2013; Deguines *et al.* 2014).

1.3 Ecological intensification

Ecological intensification is one approach to the concept of 'sustainable intensification', whereby food production is increased by further intensifying production using more sustainable methods (Tilman *et al.* 2011; Garnett *et al.* 2013; Godfray & Garnett 2014). This approach involves enhancing ecosystem services by boosting the populations of beneficial species (Bommarco, Kleijn & Potts 2013). The aim of ecological intensification is not to conserve all biodiversity, though many non-target species are likely to benefit, but to specifically support those species whose activities can enhance production and sustainability. This involves a more holistic approach than that used in conventional intensive production, moving away from highly simplified cropping systems to more diverse agroecosystems. By identifying suboptimal ecosystem services, i.e. those which are creating yield gaps, targeted management practices can be employed to support the relevant beneficial species, and improve production. Although ecological intensification in use of specific agrochemicals,

it does not demand that these tools are completely replaced. More ecologically intensive methods could help us to reduce our reliance agrochemical inputs and limit the environmental damage which they cause, whilst maintaining or increasing production (Bommarco, Kleijn & Potts 2013; Deguines *et al.* 2014; Pywell *et al.* 2015). For example, if certain pest species are controlled through biological means it may allow the use of more selective chemical control products which are targeted at fewer pest species. The changes in management needed to ecologically intensify production come in two main forms: the cessation of practices which are excessively damaging to ecosystem service providers, and the active enhancement of agricultural systems to benefit service providers.

As the loss of natural habitat from agricultural landscapes is known to be a significant driver of beneficial species decline, the prevention of further losses should be a priority. Agricultural land which is managed as a monoculture with little natural and semi-natural habitat can be a barren landscape for beneficial species, especially when crops are not flowering (Potts et al. 2010a; Garibaldi et al. 2011b). There are strong economic reasons for maintaining natural habitat within agricultural areas, including increases in yields due to better pollination services; examples include canola (Morandin & Winston 2006), coffee (Klein, Steffan-Dewenter & Tscharntke 2003), and almond (Norfolk, Eichhorn & Gilbert 2016). Inappropriate use of agrochemicals has also been shown to have significant negative effects on beneficial species. Examples of such effects include the decline in important natural enemies such as spiders (Bogya, Marko & Szinetar 2000) and predatory mites (Hill & Foster 1998) from fruit orchards due to the use of broad spectrum pesticides, and the declines in pollinators seen through a range of crops (Kremen, Williams & Thorp 2002; Godfray et al. 2014). The use of those products which cause excessive harm to ecosystem-service providers should cease. Methods such as Integrated Pest Management and conservation tillage are examples of practical management methods which are already helping to reduce negative effects on ecosystem service providers (Thomas 1999; Birch, Begg & Squire 2011; van Capelle, Schrader & Brunotte 2012).

Habitat management will be a key tool for actively enhancing agricultural landscapes to increase the abundance of beneficial species, as without appropriate habitat beneficial species survival is reduced (Landis, Wratten & Gurr 2000; Fiedler, Landis & Wratten 2008). Functional diversity is affected by habitat availability and quality at both the local and the landscape scale (Bianchi, Booij & Tscharntke 2006; Kennedy *et al.* 2013; Aviron *et al.* 2016). There is strong evidence to show that areas of natural habitat such as woodland and forests have positive effects on beneficial species and can improve ecosystem service provision in neighbouring agricultural systems (Blanche, Ludwig & Cunningham 2006; Bianchi, Booij & Tscharntke 2006; Eilers & Klein 2009; Carvalheiro et al. 2010; Thomson et al. 2010; Klein et al. 2012; Holzschuh, Dudenhöffer & Tscharntke 2012; Martins, Gonzalez & Lechowicz 2015). More localised habitat management practices include the creation of in-field semi-natural areas such as field margins (Pfiffner & Luka 2000; Smith et al. 2007) 'beetle banks' (MacLeod et al. 2004), and flower strips (Sutherland, Sullivan & Poppy 2001; Haaland, Naisbit & Bersier 2011). It is important that areas of seminatural habitat are protected and restored, by reducing fragmentation for example, because they provide sources of food, nesting sites, overwintering sites, and shelter from environmental extremes and pesticide exposure (Benton, Vickery & Wilson 2003; Bianchi, Booij & Tscharntke 2006; Park et al. 2015). Flowering plants provide pollen and nectar which is vital for many beneficial species, particularly pollinators but also many natural enemies (Landis, Wratten & Gurr 2000; Garibaldi et al. 2011b). Plants which host alternative prey can also help to support natural enemy populations and improve predator fitness, though the presence of other prey species has the potential to disrupt biological control of crop pests (Settle et al. 1996; Koss & Snyder 2005; Symondson et al. 2006). Other methods for supporting beneficial species include the provision of artificial resources such as nesting tubes for cavity nesting bees (Sheffield 2014), refugia for generalist predators such as spiders and earwigs (Halaj, Cady & Uetz 2000; Logan et al. 2007), and supplementary feeding for natural enemies (Wade et al. 2008). Many of the current methods for ecological intensification through habitat management are based on agrienvironment schemes which have been developed to improve the value of cropland habitat for biodiversity in general (Holland *et al.* 2014; Batáry *et al.* 2015). These methods provide a good starting point for ecological intensification, though they may need to be modified so that they are optimal for ecosystem service providers (Altieri 1999; Tscharntke et al. 2005; Ekroos et al. 2014).

The greater complexity of ecologically intensive agroecosystems means that an improved understanding of the interactions between species will be needed. It is therefore important that a holistic approach to management is taken, and that the potential synergies and trade-offs between services are appreciated. With increasing complexity comes the potential for unknown consequences, which is why these methods must be well researched before recommendations are made to farmers and growers. If managed correctly, ecologically intensive systems may provide a more sustainable and less environmentally damaging form of crop production without reducing yields. Even in systems where agrochemical inputs remain high there is scope to improve sustainability and production. Considerable knowledge gaps remain regarding how ecological intensification can be achieved, and the development of new management practices through applied research is crucial for progress (Tilman *et al.* 2002; Bommarco, Kleijn & Potts 2013). It is possible that natural systems and traditional agricultural methods may provide ideas for such practices (Altieri 2004; Altieri, Funes-Monzote & Petersen 2012). The methods for ecological intensification will vary between cropping systems depending on which services are required, which beneficial species are present, and how the crop is managed. The studies in this thesis use perennial apple orchards as a model system and investigate how ecological intensification methods can be integrated into this intensively managed crop.

1.4 Opportunities for ecological intensification in apple orchards

Apple trees (*Malus domestica*) have been grown by humans for at least 4,000 years (Cornille *et al.* 2014). Their main progenitors (*M. sieversii*) are found in the hills and mountains of Central Asia, though genetic evidence shows that a number of other wild species found throughout Eurasia, including European crab-apples, have contributed to the genetic make-up of the modern apple (Cornille *et al.* 2012). Apples are now the most widely and commonly grown fruit crops in temperate regions with 5,293,340 hectares used worldwide for apple production in 2016, with 2,383,905 hectares in China alone (FAO 2017) in the UK, Apple production was estimated to be worth £118m to the UK economy in 2015, with 16,512 hectares planted with apple orchards (DEFRA 2016b). Approximately half of the apple orchard area in the UK is dedicated to growing dessert or culinary apples with the rest growing cider apples, the studies in this thesis focus on dessert apple production.

Traditional apple trees were grown on their 'seedling' rootstocks and could reach heights of up to 10 m; such trees were planted at densities of 70-300 trees per hectare. Modern orchards contain trees which have been grafted onto dwarfing rootstocks and are planted at far high densities, with 1,000-6,000 trees per hectare (Robinson, Ferree & Warrington 2003). These smaller trees establish and yield more quickly than trees on seedling rootstocks, an important quality as the higher expense of creating an intensive orchard requires more rapid return on investment. Smaller trees also allow easier access for operations such as spraying, pruning, picking, etc. Most modern orchards are expected to remain commercially viable for between 15-20 years (Robinson, Ferree & Warrington 2003). A common dessert apple orchard design contains around 3,000 trees per hectare, grown to a height of approximately 3.5 m and spaced 1 m apart within a row and 3.5 m between rows. The alleyways between tree rows allow access to the trees, air flow, and light penetration. These high density systems can produce higher yields but they demand greater inputs, such as fertiliser and water, and require more ecosystem services. Beneficial species can have a range of positive effects on apple production, and key ecosystem services include pollination, pest and disease regulation, and those services related to soil fertility (Pizl 1992; Dib *et al.* 2010; Cross *et al.* 2015; Blitzer *et al.* 2016).

Many modern orchards have 'fertigation' pipes installed along the tree rows, supplying the trees with water and inorganic fertiliser. The majority of dessert apple orchards in the UK are found in the south east of England, an area which has seen rapid population increase and growing demand for water for both domestic and industrial uses. This increasing demand along with the hydrological changes due to climate change may reduce the availability of water for irrigation and so the development of more water-efficient methods of production is important for the future sustainability of production. Competition for water and nutrients can reduce effective soil fertility and weed control is important part of orchard management. Most growers use regular applications of herbicide to maintain a vegetation-free 1.5-2 m wide area known as the 'weed strip, 'weed-free strip', or 'herbicide strip' in the tree rows. Improving the sustainability of weed control and soil fertility methods have been identified as an important research area in tree fruit production (Granatstein & Sánchez 2009).

Apple trees suffer from a range of pests and pathogens and the amount of pesticides used per hectare in apple production is one of the highest of all large-scale UK crops (DEFRA 2015). The most commonly used pesticides in apple orchards are fungicides (60-75% by weight), with apple scab (*Venturia inaequalis*) cited as the target of most sprays (Garthwaite *et al.* 2012). Major UK insect pests include tortrix moth species (especially the codling moth, *Cydia pomonella*), rosy apple aphid (*Dysaphis plantaginea*), woolly apple aphid (*Eriosoma lanigerum*), and the apple blossom weevil (*Anthonomus pomorum*). Woolly apple aphids feed on sap through the bark of the trees and the damage which they cause can provide an entry route for apple canker (*Neonectria ditissima*), a fungal pathogen which can ultimately kill the trees. It is likely that fewer pesticides will be available for apple growers in the future as UK and EU legislation moves towards restricting the use of chemicals which cause harm to non-target species (Hillocks 2012). Insecticides commonly used in apple orchards globally include some of the most contentious, namely organophosphates and neonicotinoids (Blacquière *et al.* 2012; Giesy *et al.* 2014). Recent examples of pesticide restrictions in the UK include the withdrawal of the broad-spectrum organophosphate insecticide chlorpyrifos in 2016 and the moratorium on some neonicotinoids (although this currently focuses on those neonicotinoids used in seed dressings of arable crops, rather than the foliar sprays used in orchards). Many growers now also avoid the use of pyrethroid sprays because of their detrimental effects on *Typhlyodrmus* mites, which are important natural enemies of phytophagous mite pests (Cross & Berrie 1994). In organic orchards, pests and pathogens are controlled using a mixture of biological pest control, cultural practices, and organic pesticides including copper and sulphur based fungicides. Sulphur sprays are considered to be only partially effective in controlling apple scab, and the long-term use of copper-base fungicides can have negative effects on soil biota (Wang, Zhou & Cang 2009).

Most apple varieties are self-incompatible (Ramírez & Davenport 2013) and it is common practice to plant 'polliniser' trees of different, compatible, varieties at regular intervals within the orchard to facilitate cross pollination (Robinson, Ferree & Warrington 2003). Yields are highly dependent on pollination by insect vectors (Dennis, Ferree & Warrington 2003; Ramírez & Davenport 2013), with poor pollination resulting in lower fruit set and increases in misshapen fruit (Matsumoto, Soejima & Maejima 2012; Garratt *et al.* 2014b; Sheffield 2014). The most important apple pollinators are solitary bees, honey bees, bumble bees, and hoverflies (Gardner & Ascher 2006; Tepedino *et al.* 2007; Garratt *et al.* 2014b) and increasing the abundance of these pollinators during apple flowering has been shown to improve yields (Stern, Eisikowitch & Dag 2001; Ladurner *et al.* 2004). Current pollination services in the UK are estimated to be worth £36.7m to the production of the two commonest dessert apple varieties, Cox and Gala, alone (Garratt *et al.* 2014b; a). A pollination deficit has been detected in some UK apple orchards, however, suggesting potential yield gaps (Garratt *et al.* 2014c). The declines seen in both wild and managed pollinators (Potts *et al.* 2010b; a) may present a threat to future production.

The studies in this thesis focus on methods for ecological intensification which involve changes to groundcover management. The large areas of orchard ground which are not directly cropped present an uncommon opportunity to introduce habitat for beneficial species throughout an intensive agricultural system. Currently, the ground cover in commercial orchards commonly consists of a herbicide strip of bare soil directly underneath the trees and a mown grass sward in the alleyways. Mown grass is a relatively poor habitat for many beneficial species (Bugg, Dutcher & McNeill 1991; García & Miñarro 2014). Alternative ground cover management methods may better support ecosystem service providers and enable growers to reduce agrochemical inputs. The use of alleyway cover crops, sometimes referred to as 'alley-crops', which have been chosen

specifically for the enhancement of ecosystem services, is a relatively novel management practice which could potentially increase both production and sustainability (Figure 1).



Figure 1. A cross section of an apple orchard showing the potential benefits of alleyway cover cropping. Green arrows indicate movement of nutrients within the system and grey arrow indicate loss of nutrients from the system. "AMF" = arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi.

Research has shown that sowing cover crops which consist of plants that are valuable to beneficial species can enhance a range of ecosystem services in orchards (Bugg and Waddington, 1994; Granatstein and Sánchez, 2009; Simon et al., 2010). Altieri et al. found that that cover crops could support beneficial species in vineyards, orchards (Altieri & Schmidt 1985, 1986; Altieri, Ponti & Nicholls 2005), and vegetable crops (Altieri & Letourneau 1982). Work by McKerchar (2016) also shows that when wildflower plantings establish well in orchards they can improve pollinator visitation to apple flowers and increase numbers of some aphidophagous natural enemies. There is also evidence to show that alleyway vegetation can be used to improve soil fertility: Sanchez et al. (2007) tested legume cover crops in an organic orchard and found they led to improved tree growth and yields. A similar study by Mullinix and Granatstein (2011) found that lucerne (alfalfa, *Medicago sativa*) grown in the alley contributed to orchard nitrogen needs without having a negative impact on the trees. During these studies the cover crop material was mown and left in the orchard alley, a more rewarding use of the cuttings may be to distribute them underneath the trees, onto the herbicide strip, where they can act as mulch and a slow-release fertiliser (Sirrine *et al.* 2008; Kuhn & Pedersen 2009; Fredrikson, Skinkis & Peachey 2011). This technique is sometimes referred to as 'mow and blow' or 'mow and throw' and is a development of previous cover cropping strategies which has so far received relatively little research (though see Sirrine *et al.* 2008; Kuhn & Pedersen 2009; Fredrikson, Skinkis & Peachey 2011).Trialling mixtures of legumes as alley cover crops and investigating the effects of cover crop cuttings as mulch have been suggested as useful areas of future research (Granatstein & Sánchez 2009). Cover crops have been shown to boost population of some natural enemies in apple orchards including some species of predatory mites (Markó *et al.* 2012) and hoverflies (Gontijo, Beers & Snyder 2013).

Although orchard alleyway cover crops have the potential to provide and support multiple ecosystem services the majority of previous studies have concentrated on single service and only limited research has been done on the effects of cover crops on pollination; the potential benefits of cover crops may therefore have been underestimated (Sutter & Albrecht 2016). Alleyway or strip cropping has also been used to enhance pest regulation in annual crops (Haaland, Naisbit & Bersier 2011; Brennan 2013; Tschumi *et al.* 2015, 2016) and studies have shown that sowing flowering plants in areas adjoining crop fields can increase both pollination and pest regulation (Walton & Isaacs 2011; Haaland, Naisbit & Bersier 2011; Blaauw & Isaacs 2014, 2015; Pywell *et al.* 2015). Knowledge gaps remain in how to integrate cover cropping into orchard systems; which plant species to sown, how to manage them, how much they cost, and whether this practice provides an effective method of supporting beneficial species and enhancing ecosystem service provision.

In order to improve understanding of current orchard management practices, a questionnaire was created during the first year of the project (2013) and sent out to members of the Sainsbury's Supermarket Top Fruit Development Group, a collection of UK apple growers. Over 90% of the growers who responded used conventional intensive management methods. Mown grass alleyways with bare soil herbicide strips were the most common method of ground cover management at over 80%, with approximately 10% of growers using mulch. The extent of pest

and disease damage was considered very important to production by over 70% of respondents. Codling moth was stated as the most damaging pest, and apple scab and apple canker (*Neonectria ditissima*) the most damaging diseases. Predatory *Typhlodromus pyri* mites were the most commonly cited natural enemy taxa of importance, along with ladybirds (Coccinellidae), lacewings (Neuroptera), pirate bugs (Anthocoridae), and earwigs (Dermaptera). Over 80% of respondents considered pollination to be very important to production, and over 40% considered a lack of pollination an issue in their orchards, with a further 30% considering it an occasional issue. Over 90% of growers said that they maintained areas of natural vegetation to support beneficial species, with approximately 40% sowing areas with flowering plants. Several growers stated that they would like more advice on how to manage pollinators. The findings from this survey were used to help refine the aims and objectives of the project.

1.5 Thesis aim and objectives

Aim: The studies in this thesis investigate and evaluate the use of alleyway cover crops as a method for ecologically intensifying apple production.

Objective 1: Evaluate the effects of different mulches on soil fertility and soil-derived ecosystem services. It is hypothesised that the addition of mulch will improve soil fertility and soil-derived ecosystem services.

Objective 2: Determine the effects of alleyway cover crops on natural enemy abundance and the resulting implications for pest regulation services. Alleyway cover crops are predicted to provide a higher quality habitat than current management, leading to an increase in natural enemy abundance and an enhancement of pest regulation services.

Objective 3: Assess the value of alleyway cover crop habitat for pollinators and evaluate its impact on pollinator abundances and pollinator services. Pollinators are also hypothesised to benefit from the higher quality habitat provided by the cover crops, and increasing their abundance is predicted to improve pollination services.

Objective 4: Quantify the role of pollination in apple production and identify potential pollination deficits. Pollination dependence and pollination deficits are expected to be found, with pollination affecting both yield and fruit quality.

The studies assess the effects of alleyway cover cropping throughout the ecosystem service process by determining the value of the cover crop habitats, the effects these habitats have on beneficial species, the impacts on ecosystem service provision, and finally the implications for production.

Chapter 2. The ecosystem service benefits of traditional and cover crop-derived mulches

This study focuses on Objective 1. It reviews the knowledge of mulching in orchards and determines how both traditional and cover-crop derived mulches affect soil fertility, earthworm abundance, leaf litter decomposition rates, and production.

Chapter 3. Supporting natural enemies with orchard alleyway cover crops.

This study focuses on Objective 2. The habitat quality of different ground cover treatments are assessed and the effects on a range of natural enemies are determined. Pest regulation services are quantified through monitoring of pest species abundance and the use of sentinel prey surveys.

Chapter 4. Orchard ground cover management for pollinators and pollination services

This study focuses on Objective 3. The floral resources of the ground cover treatments are quantified and the abundance of pollinators, both during apple flowering and in the following summer months, are assessed. Pollination services are monitored and the effects on production are determined.

Chapter 5. Benefits of insect pollination on apple yield and fruit quality

This study focuses on Objective 4. Apple pollination dependence and potential pollination deficits are quantified and the methods used to measure these parameters are assessed. The effect of pollination on fruit quality, an important property which largely determines the value of a crop, is investigated.

Chapter 6. Concluding discussion

Here, the objectives are reviewed and the benefits to ecosystem services provided by mulching and alleyway cover cropping are discussed. Methodological limitations and potential integration issues are discussed and recommendations are made for orchard ground cover management and areas of future research.

1.6 References

- Aizen, M.A., Garibaldi, L.A., Cunningham, S.A. & Klein, A.M. (2009) How much does agriculture depend on pollinators? Lessons from long-term trends in crop production. *Annals of Botany*, **103**, 1579–1588.
- Aizen, M.A. & Harder, L.D. (2009) The global stock of domesticated honey bees is growing slower than agricultural demand for pollination. *Current Biology*, **19**, 915–918.
- Allen-Wardell, G. & Others. (1998) The potential consequences of pollinator declines on the conservation of biodiversity and stability of fruit crop yields. *Conservation Biology*, **12**, 8–17.
- Allen, C.D., Macalady, A.K., Chenchouni, H., Bachelet, D., McDowell, N., Vennetier, M.,
 Kitzberger, T., Rigling, A., Breshears, D.D., Hogg, E.H. (Ted., Gonzalez, P., Fensham, R.,
 Zhang, Z., Castro, J., Demidova, N., Lim, J.H., Allard, G., Running, S.W., Semerci, A. & Cobb,
 N. (2010) A global overview of drought and heat-induced tree mortality reveals emerging
 climate change risks for forests. *Forest Ecology and Management*, **259**, 660–684.
- Altieri, M.A. (1999) The ecological role of biodiversity in agroecosystems. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **74**, 19–31.
- Altieri, M.A. (2004) Linking ecologists and traditional farmers in the search for sustainable agriculture. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, **2**, 35–42.
- Altieri, M.A., Funes-Monzote, F.R. & Petersen, P. (2012) Agroecologically efficient agricultural systems for smallholder farmers: Contributions to food sovereignty. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, **32**, 1–13.
- Altieri, M.A. & Letourneau, D.K. (1982) Vegetation management and biological control in agroecosystems. *Crop Protection*, **1**, 405–430.
- Altieri, M., Ponti, L. & Nicholls, C. (2005) Manipulating vineyard biodiversity for improved insect pest management: case studies from northern California. *International Journal of Biodiversity Science, Ecosystems Services & Management*, 1, 191–203.
- Altieri, M.A. & Schmidt, L.L. (1985) Cover Crop Manipulation in Northern California Orchards and
 Vineyards: Effects on Arthropod Communities. *Biological Agriculture & Horticulture*, **3**, 1–
 24.
- Altieri, M.A. & Schmidt, L.L. (1986) Cover crops affect insect and spider populations in apple orchards. *California Agriculture*, 15–17.
- Andow, D. (1983) The extent of monoculture and its effects on insect pest populations with particular reference to wheat and cotton. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, **9**, 25–

35.

- Aviron, S., Poggi, S., Varennes, Y.-D. & Lefèvre, A. (2016) Local landscape heterogeneity affects crop colonization by natural enemies of pests in protected horticultural cropping systems. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **227**, 1–10.
- Balesdent, J., Chenu, C. & Balabane, M. (2000) Relationship of soil organic matter dynamics to physical protection and tillage. *Soil and Tillage Research*, **53**, 215–230.
- Barnosky, A.D., Matzke, N., Tomiya, S., Wogan, G.O.U., Swartz, B., Quental, T.B., Marshall, C., McGuire, J.L., Lindsey, E.L., Maguire, K.C., Mersey, B. & Ferrer, E.A. (2011) Has the Earth's sixth mass extinction already arrived? *Nature*, **471**, 51–57.
- Barrios, E. (2007) Soil biota, ecosystem services and land productivity. *Ecological Economics*, **64**, 269–285.
- Batáry, P., Dicks, L. V., Kleijn, D. & Sutherland, W.J. (2015) The role of agri-environment schemes in conservation and environmental management. *Conservation Biology*, **29**, 1006–1016.
- Benton, T.G., Vickery, J.A. & Wilson, J.D. (2003) Farmland biodiversity: is habitat heterogeneity the key? *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, **18**, 182–188.
- Bianchi, F.J.J. a, Booij, C.J.H. & Tscharntke, T. (2006) Sustainable pest regulation in agricultural landscapes: a review on landscape composition, biodiversity and natural pest control. *Proceedings or the Royal Society: Biological Sciences*, **273**, 1715–27.
- Birch, A.N.E., Begg, G.S. & Squire, G.R. (2011) How agro-ecological research helps to address food security issues under new IPM and pesticide reduction policies for global crop production systems. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, **62**, 3251–3261.
- Blaauw, B.R. & Isaacs, R. (2014) Flower plantings increase wild bee abundance and the pollination services provided to a pollination-dependent crop. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 51, 890–898.
- Blaauw, B.R. & Isaacs, R. (2015) Wildflower plantings enhance the abundance of natural enemies and their services in adjacent blueberry fields. *Biological Control*, **91**, 94–103.

Blacquière, T., Smagghe, G., van Gestel, C. a M. & Mommaerts, V. (2012) Neonicotinoids in bees: a review on concentrations, side-effects and risk assessment. *Ecotoxicology*, **21**, 973–992.

- Blanche, K.R., Ludwig, J. a. & Cunningham, S. a. (2006) Proximity to rainforest enhances pollination and fruit set in orchards. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **43**, 1182–1187.
- Blitzer, E.J., Gibbs, J., Park, M.G. & Danforth, B.N. (2016) Pollination services for apple are dependent on diverse wild bee communities. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 221, 1–7.
- Blouin, M., Hodson, M.E., Delgado, E.A., Baker, G., Brussaard, L., Butt, K.R., Dai, J., Dendooven,

L., Peres, G., Tondoh, J.E., Cluzeau, D. & Brun, J.-J.J. (2013) A review of earthworm impact on soil function and ecosystem services. *European Journal of Soil Science*, **64**, 161–182.

- Bogya, S., Marko, V. & Szinetar, C.S. (2000) Effect of pest management systems on foliage- and grass-dwelling spider communities in an apple orchard in Hungary. *International Journal of Pest Management*, **46**, 241–250.
- Bommarco, R., Kleijn, D. & Potts, S.G. (2013) Ecological intensification: harnessing ecosystem services for food security. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, **28**, 230–8.
- Bommarco, R., Miranda, F., Bylund, H. & Björkman, C. (2011) Insecticides suppress natural enemies and increase pest damage in cabbage. *Journal of Economic Entomology*, **104**, 782– 791.
- Boyd, J. & Banzhaf, S. (2007) What are ecosystem services? The need for standardized environmental accounting units. *Ecological Economics*, **63**, 616–626.
- Brennan, E.B. (2013) Agronomic aspects of strip intercropping lettuce with alyssum for biological control of aphids. *Biological Control*, **65**, 302–311.
- Brittain, C., Kremen, C. & Klein, A.-M. (2014) Biodiversity buffers pollination from changes in environmental conditions. *Global Change Biology*, **19**, 540–547.
- Bugg, R.L., Dutcher, J.D. & McNeill, P.J. (1991) Cool-season cover crops in the pecan orchard understory: Effects on coccinellidae (Coleoptera) and pecan aphids (Homoptera: Aphididae). *Biological Control*, 1, 8–15.
- Bugg, R.L. & Waddington, C. (1994) Using cover crops to manage arthropod pests of orchards: A review. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 50, 11–28.
- Butler, S.J., Vickery, J.A. & Norris, K. (2007) Farmland Biodiversity and the Footprint of Agriculture. *Science*, **315**, 381–384.
- van Capelle, C., Schrader, S. & Brunotte, J. (2012) Tillage-induced changes in the functional diversity of soil biota - A review with a focus on German data. *European Journal of Soil Biology*, **50**, 165–181.
- Cardinale, B.J., Harvey, C.T., Gross, K. & Ives, A.R. (2003) Biodiversity and biocontrol: Emergent impacts of a multi-enemy assemblage on pest suppression and crop yield in an agroecosystem. *Ecology Letters*, **6**, 857–865.
- Carpenter, S.R., Caraco, N.F., Correll, D.L., Howarth, R.W., Sharpley, A.N. & Smith, V.H. (1998)
 Nonpoint pollution of surface waters with phosphorus and nitrogen. *Ecological Application*, 8, 559–568.
- Carvalheiro, L.G., Seymour, C.L., Veldtman, R. & Nicolson, S.W. (2010) Pollination services decline with distance from natural habitat even in biodiversity-rich areas. *Journal of*

Applied Ecology, **47**, 810–820.

- Carvalho, F.P. (2006) Agriculture, pesticides, food security and food safety. *Environmental Science and Policy*, **9**, 685–692.
- Chaplin-Kramer, R., Dombeck, E., Gerber, J., Knuth, K.A., Mueller, N.D., Mueller, M., Ziv, G. & Klein, A.-M. (2014) Global malnutrition overlaps with pollinator-dependent micronutrient production. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **281**, 20141799.
- Conley, D.J., Paerl, H.W., Howarth, R.W., Boesch, D.F., Seitzinger, S.P., Havens, K.E., Lancelot, C.
 & Likens, G.E. (2009) Controlling Eutrophication: Nitrogen and Phosphorus. *Science*, **323**, 1014–1015.
- Cornille, A., Giraud, T., Smulders, M.J.M., Roldán-Ruiz, I. & Gladieux, P. (2014) The domestication and evolutionary ecology of apples. *Trends in Genetics*, **30**, 57–65.
- Cornille, A., Gladieux, P., Smulders, M.J.M., Roldán-Ruiz, I., Laurens, F., Le Cam, B., Nersesyan, A., Clavel, J., Olonova, M., Feugey, L., Gabrielyan, I., Zhang, X.G., Tenaillon, M.I. & Giraud, T. (2012) New insight into the history of domesticated apple: Secondary contribution of the European wild apple to the genome of cultivated varieties. *PLoS Genetics*, 8.
- Costanza, R., d'Arge, R., de Groot, R., Farber, S., Grasso, M., Hannon, B., Limburg, K., Naeem, S.,
 O'Neill, R. V., Paruelo, J., Raskin, R.G., Sutton, P. & van den Belt, M. (1997) The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. *Nature*, **387**, 253–260.
- Cross, J. V & Berrie, A.M. (1994) Effects of repeated foliar sprays of insecticides or fungicides on organophosphate-resistant strains of the orchard predatory mite typhlodromus-pyri on apple. *Crop Protection*, **13**, 39–44.
- Cross, J., Fountain, M., Markó, V. & Nagy, C. (2015) Arthropod ecosystem services in apple orchards and their economic benefits. *Ecological Entomology*, **40**, 82–96.
- Daily, G.C. (1997) Nature's Services: Societal dependence on natural ecosystems. *Nature's services: societal dependence on natural ecosystems*, 412.
- Darwin, C.R. (1881) *The Formation of Vegetable Mould Through the Action of Worms*. J. Murray, London.
- DEFRA. (2015) Pesticide Usage Statistics, https://secure.fera.defra.gov.uk/pusstats/

DEFRA. (2016a) Agriculture in the United Kingdom.

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/agriculture-in-the-united-kingdom-2016.

- DEFRA. (2016b) Horticulture Statsistics, https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/horticulturestatistics-2015
- Deguines, N., Jono, C., Baude, M., Henry, M., Julliard, R. & Fontaine, C. (2014) Large-scale tradeoff between agricultural intensification and crop pollination services. *Frontiers in Ecology*

and the Environment, **12**, 212–217.

- Dennis, F.J., Ferree, D.C. & Warrington, I.J. (2003) *Apples: Botany, Production and Uses* (eds D.C. Ferree & I.J. Warrington). CABI, Wallingford.
- Dib, H., Simon, S., Sauphanor, B. & Capowiez, Y. (2010) The role of natural enemies on the population dynamics of the rosy apple aphid, *Dysaphis plantaginea* Passerini (Hemiptera: Aphididae) in organic apple orchards in south-eastern France. *Biological Control*, 55, 97–109.
- Eilenberg, J., Hajek, A. & Lomer, C. (2001) Suggestions for unifyinhg the terminology in biological control. *BioControl*, **46**, 387–400.
- Eilers, E.J. & Klein, A.-M. (2009) Landscape context and management effects on an important insect pest and its natural enemies in almond. *Biological Control*, **51**, 388–394.
- Eilers, E.J., Kremen, C., Greenleaf, S.S., Garber, A.K. & Klein, A.M. (2011) Contribution of pollinator-mediated crops to nutrients in the human food supply. *PLoS ONE*, **6**, e21363.
- Ekroos, J., Olsson, O., Rundlöf, M. c, Wätzold, F. & Smith, H.G. b. (2014) Optimizing agrienvironment schemes for biodiversity, ecosystem services or both? *Biological Conservation*, **172**, 65–71.
- Erisman, J.W., Sutton, M.A., Galloway, J., Klimont, Z. & Winiwarter, W. (2008) How a century of ammonia synthesis changed the world. *Nature Geoscience*, **1**, 636–639.

FAO. (2017) FAOSTAT Crop Data, http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QC

- Fiedler, A.K., Landis, D.A. & Wratten, S.D. (2008) Maximizing ecosystem services from conservation biological control: The role of habitat management. *Biological Control*, 45, 254–271.
- Fisher, B., Turner, R.K. & Morling, P. (2009) Defining and classifying ecosystem services for decision making. *Ecological Economics*, **68**, 643–653.
- Foley, J. a, Defries, R., Asner, G.P., Barford, C., Bonan, G., Carpenter, S.R., Chapin, F.S., Coe, M.T.,
 Daily, G.C., Gibbs, H.K., Helkowski, J.H., Holloway, T., Howard, E. a, Kucharik, C.J.,
 Monfreda, C., Patz, J. a, Prentice, I.C., Ramankutty, N. & Snyder, P.K. (2005) Global
 consequences of land use. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, **309**, 570–4.
- Fredrikson, L., Skinkis, P.A. & Peachey, E. (2011) Cover crop and floor management affect weed coverage and density in an establishing oregon vineyard. *HortTechnology*, **21**, 208–216.
- Galloway, J.N., Dentener, F.J., Capone, D.G., Boyer, E.W., Howarth, R.W., Seitzinger, S.P., Asner,
 G.P., Cleveland, C.C., Green, P.A., Holland, E.A., Karl, D.M., Michaels, A.F., Porter, J.H.,
 Townsend, A.R. & Vörösmarty, C.J. (2004) Nitrogen cycles: past, present, and future. *Biogeochemistry*, **70**, 153–226.

- Galloway, J.N., Townsend, A.R., Erisman, J.W., Bekunda, M., Cai, Z., Freney, J.R., Martinelli, L.A.,
 Seitzinger, S.P. & Sutton, M.A. (2008) Transformation of the nitrogen cycle: recent trends,
 questions, and potential solutions. *Science*, **320**, 889–892.
- García, R.R. & Miñarro, M. (2014) Role of floral resources in the conservation of pollinator communities in cider-apple orchards. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **183**, 118–126.
- Gardenas, A.I., Goran, A.I., Bird, J.A., Clarholm, M., Hallin, S., Ineson, P., Katterer, T., Knicker, H., Nilsson, S.I., Nasholm, T., Ogle, S., Paustian, K., Persson, T. & Stendahl, J. (2011) Knowledge gaps in soil carbon and nitrogen interactions - From molecular to global scale. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, **43**, 702–717.
- Gardner, K.E. & Ascher, J.S. (2006) Notes on the native bee pollinators in New York apple orchards. *Journal of the New York Entomological Society*, **114**, 86–91.
- Garibaldi, L.A., Aizen, M.A., Klein, A.M., Cunningham, S.A. & Harder, L.D. (2011a) Global growth and stability of agricultural yield decrease with pollinator dependence. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **108**, 5909–14.
- Garibaldi, L.A., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Winfree, R., Aizen, M.A., Bommarco, R., Cunningham, S.A.,
 Kremen, C., Carvalheiro, L.G., Harder, L.D., Afik, O., Bartomeus, I., Benjamin, F., Boreux, V.,
 Cariveau, D., Chacoff, N.P., Dudenhöffer, J.H., Freitas, B.M., Ghazoul, J., Greenleaf, S.,
 Hipólito, J., Holzschuh, A., Howlett, B., Isaacs, R., Javorek, S.K., Kennedy, C.M., Krewenka,
 K.M., Krishnan, S., Mandelik, Y., Mayfield, M.M., Motzke, I., Munyuli, T., Nault, B.A., Otieno,
 M., Petersen, J., Pisanty, G., Potts, S.G., Rader, R., Ricketts, T.H., Rundlöf, M., Seymour, C.L.,
 Schüepp, C., Szentgyörgyi, H., Taki, H., Tscharntke, T., Vergara, C.H., Viana, B.F., Wanger,
 T.C., Westphal, C., Williams, N. & Klein, A.M. (2013) Wild pollinators enhance fruit set of
 crops regardless of honey bee abundance. *Science*, **340**, 1608–1611.
- Garibaldi, L., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Kremen, C., Morales, J.M., Bommarco, R., Cunningham, S.A., Carvalheiro, L.G., Chacoff, N.P., Dudenhoeffer, J.H. & Greenleaf, S.S. (2011b) Stability of pollination services decreases with isolation from natural areas despite honey bee visits. *Ecology Letters*, **14**, 1062–1072.
- Garnett, T., Appleby, M.C., Balmford, A., Bateman, I.J., Benton, T.G., Bloomer, P., Burlingame, B.,
 Dawkins, M., Dolan, L., Fraser, D., Herrero, M., Hoffmann, I., Smith, P., Thornton, P.K.,
 Toulmin, C., Vermeulen, S.J. & Godfray, H.C.J. (2013) Sustainable intensification in
 agriculture: premises and policies. *Science*, **341**, 33–34.
- Garratt, M.P.D., Breeze, T.D., Jenner, N., Polce, C., Biesmeijer, J.C. & Potts, S.G. (2014a) Avoiding a bad apple: Insect pollination enhances fruit quality and economic value. *Agriculture*,

Ecosystems & Environment, 184, 34–40.

- Garratt, M.P.D., Truslove, C.L., Coston, D.J., Evans, R.L., Moss, E.D., Dodson, C., Jenner, N.,
 Biesmeijer, J.C. & Potts, S.G. (2014b) Pollination deficits in UK apple orchards. *Journal of Pollination Ecology*, **12**, 9–14.
- Garratt, M.P.D., Truslove, C.L., Coston, D.J., Evans, R.L., Moss, E.D., Dodson, C., Jenner, N.,
 Biesmeijer, J.C. & Potts, S.G. (2014c) Pollination deficits in UK apple orchards. *Journal of Pollination Ecology*, **12**, 9–14.
- Garthwaite, D.G., Hudson, S., Barker, I., Parrish, G., Smith, L. & Pietravalle, S. (2012) *Pesticide* Usage Survey Report 252 Orchards in the United Kingdom 2012. DEFRA.
- Geiger, F., Bengtsson, J., Berendse, F., Weisser, W.W., Emmerson, M., Morales, M.B., Ceryngier,
 P., Liira, J., Tscharntke, T., Winqvist, C., Eggers, S., Bommarco, R., Pärt, T., Bretagnolle, V.,
 Plantegenest, M., Clement, L.W., Dennis, C., Palmer, C., Oñate, J.J., Guerrero, I., Hawro, V.,
 Aavik, T., Thies, C., Flohre, A., Hänke, S., Fischer, C., Goedhart, P.W. & Inchausti, P. (2010)
 Persistent negative effects of pesticides on biodiversity and biological control potential on
 European farmland. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, **11**, 97–105.
- Gibbs, H.K., Ruesch, A.S., Achard, F., Clayton, M.K., Holmgren, P., Ramankutty, N. & Foley, J.A.
 (2010) Tropical forests were the primary sources of new agricultural land in the 1980s and 1990s. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **107**, 16732–16737.
- Giesy, J.P., Solomon, K.R., Mackay, D. & Anderson, J. (2014) Evaluation of evidence that the organophosphorus insecticide chlorpyrifos is a potential persistent organic pollutant (POP) or persistent, bioaccumulative, and toxic (PBT). *Environmental Sciences Europe*, **26**, 1–20.
- Gill, R.J., Ramos-Rodriguez, O. & Raine, N.E. (2012) Combined pesticide exposure severely affects individual- and colony-level traits in bees. *Nature*, **491**, 105–108.
- Godfray, H.C.J., Beddington, J.R., Crute, I.R., Haddad, L., Lawrence, D., Muir, J.F., Pretty, J.,
 Robinson, S., Thomas, S.M. & Toulmin, C. (2010) Food security: the challenge of feeding 9
 billion people. *Science*, **327**, 812–818.
- Godfray, H.C.J., Blacquière, T., Field, L.M., Hails, R.S., Petrokofsky, G., Potts, S.G., Raine, N.E.,
 Vanbergen, A.J. & Mclean, A.R. (2014) A restatement of the natural science evidence base concerning neonicotinoid insecticides and insect pollinators. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, 281, 20140558.
- Godfray, H.C.J. & Garnett, T. (2014) Food security and sustainable intensification. *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B*, **369**, 20120273.
- Gontijo, L.M., Beers, E.H. & Snyder, W.E. (2013) Flowers promote aphid suppression in apple orchards. *Biological Control*, **66**, 8–15.

- Gontijo, L.M., Beers, E.H. & Snyder, W.E. (2015) Complementary suppression of aphids by predators and parasitoids. *Biological Control*, **90**, 83–91.
- Graham, P.H. & Vance, C.P. (2014) Update on legume utilization legumes: importance and constraints to greater use. *Plant Physiology*, **131**, 872–877.
- Granatstein, D. & Sánchez, E. (2009) Research Knowledge and Needs for Orchard Floor
 Management in Organic Tree Fruit Systems. *International Journal of Fruit Science*, 9, 257–281.
- Green, R.E., Cornell, S.J., Scharlemann, J.P.W. & Balmford, A. (2005) Farming and the fate of wild nature. *Science*, **307**, 550–555.
- Gregory, P.J., Ingram, J.S.I. & Brklacich, M. (2005) Climate change and food security. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **360**, 2139–2148.
- Haaland, C., Naisbit, R.E. & Bersier, L.-F.F. (2011) Sown wildflower strips for insect conservation: a review. *Insect Conservation and Diversity*, **4**, 60–80.
- Halaj, J., Cady, A.B. & Uetz, G.W. (2000) Modular habitat refugia enhance generalist predators and lower plant damage in soybeans. *Environmental Entomology*, **29**, 383–393.
- Hanjra, M.A. & Qureshi, M.E. (2010) Global water crisis and future food security in an era of climate change. *Food Policy*, **35**, 365–377.
- Hansen, E.M. & Djurhuus, J. (1997) Nitrate leaching as influenced by soil tillage and catch crop. *Soil and Tillage Research*, **41**, 203–219.
- Henle, K., Alard, D., Clitherow, J., Cobb, P., Firbank, L., Kull, T., McCracken, D., Moritz, R.F.A.,
 Niemelä, J., Rebane, M., Wascher, D., Watt, A. & Young, J. (2008) Identifying and managing the conflicts between agriculture and biodiversity conservation in Europe-A review.
 Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, **124**, 60–71.
- Herridge, D.F., Peoples, M.B. & Boddey, R.M. (2008) Global inputs of biological nitrogen fixation in agricultural systems. *Plant and Soil*, **311**, 1–18.
- Hill, T.A. & Foster, R.E. (1998) Influence of selective insecticides on population dynamics of European red mite (Acari: Tetranychidae), apple rust mite (Acari: Eriophyidae), and their predator Amblyseius fallacis (Acari: Phytoseiidae) in apple. *Horticultural Entomology*, **91**, 191–199.
- Hillocks, R.J. (2012) Farming with fewer pesticides: EU pesticide review and resulting challenges for UK agriculture. *Crop Protection*, **31**, 85–93.
- Hoekstra, J.M., Boucher, T.M., Ricketts, T.H. & Roberts, C. (2005) Confronting a biome crisis: Global disparities of habitat loss and protection. *Ecology Letters*, **8**, 23–29.
- Holland, J.M. (2004) The environmental consequences of adopting conservation tillage in

Europe: Reviewing the evidence. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, **103**, 1–25.

- Holland, J.M.M., Storkey, J., Lutman, P.J.W.J.W., Birkett, T.C.C., Simper, J. & Aebischer, N.J.J.
 (2014) Utilisation of agri-environment scheme habitats to enhance invertebrate ecosystem service providers. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **183**, 103–109.
- Holzschuh, A., Dudenhöffer, J. & Tscharntke, T. (2012) Landscapes with wild bee habitats enhance pollination, fruit set and yield of sweet cherry. *Biological Conservation*, **153**, 101– 107.
- Jonsson, M., Wratten, S.D., Landis, D. a. & Gurr, G.M. (2008) Recent advances in conservation biological control of arthropods by arthropods. *Biological Control*, **45**, 172–175.
- Jørgensen, M.S. & Andersen, B.H. (2012) The controversies over bioenergy in denmark: 'Bio' is not the same as 'sustainable'. *Environmental Engineering and Management Journal*, **11**, 2101–2119.
- Jouquet, P., Dauber, J., Lagerlöf, J., Lavelle, P. & Lepage, M. (2006) Soil invertebrates as ecosystem engineers: Intended and accidental effects on soil and feedback loops. *Applied Soil Ecology*, **32**, 153–164.
- Kennedy, C.M., Lonsdorf, E., Neel, M.C., Williams, N.M., Ricketts, T.H., Winfree, R., Bommarco, R., Brittain, C., Burley, A.L., Cariveau, D., Carvalheiro, L.G., Chacoff, N.P., Cunningham, S.A., Danforth, B.N., Dudenhoffer, J.H., Elle, E., Gaines, H.R., Garibaldi, L.A., Gratton, C., Holzschuh, A., Isaacs, R., Javorek, S.K., Jha, S., Klein, A.M., Krewenka, K., Mandelik, Y., Mayfield, M.M., Morandin, L., Neame, L.A., Otieno, M., Park, M., Potts, S.G., Rundlof, M., Saez, A., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Taki, H., Viana, B.F., Westphal, C., Wilson, J.K., Greenleaf, S.S. & Kremen, C. (2013) A global quantitative synthesis of local and landscape effects on wild bee pollinators in agroecosystems. *Ecology Letters*, 16, 584–599.
- Klein, A.M., Brittain, C., Hendrix, S.D., Thorp, R., Williams, N. & Kremen, C. (2012) Wild pollination services to California almond rely on semi-natural habitat. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **49**, 723–732.
- Klein, A.M., Steffan-Dewenter, I. & Tscharntke, T. (2003) Pollination of Coffea canephora in relation to local and regional agroforestry management. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 40, 837–845.
- Klein, A.-M., Vaissiere, B.E., Cane, J.H., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Cunningham, S.A., Kremen, C. & Tscharntke, T. (2007) Importance of pollinators in changing landscapes for world crops.
 Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, **274**, 303–313.
- Koh, L.P. & Wilcove, D.S. (2008) Is oil palm agriculture really destroying tropical biodiversity? *Conservation Letters*, **1**, 60–64.

- Koss, A.M. & Snyder, W.E. (2005) Alternative prey disrupt biocontrol by a guild of generalist predators. *Biological Control*, **32**, 243–251.
- Kremen, C., Williams, N.M. & Thorp, R.W. (2002) Crop pollination from native bees at risk from agricultural intensification. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **99**, 16812–16816.
- Kuhn, B.F. & Pedersen, H.L. (2009) Cover crop and mulching effects on yield and fruit quality in unsprayed organic apple production. *European Journal of Horticultural Science*, **74**, 247– 253.
- Ladurner, E., Recla, L., Wolf, M., Zelger, R. & Burgio, G. (2004) Osmia cornuta (Hymenoptera Megachilidae) densities required for apple pollination: a cage study. Journal of Apicultural Research, 43, 118–122.
- Lambin, E.F., Turner, B.L., Geist, H.J., Agbola, S.B., Angelsen, A., Folke, C., Bruce, J.W., Coomes,
 O.T., Dirzo, R., George, P.S., Homewood, K., Imbernon, J., Leemans, R., Li, X., Moran, E.F.,
 Mortimore, M., Ramakrishnan, P.S., Richards, J.F., Steffen, W., Stone, G.D., Svedin, U. &
 Veldkamp, T.A. (2001) The causes of land-use and land-cover change: moving beyond the
 myths. *Global Environmental Change*, **11**, 261–269.
- Landis, D.A., Wratten, S.D. & Gurr, G.M. (2000) Habitat management to conserve natural enemies of arthropod pests in agriculture. *Annual Review of Entomology*, **45**, 175–201.
- Lavelle, P., Bignell, D., Lepage, M., Wolters, W., Roger, P., Ineson, P., Heal, O.W. & Dhillion, S. (1997) Soil function in a changing world : the role of invertebrate ecosystem engineers.
 European Journal of Soil Biology, **33**, 159–193.
- van Lenteren, J.C. (2012) The state of commercial augmentative biological control: plenty of natural enemies, but a frustrating lack of uptake. *BioControl*, **57**, 1–20.
- Logan, D., Maher, B., Connolly, P. & Pettigrew, M. (2007) Effect of cardboard shelter traps on predation on diaspidid scale insects by European earwigs, Forficula auricularia, in kiwifruit. *New Zealand Plant Protection*, **60**, 241–248.
- MacLeod, A., Wratten, S.D., Sotherton, N.W. & Thomas, M.B. (2004) 'Beetle banks' as refuges for beneficial arthropods in farmland: long-term changes in predator communities and habitat. *Agricultural and Forest Entomology*, 6, 147–154.
- Markó, V., Jenser, G., Mihályi, K., Hegyi, T. & Balázs, K. (2012) Flowers for better pest control? Effects of apple orchard groundcover management on mites (Acari), leafminers (Lepidoptera, Scitellidae), and fruit pests. *Biocontrol Science and Technology*, **22**, 39–60.
- Martins, K.T., Gonzalez, A. & Lechowicz, M.J. (2015) Pollination services are mediated by bee functional diversity and landscape context. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **200**,

12-20.

- Matson, P., Parton, W. & Power, A. (1997) Agricultural intensification and ecosystem properties. *Science*, **277**, 504–509.
- Matsumoto, S., Soejima, J. & Maejima, T. (2012) Influence of repeated pollination on seed number and fruit shape of 'Fuji' apples. *Scientia Horticulturae*, **137**, 131–137.
- Matthaei, C.D., Piggott, J.J. & Townsend, C.R. (2010) Multiple stressors in agricultural streams: Interactions among sediment addition, nutrient enrichment and water abstraction. *Journal* of Applied Ecology, **47**, 639–649.
- McKerchar, M. (2016) The Effects of Wildflowers in Appple Orchards on Pollination and Pest Regulation Services. University of Worcester.

MEA. (2005) Ecosystems and Human Well-Being: Synthesis. Island Press, Washington D.C.

- Meehan, T.D., Werling, B.P., Landis, D.A. & Gratton, C. (2011) Agricultural landscape simplification and insecticide use in the Midwestern United States. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **108**, 11500–11505.
- Micklin, P.P. (1988) Desiccation of the Aral Sea: a water management disaster in the Soviet Union. *Science*, **241**, 1170–1176.
- Morandin, L.A. & Winston, M.L. (2006) Pollinators provide economic incentive to preserve natural land in agroecosystems. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, **116**, 289–292.
- Mullinix, K. & Granatstein, D. (2011) Potential nitrogen contributions from legumes in Pacific Northwest apple orchards. *International Journal of Fruit Science*, **11**, 74–87.
- Norfolk, O., Eichhorn, M.P. & Gilbert, F. (2016) Flowering ground vegetation benefits wild pollinators and fruit set of almond within arid smallholder orchards. *Insect Conservation and Diversity*, **9**, 236–243.
- Park, M.G., Blitzer, E.J., Gibbs, J., Losey, J.E. & Danforth, B.N. (2015) Negative effects of pesticides on wild bee communities can be buffered by landscape context. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **282**, 20150299.
- Pfiffner, L. & Luka, H. (2000) Overwintering of arthropods in soils of arable fields and adjacent semi-natural habitats. *Agricultural Ecosystems and Environment*, **78**, 215–222.
- Pfiffner, L. & Luka, H. (2007) Earthworm populations in two low-input cereal farming systems. *Applied Soil Ecology*, **37**, 184–191.
- Pimm, S.L. & Raven, P. (2000) Extinction by numbers. Nature, 403, 843-845.
- Pitman, M.G. & Läuchli, A. (2002) Global impact of salinity and agricultural ecosystems. *Salinity: Environment - Plants - Molecules*, pp. 3–20. Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Pizl, V. (1992) Effect of soil compaction on earthworms (Lumricidae) in apple orchard soil. Soil
Biology and Biochemistry, 24, 1573–1575.

- Potts, S.G., Biesmeijer, J., Kremen, C., Neumann, P., Schweiger, O. & Kunin, W.E. (2010a) Global pollinator declines: trends, impacts and drivers. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, **25**, 345–53.
- Potts, S.G., Imperatriz-Fonseca, V., Ngo, H.T., Aizen, M.A., Biesmeijer, J.C., Breeze, T.D., Dicks, L.
 V., Garibaldi, L.A., Hill, R., Settele, J. & Vanbergen, A.J. (2016) Safeguarding pollinators and their values to human well-being. *Nature*, 540, 220–229.
- Potts, S.G., Roberts, S.P.M., Dean, R., Marris, G., Brown, M.A., Jones, R., Neumann, P. & Settele, J. (2010b) Declines of managed honey bees and beekeepers in Europe. *Journal of Apicultural Research*, **49**, 15–22.
- Pretty, J. (2008) Agricultural sustainability: concepts, principles and evidence. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **363**, 447–465.
- Pywell, R.F., Heard, M.S., Woodcock, B.A., Hinsley, S., Ridding, L., Nowakowski, M. & Bullock, J.M. (2015) Wildlife-friendly farming increases crop yield: evidence for ecological intensification. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, **282**, 20151740.
- Rader, R., Bartomeus, I., Garibaldi, L.A., Garratt, M.P.D., Howlett, B.G., Winfree, R., Cunningham, S.A., Mayfield, M.M., Arthur, A.D., Andersson, G.K.S., Bommarco, R., Brittain, C., Carvalheiro, L.G., Chacoff, N.P., Entling, M.H., Foully, B., Freitas, B.M., Gemmill-Herren, B., Ghazoul, J., Griffin, S.R., Gross, C.L., Herbertsson, L., Herzog, F., Hipólito, J., Jaggar, S., Jauker, F., Klein, A.-M., Kleijn, D., Krishnan, S., Lemos, C.Q., Lindström, S.A.M., Mandelik, Y., Monteiro, V.M., Nelson, W., Nilsson, L., Pattemore, D.E., de O. Pereira, N., Pisanty, G., Potts, S.G., Reemer, M., Rundlöf, M., Sheffield, C.S., Scheper, J., Schüepp, C., Smith, H.G., Stanley, D.A., Stout, J.C., Szentgyörgyi, H., Taki, H., Vergara, C.H., Viana, B.F. & Woyciechowski, M. (2016) Non-bee insects are important contributors to global crop pollination. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **113**, 146–151.
- Ramírez, F. & Davenport, T.L. (2013) Apple pollination: A review. *Scientia Horticulturae*, **162**, 188–203.
- Rasmussen, P.E., Goulding, K., Brown, J.R., Grace, P.R., Janzen, H.H. & Korschens, M. (1998)
 Long-Term Agroecosystems Experiments: Assessing Agricultural Sustainability and Global
 Change. Science, 282, 893–896.
- Ricketts, T.H., Regetz, J., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Cunningham, S.A., Kremen, C., Bogdanski, A.,
 Gemmill-Herren, B., Greenleaf, S.S., Klein, A.M., Mayfield, M.M., Morandin, L.A., Ochieng,
 A., Potts, S.G. & Viana, B.F. (2008) Landscape effects on crop pollination services: Are there
 general patterns? *Ecology Letters*, **11**, 499–515.

Robertson, G.P. & Vitousek, P.M. (2009) Nitrogen in agriculture: balancing the cost of an

essential resource. Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 34, 97–125.

Robinson, T.L., Ferree, D.C. & Warrington, I.J. (2003) *Apples: Botany, Production and Uses* (eds D.C. Ferree & I.J. Warrington). CABI, Wallingford.

Rosegrant, M.W. (2003) Global Food Security: Challenges and Policies. Science, 302, 1917–1919.

- Rosenheim, J.A., Wilhoit, L.R. & Armer, C.A. (1993) Influence of intraguild predation among generalist insect predators on the suppression of an herbivore population. *Oecologia*, **96**, 439–449.
- Sanchez-Bayo, F. (2011) Impacts of agricultural pesticides on terrestrial ecosystems. *Ecological Impacts of Toxic Chemicals*, 63–87.
- Sánchez, E.E., Giayetto, A., Cichón, L., Fernández, D., Aruani, M.C. & Curetti, M. (2007) Cover crops influence soil properties and tree performance in an organic apple (*Malus domestica* Borkh) orchard in northern Patagonia. *Plant and Soil*, **292**, 193–203.
- Schlesinger, W.H. (2009) On the fate of anthropogenic nitrogen. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **106**, 203–208.
- Schmidhuber, J. & Tubiello, F.N. (2007) Global food security under climate change. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, **104**, 19703–8.
- Settle, W., Ariawan, H., Astuti, E.T., Cahyana, W., Hakim, A.L., Hindayana, D., Lestari, A.S. &
 Pajarningsih. (1996) Managing tropical rice pests through conservation of generalist natural enemies and alternative prey. *Ecology*, **77**, 1975–1988.
- Sheffield, C. (2014) Pollination, seed set and fruit quality in apple: studies with Osmia lignaria (Hymenoptera: Megachilidae) in the Annapolis Valley, Nova Scotia, Canada. Journal of Pollination Ecology, 12, 120–128.
- Shi, H. & Shao, M. (2000) Soil and water loss from the Loess Plateau in China. *Journal of Arid Environments*, **45**, 9–20.
- Simon, S., Bouvier, J.-C., Debras, J.-F. & Sauphanor, B. (2010) Biodiversity and pest management in orchard systems. A review. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, **30**, 139–152.
- Sirrine, J., Letourneau, D.K., Shennan, C., Sirrine, D., Fouch, R., Jackson, L. & Mages, a. (2008) Impacts of groundcover management systems on yield, leaf nutrients, weeds, and arthropods of tart cherry in Michigan, USA. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **125**, 239–245.
- Smil, V. (1999) Detonator of the population explosion. Nature, 400, 415–415.
- Smith, P., Martino, D., Cai, Z., Gwary, D., Janzen, H., Kumar, P., McCarl, B., Ogle, S., O'Mara, F.,
 Rice, C., Scholes, B., Sirotenko, O., Howden, M., McAllister, T., Pan, G., Romanenkov, V.,
 Schneider, U., Towprayoon, S., Wattenbach, M. & Smith, J. (2008) Greenhouse gas

mitigation in agriculture. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **363**, 789–813.

- Smith, J., Potts, S.G., Woodcock, B.A. & Eggleton, P. (2007) Can arable field margins be managed to enhance their biodiversity, conservation and functional value for soil macrofauna? *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **45**, 269–278.
- Smith, V.H., Tilman, G.D. & Nekola, J.C. (1998) Eutrophication: Impacts of excess nutrient inputs on freshwater, marine, and terrestrial ecosystems. *Environmental Pollution*, **100**, 179–196.
- Stanley, D.A., Garratt, M.P.D., Wickens, J.B., Wickens, V.J., Potts, S.G. & Raine, N.E. (2015)
 Neonicotinoid pesticide exposure impairs crop pollination services provided by
 bumblebees. *Nature*, **528**, 548–550.
- Steenwerth, K.L. & Belina, K.M. (2010) Vineyard weed management practices influence nitrate leaching and nitrous oxide emissions. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **138**, 127– 131.
- Stern, R.A., Eisikowitch, D. & Dag, A. (2001) Sequential introduction of honeybee colonies and doubling their density increases cross-pollination, fruit-set and yield in 'Red Delicious' apple. *Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology*, **76**, 17–23.
- Stoate, C., Báldi, A., Beja, P., Boatman, N.D., Herzon, I., van Doorn, A., de Snoo, G.R., Rakosy, L. & Ramwell, C. (2009) Ecological impacts of early 21st century agricultural change in Europe A review. *Journal of Environmental Management*, **91**, 22–46.
- Sutherland, J.P., Sullivan, M.S. & Poppy, G.M. (2001) Distribution and abundance of aphidophagous hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphidae) in wildflower patches and field margin habitats. Agricultural and Forest Entomology, 3, 57–64.
- Sutter, L. & Albrecht, M. (2016) Synergistic interactions of ecosystem services: florivorous pest control boosts crop yield increase through insect pollination. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **283**, 20152529.
- Swinton, S.M., Lupi, F., Robertson, G.P. & Hamilton, S.K. (2007) Ecosystem services and agriculture: Cultivating agricultural ecosystems for diverse benefits. *Ecological Economics*, 64, 245–252.
- Symondson, W.O.C., Cesarini, S., Dodd, P.W., Harper, G.L., Bruford, M.W., Glen, D.M., Wiltshire, C.W. & Harwood, J.D. (2006) Biodiversity vs biocontrol: positive and negative effects of alternative prey on control of slugs by carabid beetles. *Bulletin of Entomological Research*, 96, 637–645.
- Tepedino, V.J., Alston, D.G., Bradley, B. a., Toler, T.R. & Griswold, T.L. (2007) Orchard pollination in Capitol Reef National Park, Utah, USA. Honey bees or native bees? *Biodiversity and*

Conservation, 16, 3083–3094.

- Thomas, M.B. (1999) Ecological approaches and the development of 'truly integrated' pest management. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **96**, 5944–5951.
- Thomson, L.J., McKenzie, J., Sharley, D.J., Nash, M.A., Tsitsilas, A. & Hoffmann, A.A. (2010) Effect of woody vegetation at the landscape scale on the abundance of natural enemies in Australian vineyards. *Biological Control*, **54**, 248–254.
- Tilman, D., Balzer, C., Hill, J. & Befort, B.L. (2011) Global food demand and the sustainable intensification of agriculture. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **108**, 20260–20264.
- Tilman, D., Cassman, K.G., Matson, P.A., Naylor, R. & Polasky, S. (2002) Agricultural sustainability and intensive production practices. *Nature*, **418**, 671–677.
- Tscharntke, T., Clough, Y., Wanger, T.C., Jackson, L., Motzke, I., Perfecto, I., Vandermeer, J. & Whitbread, A. (2012) Global food security, biodiversity conservation and the future of agricultural intensification. *Biological Conservation*, **151**, 53–59.
- Tscharntke, T., Klein, A.M., Kruess, A., Steffan-Dewenter, I. & Thies, C. (2005) Landscape perspectives on agricultural intensification and biodiversity Ecosystem service management. *Ecology Letters*, **8**, 857–874.
- Tschumi, M., Albrecht, M., Bärtschi, C., Collatz, J., Entling, M.H. & Jacot, K. (2016) Perennial, species-rich wildflower strips enhance pest control and crop yield. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, **220**, 97–103.
- Tschumi, M., Albrecht, M., Entling, M.H. & Jacot, K. (2015) High effectiveness of tailored flower strips in reducing pests and crop plant damage. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **282**, 20151369.
- Tsiafouli, M.A., Thébault, E., Sgardelis, S.P., de Ruiter, P.C., van der Putten, W.H., Birkhofer, K.,
 Hemerik, L., de Vries, F.T., Bardgett, R.D., Brady, M.V., Bjornlund, L., Jørgensen, H.B.,
 Christensen, S., Hertefeldt, T.D., Hotes, S., Gera Hol, W.H., Frouz, J., Liiri, M., Mortimer,
 S.R., Setälä, H., Tzanopoulos, J., Uteseny, K., Pižl, V., Stary, J., Wolters, V. & Hedlund, K.
 (2015) Intensive agriculture reduces soil biodiversity across Europe. *Global Change Biology*,
 21, 973–985.
- Vitousek, P.M., Mooney, H.A., Lubchenco, J. & Melillo, J.M. (1997) Human Domination of Earth' s Ecosystems. *Science*, **277**, 494–499.
- Vorosmarty, C.J. (2000) Global water resources: vulnerability from climate change and population growth. *Science*, **289**, 284–288.

- Vörösmarty, C.J., McIntyre, P.B., Gessner, M.O., Dudgeon, D., Prusevich, A., Green, P., Glidden,
 S., Bunn, S.E., Sullivan, C.A., Liermann, C.R. & Davies, P.M. (2010) Global threats to human water security and river biodiversity. *Nature*, 468, 334–334.
- Wade, M.R., Zalucki, M.P., Wratten, S.D. & Robinson, K. a. (2008) Conservation biological control of arthropods using artificial food sprays: Current status and future challenges. *Biological Control*, **45**, 185–199.
- Walton, N.J. & Isaacs, R. (2011) Influence of native flowering plant strips on natural enemies and herbivores in adjacent blueberry fields. *Environmental Entomology*, **40**, 697–705.
- Wang, Q.Y., Zhou, D.M. & Cang, L. (2009) Microbial and enzyme properties of apple orchard soil as affected by long-term application of copper fungicide. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, **41**, 1504–1509.
- Wilby, A. & Thomas, M.B. (2002) Natural enemy diversity and pest control: Patterns of pest emergence with agricultural intensification. *Ecology Letters*, **5**, 353–360.
- Winfree, R. (2008) Pollinator-dependent crops: an increasingly risky business. *Current Biology*, **18**, 968–969.
- Zhang, W., Jiang, F. & Ou, J. (2011) Global pesticide consumption and pollution : with China as a focus. Proceedings of the International Academy of Ecology and Environmental Sciences, 1, 125–144.
- Zhang, W., Ricketts, T.H., Kremen, C., Carney, K. & Swinton, S.M. (2007) Ecosystem services and dis-services to agriculture. *Ecological Economics*, **64**, 253–260.
- Zhu, Y., Chen, H.R. & Fan, J.H. (2000) Genetic diversity and disease control in rice. *Nature*, **406**, 718–722.

Chapter 2:

The ecosystem service benefits of traditional and cover crop-derived mulches



(Mulch trial plots)

Chapter 2:

The ecosystem service benefits of traditional and cover crop-derived mulches

2.1 Abstract

Mulching of fruit trees is a traditional method of groundcover management which can help to suppress weeds, retain moisture, and add nutrients to the soil. This method has, however, become less common in commercial orchards since the increased adoption of herbicides and synthetic fertilisers, and because of the costs of transporting mulch materials. Using cuttings from cover crop plants grown in the alleyway spaces between tree rows may provide an environmentally friendly source of mulch without the need for transport. In this study, cuttings from two legume-based cover crop mixtures and two traditional mulch materials (straw and compost) were trialled alongside a non-mulched control using a randomised complete block design in a conventionally managed commercial 'Gala' apple orchard. After two years, the compost mulch increased soil carbon and nitrogen, and the straw mulch resulted in higher soil moisture and suppressed weeds well, however neither appeared to benefit earthworms. In general, cover crop cuttings showed positive effects on earthworms and increased soil moisture. Though not tested here, increasing the abundance of earthworms and other decomposers and detritivores is expected to help control apple scab (Venturia inaequalis) by increasing the removal of leaf litter, which hosts overwintering fungal spores. Higher quantities of cover crop cuttings produced more positive effects, suggesting that the cumulative addition of cuttings over the lifetime of the orchard could be beneficial for several soilderived ecosystem services. The results from this study highlight some of the potential benefits of mulching and demonstrate that alleyway cover crop cuttings can be used as a beneficial mulch. This study took place in an apple orchard but the findings may be applicable to other orchard and rowgrown perennial crops.

2.2 Introduction

Orchard floor management is crucial for maintaining soil health and controlling weeds (Hogue & Neilsen 1987; Merwin, Ferree & Warrington 2003). It can also affect the abundance of fungal diseases of fruit trees through its impact on soil biota. Current orchard management practices involve a variety of agrochemical-intensive methods for maintaining soil fertility; including nutrient sprays, fertiliser spreading, and fertigation lines. Vegetation growing directly underneath the trees is

generally controlled with herbicides, or tilling in organic orchards, creating an area of bare soil known as the 'weed-strip' or 'herbicide-strip'. In commercial apple (*Malus domestica*) orchards, a 1-2 m wide herbicide strip centred on the tree row is common, with a mown grass alleyway maintained between the rows (Merwin, Ferree & Warrington 2003). A 2 m² vegetation-free area around the trunk is generally considered sufficient to prevent competition with tree roots (Merwin & Ray 1997), though there has been relatively little research in this area. Unfortunately, maintaining areas of bare soil negatively impacts soil health and can result in continual weed pressure (as it provides a potential seed bed for weeds), erosion, loss of soil organic matter, and damaging effects on both the soil's physiochemical properties and soil biota (Merwin & Stiles 1994; Yao *et al.* 2005; St. Laurent, Merwin & Thies 2008; Gómez *et al.* 2009; van Capelle, Schrader & Brunotte 2012; Keesstra *et al.* 2016). Synthetic geotextile mulches such as polypropylene sheets can be effective at suppressing weeds and increasing soil moisture, but they too can have negative effects on soil biota (Walsh *et al.* 1996; Lipecki & Berbeć 1997; Forge *et al.* 2003; Andersen *et al.* 2013).

Soil biota provide a range of ecosystem services including soil structure improvements (Blouin et al. 2013), nutrient cycling (Beare et al. 1997; Tagliavini et al. 2007; Germer, Dongen & Kern 2017), and pathogen control through the decomposition of plant material (Raw 1962; Jacometti, Wratten & Walter 2007a). Removal of leaf litter from the orchard floor is an important ecosystem service in apple production because it can reduce the prevalence of apple scab (Venturia inaequlais), which is one of the most economically important apple diseases globally (MacHardy 1996). Removing leaf litter has been shown to reduce primary inoculum and the amount of damage caused by apple scab (Holb 2006; Gomez et al. 2007). The pathogen affects leaves and shoots, but can also damage fruit which may become disfigured and so considerably less valuable to the grower. The majority of apple scab pseudothecia overwinter in fallen leaves and so the removal of this material by decomposers and detritivores is an important, if overlooked, ecosystem service. Techniques for encouraging leaf litter decomposition include urea spraying before leaf-fall, and leaf shredding afterwards (Sutton, MacHardy & Lord 2000; Vincent, Rancourt & Carisse 2004; Holb, Heijne & Jeger 2006; Gomez et al. 2007). The urea adds nitrogen to the leaves, making them more palatable for decomposers and detritivores, whilst mowing increases the surface area of the leaves and may aid burying by earthworms. Earthworms are thought to be responsible for much of the leaf litter removal and decomposition in orchards (Raw 1962; Glover, Reganold & Andrews 2000; Holb, Heijne & Jeger 2006), and are considered ecosystem engineers due to their importance in nutrient cycling and formation of soil structure (Fragoso et al. 1997; Lavelle et al. 1997; Jouquet et al. 2006).

Traditionally, organic mulches such as straw, compost, and farm yard manure have been used to suppress weeds and boost soil fertility (Hogue & Neilsen 1987). However, these materials are bulky and can be costly to transport and apply, for this reason their use is limited in commercial orchards. If mulch material could be produced within the orchard system it would reduce many of the costs associated with traditional mulches. One method of producing mulch in situ is the use of 'living mulches', specific plant species which are deliberately grown in the herbicide strip. Although this method has been shown to have some beneficial effects on soil fertility and soil biota, the close proximity of sown plants and trees has generally resulted in excessive competition (Sánchez et al. 2007; Hoagland et al. 2008; Mullinix & Granatstein 2011; Qian et al. 2015; Żelazny & Licznar-Małańczuk 2018) and damage from rodent pests (Wiman et al. 2009; Sullivan, Sullivan & Granatstein 2018). An alternative method is the use of alleyway cover crops which are grown only in the alleyway space between tree rows, and not directly underneath them in the herbicide strip. Sidedischarging mowers can then be used to spread the cuttings from these cover crops onto the adjacent herbicide strips where they act as mulch for the trees. This method is sometimes referred to as 'mow and blow' or 'mow and throw' (Sarrantonio 1992; Sirrine et al. 2008; Granatstein & Sánchez 2009; Pavek & Granatstein 2014) and has been shown to help reduce weed abundance in vineyards (Steinmaus et al. 2008). If legumes are used in these mixtures their ability to fix nitrogen from the atmosphere can be exploited and nitrogen can be added to the orchard system, potentially reducing the need for expensive synthetic fertiliser (Sirrine et al. 2008; TerAvest et al. 2010; Mullinix & Granatstein 2011). This method can help also to support soil biota in the herbicide strip (Nakamoto & Tsukamoto 2006; Thomson & Hoffmann 2007), potentially sustaining a larger community of detritivores and decomposers which can then increase leaf litter decomposition rates following leaf-fall (Jacometti, Wratten & Walter 2007b). Currently alleyway vegetation consists predominately of grasses, cut to a short height, with cuttings left in the alleyways. Only small modifications to existing equipment or the replacement of standard mowers to side-discharging models would allow growers to adopt the cover crop mulch method.

The aim of this study is to test the effects of both traditional and cover crop derived mulches on soil fertility in the tree row, tree growth, fruit production, soil biota, and the orchard sanitation services which soil biota provide. It is hypothesised that the addition of mulch will improve soil fertility, which, in turn, may improve tree growth and yields. It is also predicted that mulching will support a larger and more active community of soil organisms, which will lead to more rapid leaf litter decomposition. The following mulch materials were trialled alongside an un-mulched control: compost, straw, and the cuttings taken from cover crops grown in orchard alleyways. Two rates of

two different cover crop mixtures were trialled, both consisting of a mixture of legumes and grasses. The first application rate is representative of the amount of material which would be produced from the adjacent alleyway. The second rate is twice this volume and aims to mimic the effect greater mulch production, in orchard with wider alleyways and/or narrower herbicide strips, as well as the build-up of cuttings which can occur during the lifetime of orchards (c 15 years) (Weibel *et al.* 2003; Yao *et al.* 2005). More details on these cover crops mixtures and their management will be presented in Chapter 3.

2.3 Methods

Study site

Fieldwork took place between June 2015 and May 2017 in a commercial apple orchard (planted in 2012) near Maidstone, Kent, England. The orchard was established on a clay loam soil (33% clay, 46% sand, and 21% silt) with a pH of 7.1-7.5. Top soil available nutrient abundances were; phosphorus at 63.0 mg/l, potassium at 455.0 mg/l, and magnesium at 117.0 mg/l. The crop tree variety was 'Gala' grafted onto 'M9' rootstocks. The orchard was managed conventionally with drip fertigation lines under each row of trees. Tree spacing was 1 m within the row and 3.5 m between rows. A 2 m wide herbicide strip was centred on the tree row with a 1.5 m wide strip of mown vegetation, predominately perennial ryegrass (*Lolium perenne*), in the centre of the alleyway. The herbicide strips in all plots were sprayed with herbicide in May/June and December/January at commercial rates and alleyways were mown to a height of 5 cm every 7-10 days between March and August, with cuttings left in the alleyways (more management details can be found in Appendix 1). Excluding the application of mulch, the management of trees and groundcover continued as a conventional commercial orchard.

Experimental design

Seven understory treatments (Table 1) were tested using a randomized complete block design. Experimental plots consisted of three trees within a 4 m long and by 2 m wide area of herbicide strip. Treatment plots were replicated in nine blocks across three tree rows, with each row containing three blocks (63 plots in total). Plots were separated by 2 m within a row or by one alleyway width between rows, and blocks were separated by 7 m within the row or one alleyway between rows (see Appendix 1 for more details). **Table 1.** Details of mulching treatments. DM = dry mass. Spreading costs are estimated from Nix (2014), compost price is based on figures from WRAP (2008), and straw price based on figures from AHDB. More details on cover crop costs can be found in Chapter 3. Costs are based on orchards with 2 m wide herbicide strips and 1.5 m wide alleyways.

Treatment	Description	Quantity added per application (per m ² of herbicide strip)	C and N content of mulch	Mulch applications	Estimated cost of application (per hectare)	Estimated cost over lifetime of orchard (c 20 years)
Control	No mulch	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Compost	PAS100 municipal compost. Particle diameter 0 - 10 mm	9,750 g DM, 18.75 litres	23.2% C 1.6% N	One – June 2015	Mulch: 56 tonnes at £6-20 per tonne = £336-1120 Spreading: £72-98 Total: £408-1,218	Re-apply every 3 years Total: £2,448-7,308
Straw	Conventionally grown wheat straw	2,062.5 g DM, 18.75 litres	40.7% C 0.9% N	One – June 2015	Mulch: 11.8 tonnes at £65 per tonne = £767 Spreading: £108-147 Total: £875-914	Re-apply every 3 years Total: £5,250-5,484
Oversown-clover	Cuttings from standard grass alleyways oversown with white clover and black medic	Estimated 215 g DM (equivalent to 1 m of alleyway cuttings)	39.7% C 2.1% N	Six (three annually) – June 2015 (double rate applied), August 2015, May 2016, June 2016, August 2016	Ground preparation (disking) and seeding: £61	If allowed to seed re- sowing may not be needed. Total: £61
Oversown- clover2	Double rate application of the oversown-clover treatment	Estimated 430 g DM (equivalent to 2 m of alleyway cuttings)	39.7% C 2.1% N	Six (three annually) – June 2015 (double rate applied), August 2015, May 2016, June 2016, August 2016	NA	NA
Legume-grass	Cuttings from alleyways sown with lucerne, red clover, timothy, and cocksfoot	Estimated 247.5 g DM (equivalent to 1 m of alleyway cuttings)	32.3% C 1.1% N	Six (three annually) – June 2015 (double rate applied), August 2015, May 2016, June 2016, August 2016	Ground preparation (herbicide, disking, harrowing) and seeding: £153	Re-sowing may be needed every 4-5 years. Total: £765
Legume-grass2	Double rate application of the legume-grass treatment	Estimated 495 g DM (equivalent to 2 m of alleyway cuttings)	32.3% C 1.1% N	Six (three annually) – June 2015 (double rate applied), August 2015, May 2016, June 2016, August 2016	NA	NA

The compost used in this study was a commercially available municipal compost adhering to BSI PAS 100 standards (WRAP 2011), with a particle size of 0-10 mm. The straw was conventionally grown wheat straw. For this study cover crops were not grown in the alleyways adjacent to the plots, instead the cuttings were collected from nearby alleyways where the cover crop mixtures had already been established. Cuttings were collected using a modified rotary mower (DR PRO42) with a discharge chute used to collect cuttings in sacks. Cuttings were then moved to the experimental plots and applied by hand on the dates shown in Table 1. In a commercial setting, cover crop cuttings would be directly spread from the alleyway onto the adjacent herbicide strip using side-discharging mowers. The first application of cuttings was planned for May 2014 but due to a delay in site preparation these cuttings were instead applied at the same time as the cuttings in June 2014. Chapter 3 provides further details on these mixtures and their management.

The alleyways were 1.5 m wide with 1 m of herbicide strip on either side so 1 m² of herbicide strip received 0.75 m² worth of alleyway cuttings. The herbicide strips of the single-rate treatments ('oversown-clover' and 'legume-grass') had cuttings applied from an equivalent length of alleyway, whilst the double rate treatments ('oversown-clover2' and 'legume-grass2') had twice this volume of material applied. The mass of mulch applied was estimated by weighing the sacks used to collect fresh cuttings; subsamples were then dried and weighed to establish dry matter content and a dry matter conversion factor. The weights of compost and straw shown in Table 1 are based on supplier estimates. To assess the carbon and nitrogen content of the different mulches, 4 subsamples of each material were dried, milled, and weighed to 10 mg (±0.3 mg) before percentage C and N were measured using a Flash 2000 CN analyser (Thermo Scientific) (Table 1).

Soil carbon and nitrogen

Soil cores were taken at the end of the experiment in May 2017. A soil corer with a diameter of 2.5 cm was used to take 15-20 cores per plot to a depth of 10 cm. Cores from individual plots were pooled and mixed before being air dried for at least 14 days. Samples were then milled and a 10 mg (±0.3 mg) subsample was used to determine percentage carbon and nitrogen for each plot using a Flash 2000 CN analyser (Thermo Scientific).

Soil temperature

Soil temperatures under different treatments were recorded in three of the nine blocks from July 2015 to March 2016, and August 2016 to April 2017. Records were taken at a depth of 5 cm below the soil surface every 1.5 hours using iButton data loggers (Thermocron iButton, Maxim Integrated). The daily mean, minimum, maximum, and range in temperatures were calculated for analysis.

Weed cover

The percentage cover of plants growing in the herbicide strip was recorded using a 1 m x 0.5 m quadrat, positioned to cover the width of the herbicide strip from the alleyway to the tree row. All vascular plants growing in this area were considered weeds; moss cover was recorded but not included in the analysis. The percentage weed cover in one quadrat per plot was recorded in June 2015 (before mulch application) and then in May 2016, June 2016, July 2016, and April 2017. Although weeds were recorded to species this was not included in the analysis, with total vegetation cover used instead.

Soil moisture

Soil moisture measurements were taken alongside soil respiration measurements in August 2015, and April, May, June, July, and August 2016. Measurements were taken using a ML2 ThetaProbe (Delta-T), this produced conductivity readings in mV which were converted to soil moisture percentages using the formula: % soil moisture = mV x 0.05 - 5

Soil respiration

Soil respiration rates were used as a proxy of soil biological activity and were recorded using an infra-red gas analyser (LCi-SD IRGA, LCi Photosynthetic System, ADC Bio Scientific Ltd. UK) with a soil chamber attachment which was placed directly onto the soil surface. Repeated measurements were taken once per month in August 2015, and April, May, June, July, and August 2016. Respiration rates were calculated as the net molar flow of CO_2 into or out of the soil (C_e (p mols s⁻¹) :

 $C_e = u (-\Delta c)$

 $u = \text{molar air flow in mol s}^{-1}$

 Δc = difference in CO₂ concentration through soil chamber, dilution corrected, *u*mol mol⁻¹.

Leaf decomposition

In December 2015, apple leaves were collected from the alleyways surrounding the experimental plots. The leaves were air dried until a constant weight was reached and then separated into 10g (±0.35 g) samples. The weight of each individual sample was recorded before being put into 20 cm² plastic mesh bags with hole diameters of 2mm. Two bags were placed flat on the ground in the herbicide strip of each plot to simulate natural leaf fall (126 bags in total). In October 2016, the bags were collected and their contents were air dried for at least 14 days before being reweighed. In December 2016, this process was repeated, with bags being collected in late April 2017.

In addition to the leaf litter bags put out in December 2016, individually weighed 10 g (\pm 0.5 g) leaf samples (2 samples per plot) were collected and placed underneath 20 cm² plastic mesh covers with hole diameters of 20 mm. These covers were pegged down to prevent leaves from being blown away, but allowed unrestricted access from the soil below the leaves. The leaves underneath these covers were therefore exposed to macroinvertebrates such as earthworms, whereas those in the bags were not.

Apple scab prevalence was not monitored on the experimental plots as airborne apple scab ascospores can be highly mobile (Aylor 1998) and the orchard was being managed with a conventional fungicide regime which is likely to have confounded results.

Earthworm abundance

Earthworm sampling was conducted in April 2016. For each plot, a soil pit measuring 25 x 25 x 25 cm was dug in the herbicide strip, half way between the tree line and the edge of the alleyway vegetation. The soil was spread on a 1.8 m x 1.2 m tarpaulin and sorted by hand for 10 minutes; pilot studies in previous years had shown that 10 minutes of sorting resulted in optimal balance between an accurate estimate of earthworm biomass and time allocation. All earthworms from the pits were collected and kept in pots containing moist paper towels for 48 hours to pass their gut contents. The earthworms were then washed, blot-dried with paper towels, counted, and

weighed. Pieces of earthworm were included in the weight measurements but were not counted.

Tree growth

In July 2015 digital callipers were used to take two trunk diameter measurements for every tree (the second measurement perpendicular to the first). Measurements were taken 50 cm above ground level at a point which was permanently marked with an oil-based marker. In April 2017 measurements were repeated at these marks to establish trunk expansion as a proxy for tree biomass growth.

Leaf chlorophyll

In July 2016 a chlorophyll meter (Konica Minolta SPAD-502Plus) was used to record the chlorophyll content of 15 leaves per plot (5 leaves per tree). Chlorophyll content is closely related to soil nitrogen content and provides an indication of tree nutrition.

Fruit production

One to two weeks before commercial harvest the total number of fruit on each tree was recorded. Ten apples per tree (30 fruit per plot) were randomly selected and their diameters recorded. Three of these fruit (9 fruit per plot) were collected for further quality assessments. Quality measures included: number of seeds, fresh weight, firmness (using a Silverline penetrometer), soluble solids or Brix (using a Hanna refractometer), and dry weight (entire fruit were cut into 4 pieces and oven dried at 70°C for at least 72 hours before reweighing). In total 1,134 fruit were assess for this study; 9 fruit from each of the 63 plots in both 2015 and 2016.

Statistical analysis

Data were analysed using linear and generalised linear mixed effects models in R (R Core Team 2017) using the "Ime4" package (Bates, Mächler & Bolker 2012). Treatment was the main fixed effect in all models, with original measurements included as covariates in the leaf litter weights and the trunk diameter models. Block was used as a random effect in all models, with plot and bag as nested random effects for the leaf litter bag models, and tree as a nested random effect

for the trunk diameter and fruit count models. Sampling month was included as a crossed random effect in the soil respiration, soil moisture, and weed cover models and date was used as a crossed random effect for soil temperature. Data from different years for fruit production and leaf litter decomposition were analysed separately. Generalised linear mixed effect models with a Poisson error distribution were used for both fruit number and earthworm number data. To compare between treatments pairwise post hoc least-squares means tests were conducted using the R package "Ismeans" (Lenth 2016). Graphics were produced in R using the package "ggplot2" (Wickham 2009).

2.4 Results

Soil carbon and nitrogen

Both soil carbon and soil nitrogen were significantly higher in the compost treatment compared to all other treatments (Figure 1) (p<0.001). There were no other significant differences between treatments.



Figure 1. Soil carbon and nitrogen percentages in orchard herbicide strips following mulching (taken at a depth of 0-10 cm). No mulch was applied in the Control treatment. Letters indicate significant differences as calculated by pairwise least-squares means tests (p<0.05).

Soil temperature

There were no statistically significant differences between treatments in the daily mean or maximum soil temperatures. The straw treatment showed significantly lower daily minimum temperatures than the control (p=0.0056), and a significantly reduced range in daily temperatures when compared to the control, 'oversown-clover', and 'oversown-clover2' treatments (p=0.019, p=0.047, p=0.026 respectively).

Weed and mulch cover

Weed cover was significantly higher in the compost treatment (77.8%), and significantly lower in the straw treatment (4.3%) in comparison to all other treatments (Figure 2). This compares to a mean weed cover of 31.1% in the 'legume-grass2' plots (which had the second lowest weed cover) and 37.8% in the control treatment. The most abundant plants growing in the herbicide strip were grasses (predominately perennial ryegrass, *Lolium perenne*), groundsel (*Senecio vulgaris*), cleavers (*Galium aparine*), and common nettle (*Urtica dioica*). Groundsel made up 39% of weed cover across all treatments, and 64% of weed cover in the compost treatment. The analysis of mulch cover shown in Figure 2 does not include the compost treatment as the mixing of compost and soil made percentage cover estimates unreliable. The mulch cover values seen in the control and compost treatments were due to grass cuttings from the adjoining alleyways being blown onto the herbicide strip.



Figure 2. Percentage weed and mulch cover in herbicide strips (mean ± SEM). The compost treatment was not included in the mulch cover analysis as the incorporation of compost into the soil made estimates unreliable. Group letters indicate significance differences across the whole sampling period, as calculated by pairwise least-squares means tests (p<0.05). Straw and compost was applied once in June 2015, and cuttings from the 'oversown-clover', 'oversown-clover2', 'legume-grass', and 'legume-grass2' treatments were applied in June and August 2015, and April, June, and August 2016.

Soil moisture

Over the length of the study soil moisture was significantly higher in the straw treatment when compared to all other treatments, whilst soil in the 'legume-grass2' treatment had significantly more moisture than both the control (p<0.001) and compost (p=0.0025) plots, which showed the lowest and second lowest moisture levels respectively (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Soil moisture percentages (mean \pm SEM) in the herbicide strip (taken at a depth of approximately 6 cm). Group letters indicate significant differences over the whole sampling period, as calculated by pairwise least-squares means tests (p<0.05).

Trunk diameter

Tree growth, as measured by trunk diameter, showed no significant differences between the treatments over the two year period of the study. Mean trunk diameter increases were between 4.5 mm and 5.2 mm in individual treatments.

Leaf chlorophyll

No significant differences were seen in leaf chlorophyll content between the treatments.

Yield estimate

No significant differences were detected between treatments in estimated fruit yields or in any of the fruit quality measures (see Table 2).

Treatment	Number of fruit	Diameter (mm)	Fresh weight (g)	Dry weight (g)	Seeds	Firmness (kg/cm)	°Brix
Control	111.4±4.2	60.9±0.3	100.9±1.6	14.7±0.3	3.0±0.2	9.2±0.1	12.2±0.07
Straw	115.1±3.4	61.0±0.2	100.0±1.9	14.5±0.3	2.8±0.2	9.1±0.1	12.1±0.07
Compost	108.6±3.2	61.0±0.2	101.5±1.6	14.7±0.2	3.1±0.2	9.0±0.1	12.3±0.07
Oversown-clover	111.2±3.0	61.0±0.2	101.3±1.4	14.8±0.2	2.7±0.2	9.1±0.1	12.2±0.06
Oversown-clover2	111.7±3.6	61.3±0.2	104.6±1.5	15.3±0.3	3.2±0.2	9.0±0.1	12.2±0.06
Legume-grass	109.6±3.6	61.4±0.3	98.1±2.3	14.5±0.3	2.9±0.2	9.1±0.1	12.2±0.06
Legume-grass2	113.3±4.6	61.5±0.3	98.5±2.1	14.5±0.3	3.1±0.2	8.9±0.1	12.2±0.06

Table 2. Fruit yield and quality. Each degree Brix is equal to 1 g of sucrose in 100 g of solution. Values are means \pm SEM for fruit collected in both 2015 and 2016.

Soil respiration

The straw, 'legume-grass2', and compost treatments showed the highest rates of soil respiration during the monitoring period, with respiration in the straw treatments being significantly higher than the remaining 4 treatments (Figure 4).



Soil Respiration

Figure 4. Soil respiration rates (mean \pm SEM) following mulching treatments (recorded at the soil surface). Group letters indicate significant differences over the whole sampling period, as calculated by pairwise least-squares means tests (p<0.05).

Leaf litter decomposition

For litter bags incubated between December 2015 and October 2016 (Figure 5) the greatest reduction in leaf mass was seen in the 'legume-grass2' and compost treatments (with a mean of 2.16 g and 2.17 g remaining respectively). These two treatments showed significantly less leaf mass remaining when compared to the control and straw treatments (with 3.11 g and 3.35 g respectively). The 'oversown-clover2' treatment, which had an average of 2.44 g leaf mass remaining, also showed significantly more decomposition than the straw treatment. The bags that were incubated between December 2016 and April 2017 did not show any statistically significant differences between treatments though those in the 'legume-grass2' plots again had the least leaf litter remaining. In both years the 'oversown-clover', 'oversown-clover2', and 'legume-grass' treatments showed similar amounts of leaf decomposition.



Figure 5. Mass of leaf litter remaining in litter bags after 10 months exposure (Dec-15 to Oct-16) and 5 months exposure (Dec-16 to Apr-17) on the surface of orchard herbicide strips under different mulching treatments. Original weights of 10g (±0.5g). Group letters indicate significant differences as calculated through pairwise least-squares means tests (p<0.05).

The leaf litter covers, which allowed macro fauna access to the leaves, showed 100% removal of recoverable leaf litter fragments in all treatments between December 2016 and April 2017. This compares to an average reduction in mass of 40.4% (4.07 g remaining) for leaves in litter bags over the same period.

Earthworm abundance

Earthworm abundance varied considerably between the treatments, with the 'legume-grass2' treatment having 2.4 times the number and 3.4 times the weight of earthworms compared to the straw treatment, and 1.7 times the number and 1.8 times the weight when compared to the control treatment (Figure 6). Earthworms were significantly more numerous in both of the double rate cuttings treatments ('legume-grass2' and 'oversown-clover2') compared to the control, straw, and compost treatments. Significantly more worms were also found in the 'legume-grass' treatment compared to the straw and compost treatments, with the straw treatment showing the fewest worms overall.



Number of earthworms



Compost

Oversown-

clover

Oversown-

clover2

Legume-

grass

Legume-

grass2

0.0

Control

Straw

Summary of results

Table 3. Summary of results showing effect of mulching treatment compared to a bare-ground control. Leaf litter decomposition refers to the bags incubated in 2015-2016 only. Symbols indicate significance as calculated using pairwise least square means tests (p=0.05): '-' = lower than the control, '+' = greater than the control, and '0' = not significantly different from control.

Treatment	Straw	Compost	Oversown -clover	Oversown -clover2	Legume -grass	Legume -grass2
Soil Carbon	0	+	0	0	0	0
Soil Nitrogen	0	+	0	0	0	0
Weed suppression	+	-	0	0	0	0
Soil moisture	+	0	0	0	0	+
Tree growth	0	0	0	0	0	0
Fruit yield and quality	0	0	0	0	0	0
Soil respiration	+	0	0	0	0	0
Leaf litter decomposition	0	+	0	0	0	+
Number of earthworms	0	0	0	+	0	+
Mass of earthworms	0	0	0	0	0	+

2.5 Discussion

The results from this study show that whilst mulching can indeed improve measures of soil fertility and soil biological activity, the effects vary depending on the materials used (Table 3). Mulching generally had a positive effect on soils, though these benefits were not seen in all treatments; nor were the effects detectable in measures of tree growth or yields within the timescale of the study. The compost treatment showed significantly higher soil carbon and soil nitrogen content when compared to all other treatments, whilst the straw treatment appeared to have little effect on these parameters, despite having the second greatest mass of mulch material added after the compost treatment. This may be due to the degree of mixing with the soil which took place; the small particle size of the compost would have allowed easier incorporation into the soil compared to the long stalks of the straw. Soil moisture levels were higher in the straw and 'legume-grass2' treatments when compared to the control, but there were no statistically significant differences in the other treatments. Other studies have also shown that mulching can increase soil moisture (Merwin, Stiles & van Es 1994; Byers, Ferree & Warrington 2003; St. Laurent, Merwin & Thies 2008; Stefanelli 2009). As well as the highest soil moisture levels, the straw treatment showed the lowest minimum soil temperature and the least range in daily soil temperatures, this is likely to be due to the insulating effect of the straw. It is possible that the pale coloured straw may have increase light reflection, which may have led to cooler soils but could also have increased colouring of fruit (Blanke 2008; Meinhold, Damerow & Blanke 2011), although no evidence of this effect was found in this study. The straw treatment provided significantly improved weed suppression, which is another likely cause for the high soil moisture; as transpiration from weeds would have been reduced. The enhanced weed suppression shown in the straw treatment was despite the fact that herbicide strips were already being controlled with herbicide. The application of compost, on the other hand, led to higher weed cover and had the second lowest soil moisture content. Although the weed cover was higher in the compost treatment the most common species was groundsel (*Senecio vulgaris*), a shallow-rooted summer-annual, which may be less competitive with the trees than other weed species.

The alleyway cuttings did not show improvements in weed suppression compared to the control, however it is possible that if cuttings were repeatedly applied over several years a layer may build up which could smother weeds in a similar way to the straw (Yao *et al.* 2005; Granatstein & Sánchez 2009). Layers of mulch covering bare soil may also help to reduce rain-splash, which is considered a potential route of soil and leaf litter pathogens (including apple canker, *Neonectria ditissima*) movement onto trees (Weber 2014). During the time frame of this study mulching did not have a detectable effect on tree growth, leaf nitrogen, or yields, though other studies have shown that the addition of compost and wood-chips the herbicide strip can positively affect tree growth and yields (Autio, Greene & Schupp 1991; Smith, Carroll & Cheary 2000; TerAvest *et al.* 2010).

The hypothesis that mulching would increase soil biological activity and leaf litter decomposition also received some support from the results. Only the straw treatment showed significantly higher soil respiration rates when compared to the control, although this did not translate into greater leaf litter decomposition rates as predicted. This may be because the leaves were lying on the top layer of straw whilst the rapid biological activity indicated by the higher respiration rates was occurring in the damper, lower layers of straw and soil. The fastest leaf litter decomposition rates were seen in the 'legume-grass2', 'oversown-clover2', and compost treatments which may be due to the microbe communities in these plots being more abundant or active, although respiration rates were not significantly higher than in the control plots. In the case of the 'legume-grass2' and 'oversown-clover2' treatments it may be that the microbe communities were better adapted to decomposing fresh plant material. Other studies have shown that mulching can increase soil biological activity and positively alter the composition of soil microorganism communities (Yao *et al.* 2005; Forge *et al.* 2008; St. Laurent, Merwin & Thies 2008). By providing resources and favourable habitat for decomposer and detritivore communities, mulch may enable improved leaf litter decomposition rates following leaf-drop in autumn. Mulching has been shown to reduce the sporulation of fungal pathogens, increase resistance to disease, and improve yields in vineyards (Jacometti, Wratten & Walter 2007a; b). The control treatment, where no mulch had been applied, showed the lowest soil moisture content, the lowest rates of soil respiration, and the least leaf litter decomposition, though not all of these difference were statistically significant. The lack of significant differences in leaf litter decomposition seen in 2016-2017 may be due to the reduced length of time that they were in the orchard; ten months in 2015-2016 versus just five in 2016-2017. The leaves under the leaf covers showed a far more rapid loss of mass over the same period, with no recoverable leaf litter fragments remaining. This supports the notion that macroinvertebrates, such as earthworms, are key for leaf litter removal and therefore for the biological control of apple scab.

The higher earthworm abundances seen in some of the mulched plots suggest that adding organic material to the herbicide strips can indeed help to support beneficial soil biota. The higher earthworm abundances seen in the 'legume-grass2' and 'oversown-clover2' treatments suggest that fresh vegetation cuttings are more valuable to earthworms than compost or straw mulches, although other studies have found that straw mulch can have a positive effect on earthworm numbers (Thomson & Hoffmann 2007; Andersen et al. 2013). The edibility of different mulch materials is likely to vary for different earthworm species depending on their feeding niches; with epigeic (surface dwelling) and anecic (burrowing) species (Bouch 1977) more likely to feed on fresh material such as cover crop cuttings, and apple leaves, than those species which generally feed on soil or compost (Curry & Schmidt 2007; Blouin et al. 2013). As well as supporting soil biota, mulching can affect above-ground species; and has been seen to boost the number of some natural enemies and reduce the number of some pest species (Mathews, Bottrell & Brown 2002). The effects on ground beetles have been more varied however, with mixed results on how mulching affects their diversity and numbers (Miñarro & Dapena 2003; Tuovinen et al. 2006). There is also the possibility that mulching will reduce the availability of nest sites for ground nesting bee species, as these species often prefer bare soil (Potts et al. 2005; Sardinas & Kremen 2014), although they are less likely to nest underneath trees than more open areas (Grundel et al. 2010). Mulching is also likely to affect earwigs, which are important predators of apple pests (Suckling et al. 2006), as they also nest in the soil. As well as the mulch that they produce, the living cover crops themselves may benefit soil functional diversity through their nutrient-rich root exudates (Jiao *et al.* 2013) and interactions with mycorrhizal fungi (Baumgartner, Smith & Bettiga 2005). Cover crops also have the have the potential to increase the numbers of natural enemies and pollinators, along with the ecosystem services which they provide; this will be discussed further in Chapters 3 and 4.

2.6 Conclusions and management recommendations

The traditional mulch materials became increasingly degraded and dispersed and by the end of the experiment they were visibly reduced, and the straw treatment's percentage cover and effectiveness at suppressing weeds appeared to be waning by the end of the experiment. If the effects of the two traditional mulches were to continue throughout the lifetime of the orchard they would need to be reapplied, probably on a three year basis. Transportation and application of these mulches is costly and it is likely that their use would only be feasible if materials were locally available. One of the major benefits of the alleyway cuttings is that they do not require transportation, though they too may need replenishing. Whilst white clover can survive indefinitely if allowed to seed it is likely that stands of lucerne will need to be re-sown every 4-5 years (AHDB 2014). The fact that the cuttings from cover crops do not need to be transported and can applied repeatedly to the herbicide strip over many years makes them a low-cost alternative to traditional mulches (Table 1). Cuttings from current alleyway vegetation, which is usually predominately grasses, could also be used to produce mulch, though the nitrogen content is likely to be lower than for a legume based cover crop.

If cover crops were sown during orchard establishment, just as grass alleyways currently are, they would require minimal change on management. Mulching with cover crop cuttings would require side-discharging mowers however. The yield of cuttings from cover crops will vary between sites according to soil fertility, climate, and management, but cover crops have the potential to provide a small but regular source mulch and nitrogen for the tree roots in the herbicide strip. The alleyway cover crops used in this study were producing 4.3 and 4.9 tons of dry mass per hectare annually for the 'oversown-clover' and 'legume-grass' treatment respectively. These yields are towards the lower end of expected clover-grass and lucerne yields and if the cover crops were managed more efficiently the yield of cuttings may be increased. Using a combination of mulching options may be the most effective method for newly established orchards: one potential method could be to apply straw to the herbicide strips in newly planted orchards then as the trees are growing; the straw could then be 'topped-up' with cuttings from the alleyway. Growing alleyway cover crops could prove to be a cost-effective and sustainable way of producing mulching material and adding nitrogen; negating transport costs, reducing mowing frequency, and possibly allowing a reduction in herbicides and fertiliser applications (Patrick *et al.* 2004; Sirrine *et al.* 2008; Mullinix & Granatstein 2011).

Whilst the effects of traditional mulches have been well studied, and some of the longer-term benefits have been shown (Hogue & Neilsen 1987; Merwin, Ferree & Warrington 2003; Neilsen et al. 2003), the use of alleyway cuttings is more novel and still requires further research. This experiment was conducted in a commercial orchard under conventional management; fertiliser was being applied and the herbicide strip was being managed with bi-annual herbicide applications. The differences between treatments found in this study were seen despite the effects of intensive management, which included irrigation and fertiliser applications. Surveys for apple scab damage on trees were not conducted because of the proximity between plots and because the orchard was being conventionally managed with fungicides, which is likely to have masked any treatment effect. Although some studies have seen competition between cover crops and trees for water and nutrients (Teravest et al. 2011; Du, Bai & Yu 2015) this will depend on the climate, cover crop type and management, and the width of the herbicide strip, and other studies have shown improved soil fertility and production with cover cropping even in arid and semi-arid conditions (Sánchez et al. 2007; Ramos et al. 2011). The water conserving ability of mulches may be of increasing importance as droughts are made more likely due to climate change and the demand for water increases due to continued human population growth (Vorosmarty 2000; Allen et al. 2010). Quantifying the effects of cover crops and other management practices in orchards can be difficult because orchards may be commercially viable for decades (Jackson 2003; Nix 2014), whilst most studies will only run for a few years. It may be that only large scale, long term studies are capable of revealing the true effects on production, but the results from this study demonstrate that mulching, and mulching with cover crop cuttings can be a beneficial management practice which may enhance ecosystem services and improve soil health and sustainability.

2.7 References

AHDB. (2014) Growing and feeding lucerne. Allen, C.D., Macalady, A.K., Chenchouni, H., Bachelet, D., McDowell, N., Vennetier, M.,

57

Kitzberger, T., Rigling, A., Breshears, D.D., Hogg, E.H. (Ted., Gonzalez, P., Fensham, R.,
Zhang, Z., Castro, J., Demidova, N., Lim, J.H., Allard, G., Running, S.W., Semerci, A. & Cobb,
N. (2010) A global overview of drought and heat-induced tree mortality reveals emerging
climate change risks for forests. *Forest Ecology and Management*, **259**, 660–684.

- Andersen, L., Kühn, B.F., Bertelsen, M., Bruus, M., Larsen, S.E. & Strandberg, M. (2013)
 Alternatives to herbicides in an apple orchard, effects on yield, earthworms and plant
 diversity. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 172, 1–5.
- Autio, W., Greene, D. & Schupp, J. (1991) Improving the growth of newly planted apple trees. HortScience, 26, 840–843.
- Aylor, D.E. (1998) The aerobiology of apple scab. *Plant Disease*, **82**, 838–849.
- Bates, D., Mächler, M. & Bolker, B. (2012) Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. *Journal* of Statistical Software, **67**, 51.
- Baumgartner, K., Smith, R.F. & Bettiga, L. (2005) Weed control and cover crop management affect mycorrhizal colonization of grapevine roots and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal spore populations in a California vineyard. *Mycorrhiza*, **15**, 111–119.
- Beare, M.H., Reddy, M.V., Tian, G. & Srivastava, S.C. (1997) Agricultural intensification, soil biodiversity and agroecosystem function in the tropics: The role of decomposer biota.
 Applied Soil Ecology, 6, 87–108.
- Blanke, M.M. (2008) Alternatives to reflective mulch cloth (Extenday[™]) for apple under hail net? *Scientia horticulturae*, **116**, 223–226.
- Blouin, M., Hodson, M.E., Delgado, E.A., Baker, G., Brussaard, L., Butt, K.R., Dai, J., Dendooven,
 L., Peres, G., Tondoh, J.E., Cluzeau, D. & Brun, J.-J.J. (2013) A review of earthworm impact
 on soil function and ecosystem services. *European Journal of Soil Science*, 64, 161–182.
- Bouch, M.B. (1977) Soil organisms as components of ecosystems. *Ecological Bulletins*, **25**, 122–132.
- Byers, R.E., Ferree, D.C. & Warrington, I.J. (2003) *Apples: Botany, Production and Uses* (eds D.C. Ferree & I.J. Warrington). CABI, Wallingford.
- van Capelle, C., Schrader, S. & Brunotte, J. (2012) Tillage-induced changes in the functional diversity of soil biota - A review with a focus on German data. *European Journal of Soil Biology*, **50**, 165–181.
- Curry, J.P. & Schmidt, O. (2007) The feeding ecology of earthworms A review. *Pedobiologia*, **50**, 463–477.
- Du, S., Bai, G. & Yu, J. (2015) Soil properties and apricot growth under intercropping and mulching with erect milk vetch in the loess hilly-gully region. *Plant and Soil*, **390**, 431–442.

- Forge, T.A., Hogue, E., Neilsen, G. & Neilsen, D. (2003) Effects of organic mulches on soil microfauna in the root zone of apple: implications for nutrient fluxes and functional diversity of the soil food web. *Applied Soil Ecology*, **22**, 39–54.
- Forge, T.A., Hogue, E.J., Neilsen, G. & Neilsen, D. (2008) Organic mulches alter nematode communities, root growth and fluxes of phosphorus in the root zone of apple. *Applied Soil Ecology*, **39**, 15–22.
- Fragoso, C., Brown, G.G., Patrón, J.C., Blanchart, E., Lavelle, P., Pashanasi, B., Senapati, B. & Kumar, T. (1997) Agricultural intensification, soil biodiversity and agroecosystem function in the tropics: The role of earthworms. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 6, 17–35.
- Germer, S., Dongen, R. van & Kern, J. (2017) Decomposition of cherry tree prunings and their short-term impact on soil quality. *Applied Soil Ecology*, **117–118**, 156–164.
- Glover, J.D., Reganold, J.P. & Andrews, P.K. (2000) Systematic method for rating soil quality of conventional, organic, and integrated apple orchards in Washington State. Agriculture, *Ecosystems & Environment*, **80**, 29–45.
- Gomez, C., Brun, L., Chauffour, D. & Vallée, D.D. Le. (2007) Effect of leaf litter management on scab development in an organic apple orchard. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 118, 249–255.
- Gómez, J.A., Sobrinho, T.A., Giráldez, J. V. & Fereres, E. (2009) Soil management effects on runoff, erosion and soil properties in an olive grove of Southern Spain. *Soil and Tillage Research*, **102**, 5–13.
- Granatstein, D. & Sánchez, E. (2009) Research Knowledge and Needs for Orchard Floor
 Management in Organic Tree Fruit Systems. *International Journal of Fruit Science*, 9, 257–281.
- Grundel, R., Jean, R.P., Frohnapple, K.J., Glowacki, G.A., Scott, P.E. & Pavlovic, N.B. (2010) Floral and nesting resources, habitat structure, and fire influence bee distribution across an openforest gradient. *Ecological Applications*, **20**, 1678–1692.
- Hoagland, L., Carpenter-Boggs, L., Granatstein, D., Mazzola, M., Smith, J., Peryea, F. & Reganold,
 J.P. (2008) Orchard floor management effects on nitrogen fertility and soil biological
 activity in a newly established organic apple orchard. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 45, 11–
 18.
- Hogue, E.J. & Neilsen, G.H. (1987) Orchard Floor Vegetation Management. *Horticultural Reviews*, **9**, 377–430.
- Holb, I.J. (2006) Effect of six sanitation treatments on leaf litter density, ascospore production of Venturia inaequalis and scab incidence in integrated and organic apple orchards. *European*

Journal of Plant Pathology, **115**, 293–307.

 Holb, I.J., Heijne, B. & Jeger, M.J. (2006) Effects of integrated control measures on earthworms, leaf litter and Venturia inaequalis infection in two European apple orchards. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **114**, 287–295.

Jackson, J.E. (2003) Biology of Apples and Pears. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

- Jacometti, M.A., Wratten, S.D. & Walter, M. (2007a) Understorey management increases grape quality, yield and resistance to *Botrytis cinerea*. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, **122**, 349–356.
- Jacometti, M.A., Wratten, S.D. & Walter, M. (2007b) Management of understorey to reduce the primary inoculum of *Botrytis cinerea*: Enhancing ecosystem services in vineyards. *Biological Control*, **40**, 57–64.
- Jiao, K., Qin, S., Lyu, D., Liu, L. & Ma, H. (2013) Red clover intercropping of apple orchards improves soil microbial community functional diversity. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section B - Soil & Plant Science*, **63**, 466–472.
- Jouquet, P., Dauber, J., Lagerlöf, J., Lavelle, P. & Lepage, M. (2006) Soil invertebrates as ecosystem engineers: Intended and accidental effects on soil and feedback loops. *Applied Soil Ecology*, **32**, 153–164.
- Keesstra, S., Pereira, P., Novara, A., Brevik, E.C., Azorin-Molina, C., Parras-Alcántara, L., Jordán, A.
 & Cerdà, A. (2016) Effects of soil management techniques on soil water erosion in apricot orchards. *Science of the Total Environment*, 551–552, 357–366.
- St. Laurent, A., Merwin, I. a. & Thies, J.E. (2008) Long-term orchard groundcover management systems affect soil microbial communities and apple replant disease severity. *Plant and Soil*, **304**, 209–225.
- Lavelle, P., Bignell, D., Lepage, M., Wolters, W., Roger, P., Ineson, P., Heal, O.W. & Dhillion, S. (1997) Soil function in a changing world : the role of invertebrate ecosystem engineers.
 European Journal of Soil Biology, **33**, 159–193.
- Lenth, R. V. (2016) Least-Squares Means: The R Package Ismeans. *Journal of Statistical Software*, **69**, 1–33.
- Lipecki, J. & Berbeć, S. (1997) Soil management in perennial crops: orchards and hop gardens. Soil and Tillage Research, **43**, 169–184.
- MacHardy, W.E. (1996) *Apple Scab: Biology, Epidemiology, and Management*. The American Phytopathology Society, St. Paul, MN.
- Mathews, C.R., Bottrell, D.G. & Brown, M.W. (2002) A comparison of conventional and alternative understory management practices for apple production: multi-trophic effects.

Applied Soil Ecology, **21**, 221–231.

- Meinhold, T., Damerow, L. & Blanke, M. (2011) Reflective materials under hailnet improve orchard light utilisation, fruit quality and particularly fruit colouration. *Scientia Horticulturae*, **127**, 447–451.
- Merwin, I.A., Ferree, D.C. & Warrington, I.J. (2003) Orchard-floor management systems. *Apples: Botany, production and uses* (eds D.C. Ferree & I.J. Warrington), pp. 303–344. CABI
 Publishing, Wallingford, UK.
- Merwin, I.A. & Ray, J.J.A. (1997) Spatial and temporal factors in weed interference with newly planted apple trees. *HortScience*, **32**, 633–637.
- Merwin, I.A. & Stiles, W.C. (1994) Orchard groundcover management impacts on apple tree growth and yield, and nutrient availability and uptake. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science*, **119**, 209–215.
- Merwin, I.A., Stiles, W.C. & van Es, H.M. (1994) Orchard groundcover management impacts on soil physical properties. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science*, **119**, 216– 222.
- Miñarro, M. & Dapena, E. (2003) Effects of groundcover management on ground beetles (Coleoptera: Carabidae) in an apple orchard. *Applied Soil Ecology*, **23**, 111–117.
- Mullinix, K. & Granatstein, D. (2011) Potential nitrogen contributions from legumes in Pacific Northwest apple orchards. *International Journal of Fruit Science*, **11**, 74–87.
- Nakamoto, T. & Tsukamoto, M. (2006) Abundance and activity of soil organisms in fields of maize grown with a white clover living mulch. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **115**, 34–42.
- Neilsen, G.H., Hogue, E.J., Forge, T. & Neilsen, D. (2003) Mulches and biosolids affect vigor, yield and leaf nutrition of fertigated high density apple. *HortScience*, **38**, 41–45.
- Nix, J. (2014) Farm Management Pocketbook, 44th ed.
- Patrick, A.E., Smith, R., Keck, K. & Berry, A.M. (2004) Grapevine uptake of 15 N-labeled nitrogen derived from a winter-annual leguminous cover-crop mix. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture*, 2, 187–190.
- Pavek, P.L.S. & Granatstein, D.M. (2014) *The Potential for Legume Cover Crops in Washington Apple Orchards*. Spokane, Washington.
- Potts, S.G., Vulliamy, B., Roberts, S., O'Toole, C., Dafni, A., Ne'eman, G. & Willmer, P. (2005) Role of nesting resources in organising diverse bee communities in a Mediterranean landscape. *Ecological Entomology*, **30**, 78–85.
- Qian, X., Gu, J., Pan, H., Zhang, K., Sun, W., Wang, X. & Gao, H. (2015) Effects of living mulches on

the soil nutrient contents, enzyme activities, and bacterial community diversities of apple orchard soils. *European Journal of Soil Biology*, **70**, 23–30.

- R Core Team. (2017) *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Ramos, M.E., Robles, A.B., Sánchez-Navarro, A. & González-Rebollar, J.L. (2011) Soil responses to different management practices in rainfed orchards in semiarid environments. *Soil and Tillage Research*, **112**, 85–91.
- Raw, F. (1962) Studies of earthworm populations in orchards: I. Leaf burial in apple orchards.Annals of Applied Biology, 50, 389–404.
- Sánchez, E.E., Giayetto, A., Cichón, L., Fernández, D., Aruani, M.C. & Curetti, M. (2007) Cover crops influence soil properties and tree performance in an organic apple (*Malus domestica* Borkh) orchard in northern Patagonia. *Plant and Soil*, **292**, 193–203.
- Sardinas, H.S. & Kremen, C. (2014) Evaluating nesting microhabitat for ground-nesting bees using emergence traps. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, **15**, 161–168.
- Sarrantonio, M. (1992) Opportunities and Challenges for the Inclusion of Soil-improving Crops in Vegetable Production Systems. *HortScience*, **27**, 754–758.
- Sirrine, J., Letourneau, D.K., Shennan, C., Sirrine, D., Fouch, R., Jackson, L. & Mages, a. (2008) Impacts of groundcover management systems on yield, leaf nutrients, weeds, and arthropods of tart cherry in Michigan, USA. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **125**, 239–245.
- Smith, M., Carroll, B. & Cheary, B. (2000) Mulch improves pecan tree growth during orchard establishment. *HortScience*, **35**, 192–195.
- Stefanelli, D. (2009) Organic orchard floor management systems for apple effect on rootstock performance in the midwestern United States. *HortScience*, **44**, 263.
- Steinmaus, S., Elmore, C.L., Smith, R.J., Donaldson, D., Weber, E.A., Roncoroni, J.A. & Miller,
 P.R.M. (2008) Mulched cover crops as an alternative to conventional weed management
 systems in vineyards. *Weed Research*, 48, 273–281.
- Suckling, D.M., Burnip, G.M., Hackett, J. & Daly, J.C. (2006) Frass sampling and baiting indicate European earwig (*Forficula auricularia*) foraging in orchards. *Journal of Applied Entomology*, **130**, 263–267.
- Sullivan, T.P., Sullivan, D.S. & Granatstein, D.M. (2018) Influence of living mulches on vole populations and feeding damage to apple trees. *Crop Protection*, **108**, 78–86.
- Sutton, D.K., MacHardy, W.E. & Lord, W.G. (2000) Effects of shredding or treating apple leaf litter with urea on ascospore d ose of Venturia inaequalis and disease buildup. *Plant*

Disease, 84, 1319–1326.

- Tagliavini, M., Tonon, G., Scandellari, F., Quinones, A., Palmieri, S., Menarbin, G., Gioacchini, P. & Masia, A. (2007) Nutrient recycling during the decomposition of apple leaves (*Malus domestica*) and mowed grasses in an orchard. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **118**, 191–200.
- Teravest, D., Smith, J.L., Carpenter-Boggs, L., Granatstein, D., Hoagland, L. & Reganold, J.P.
 (2011) Soil Carbon Pools, Nitrogen Supply, and Tree Performance under Several
 Groundcovers and Compost Rates in a Newly Planted Apple Orchard. *HortScience*, 46, 1687–1694.
- TerAvest, D., Smith, J., Carpenter-Boggs, L., Hoagland, L., Granatstein, D. & Reganold, J.P. (2010) Influence of orchard floor management and compost application timing on nitrogen partitioning in apple trees. *HortScience*, **45**, 637–642.
- Thomson, L.J. & Hoffmann, A.A. (2007) Effects of ground cover (straw and compost) on the abundance of natural enemies and soil macro invertebrates in vineyards. *Agricultural and Forest Entomology*, **9**, 173–179.
- Tuovinen, T., Kikas, A., Tolonen, T. & Kivijärvi, P. (2006) Organic mulches vs. black plastic in organic strawberry: Does it make a difference for ground beetles (Col., Carabidae)? *Journal* of Applied Entomology, **130**, 495–503.
- Vincent, C., Rancourt, B. & Carisse, O. (2004) Apple leaf shredding as a non-chemical tool to manage apple scab and spotted tentiform leafminer. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **104**, 595–604.
- Vorosmarty, C.J. (2000) Global water resources: vulnerability from climate change and population growth. *Science*, **289**, 284–288.

Walsh, B.D., MacKenzie, A.F., Salmins, S. & Buszard, D.J. (1996) Impact of soil management systems on organic dwarf apple orchards and soil aggregate stability, bulk density, temperature and water content. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, **76**, 203–209.

Weber, R.W.S. (2014) Biology and control of the apple canker fungus Neonectria ditissima (syn.N. galligena) from a Northwestern European perspective. *Erwerbsobstbau*, 56, 95–107.

- Weibel, F., Häseli, A., Ferree, D.C. & Warrington, I.J. (2003) *Apples: Botany, Production and Uses* (eds D.C. Ferree & I.J. Warrington). CABI, Wallingford.
- Wickham, H. (2009) ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis.
- Wiman, M.R., Kirby, E.M., Granatstein, D.M. & Sullivan, T.P. (2009) Cover crops influence meadow vole presence in organic orchards. *HortTechnology*, **19**, 558–562.

WRAP. (2008) Realising the Value of Organic Waste.

WRAP. (2011) PAS 100.

- Yao, S., Merwin, I.A., Bird, G.W., Abawi, G.S. & Thies, J.E. (2005) Orchard floor management practices that maintain vegetative or biomass groundcover stimulate soil microbial activity and alter soil microbial community composition. *Plant and soil*, **271**, 377–389.
- Żelazny, W.R. & Licznar-Małańczuk, M. (2018) Soil quality and tree status in a twelve-year-old apple orchard under three mulch-based floor management systems. *Soil and Tillage Research*, **180**, 250–258.
Chapter 3:

Supporting natural enemies with orchard alleyway cover crops



('Floral-rich' plot, June 2016)

Chapter 3:

Supporting natural enemies with orchard alleyway cover crops

3.1 Abstract

Increasing the biological control of crop pests by natural enemies will help to improve the ecological sustainability of agricultural systems by reducing the need for pesticides. In this study, different mixtures of orchard alleyway cover crops were tested to establish their capacity to boost natural enemy populations and enhance pest regulation services in apple orchards. Three cover crop mixtures were tested: the first consisting of a range of legumes and wildflowers designed to provide abundant floral resources, the second of legumes and tussock-forming grasses designed to increase the structural complexity of alleyway vegetation, and the third comprising two legumes species over-sown into existing alleyway vegetation which was intended as a low-cost option. These mixtures were trialled in conventional commercial orchards alongside a mown-grass standard control using a randomised complete block design with plots averaging 0.25 ha in size. All three mixtures had positive effects on several important natural enemy groups, including predatory beetles, parasitoids, and active-hunting spiders, without increasing the abundance of apple crop pests. However, no significant changes in pest abundance or in measures of predation rates, using pea aphid sentinel cards, were detected. The results suggest that whilst florally diverse mixtures are the most effective for attracting a range of natural enemies into orchards even the addition of simple, low-cost seed mixtures can lead to an increase in populations of natural enemies.

3.2 Introduction

Improving pest regulation services by providing habitat for natural enemies is an important method for ecologically intensified production and to reduce our reliance on pesticides (Landis, Wratten & Gurr 2000; Fiedler, Landis & Wratten 2008; Bommarco, Kleijn & Potts 2013). Reducing pesticide use is, in turn, key to reducing biodiversity and improving sustainability in many agricultural systems, including fruit orchards (Reganold *et al.* 2001; Godfray *et al.* 2014; Connelly, Poveda & Loeb 2015). If natural enemies are to provide pest regulation services they must have access to the resources that they need; sources of nutrition and energy such as prey species (either crop pests or alternative prey), pollen, and nectar. Physical resources including shelter, web-building sites, nesting sites, and overwintering sites are also essential. These resources must be available at the correct times during the species lifecycle. Natural enemies are generally more abundant in diverse agricultural landscapes where natural and semi-natural areas provide a range of habitats and resources (Bianchi, Booij & Tscharntke 2006). However, many intensively managed agricultural systems are homogenous monocultures, lacking the resources needed to sustain the populations of many natural enemy species to the extent that they meet current pest control demands (Meehan *et al.* 2011).

Commercial orchards commonly have groundcovers consisting of weed-strips of bare soil and alleyways of regularly mown grasses (Merwin, Ferree & Warrington 2003). This leaves little room for the plants which provide the additional resources required by natural enemies and other beneficial species (Horton et al. 2003). Alleyways can found in many perennial systems and make up a significant amount of the land area. They provide the space needed to access the trees and allow the passage of air and light, whilst the alleyway vegetation helps to provide traction for vehicles and reduces erosion and run-off when compared to bare soils (Keesstra et al. 2016; García-Díaz et al. 2017). The majority of alleyway vegetation consists of closely mown grasses (Merwin, Ferree & Warrington 2003), which can be poor habitat for many beneficial species and adds little to the orchard agroecosystem (Horton et al. 2003). Growing flowering plants in the alleyways could provide a significant resource for beneficial species in close proximity to the crop (Bugg & Waddington 1994; Wyss, Niggli & Nentwig 1995). Having floral resources immediately adjacent to the crop should reduce the amount of energy that natural enemies need to expend travelling between food sources, potentially increasing their effectiveness (Lavandero et al. 2005). Improved alleyway habitat may also help natural enemies move into the orchards from any semi-natural areas surrounding the crop; reductions in the abundance of some natural enemies have been seen at greater distances from orchard edges (Thomson & Hoffmann 2009, 2013).

Habitat management forms a key part of conservation biological control (Landis, Wratten & Gurr 2000) and targeted habitat creation can be used to increase the numbers of natural enemies and other beneficial species which provide ecosystem services to crops (Ramsden *et al.* 2015; Tschumi *et al.* 2016). Adding areas of flowering plants to agricultural systems is one method which can help to support a range of beneficial species (Pywell *et al.* 2005; Haaland, Naisbit & Bersier 2011; Ditner *et al.* 2013). Creating strips of wildflowers and flowering cover crops alongside crops has been shown to boost natural enemy numbers and in some cases improve pest regulation services in a range of crops including grapes (Berndt, Wratten & Hassan 2002;

Altieri, Ponti & Nicholls 2005), lettuce (Gillespie *et al.* 2011), lucerne (Jacometti, Jørgensen & Wratten 2010), blueberry (Blaauw & Isaacs 2015), olives (Tschumi *et al.* 2016), wheat (Hatt *et al.* 2017), and apples (Markó *et al.* 2012; Gontijo, Beers & Snyder 2013). Flowers provide an important source of carbohydrates to many natural enemies and access to flowers can increase the fecundity and longevity of important natural enemies such as parasitoid wasps, lacewings, and hoverflies (Berndt, Wratten & Scarratt 2006; Vattala *et al.* 2006; Robinson *et al.* 2008; van Rijn, Kooijman & Wäckers 2013). The addition of wildflowers and tussock-forming grasses to farmland can also increase the structural complexity of available habitats at both the landscape and plant scale; providing overwintering sites, microclimates, nesting sites, and places where webs can be made (Langellotto & Denno 2004; MacLeod *et al.* 2004; Woodcock *et al.* 2007; Ramsden *et al.* 2015). Such habitats also help to support a diverse range of other species, including alternative prey, and can limit the loss of farmland biodiversity in general (Benton, Vickery & Wilson 2003; Haaland, Naisbit & Bersier 2011).

Not all flowers are of equal value to natural enemies and most natural enemies lack the specialised flower-feeding mouthparts evolved by many pollinators. Natural enemy species therefore typically prefer flowers with simple, open structures (Wäckers 2004; Vattala *et al.* 2006). Providing mixtures of plants with a range of flower structures and corolla lengths may be needed to support a range of beneficial species (Campbell *et al.* 2012). Considerable knowledge gaps exist regarding which habitat enhancements, and which plant species, can provide the most benefits in different crop systems. The complex interactions found in agroecosystems can be hard to predict and there is a risk that introducing new plant species such as cover crops may inadvertently support more pests (Lavandero *et al.* 2006; Bone *et al.* 2009). It is therefore essential to study the effects of habitat management practices on the whole agroecosystem before recommendations are made.

This study details a trial of three orchard alleyway cover crop mixtures planted with the aim of supporting beneficial natural enemy species: the 'floral-rich' treatment was based on a commercially available 'pollen and nectar' mixture and was focused on providing a large volume of floral resources from a variety of flower structures. The 'legume-grass' treatment included legumes and grasses and focused on increasing structural complexity and producing a large volume of vegetation. The 'oversown-clover' treatment was focused on producing a large volume of flowers, but at minimal cost, and used a low-diversity legume mixture over-sown into the existing vegetation. These treatments were trialled alongside a commercial standard control

of closely-mown predominately grass alleyways. Perennial legumes were chosen as the basis for these mixtures because they are commercial available, relatively inexpensive, and can produce a large volume of flowers. They also have the ability to add nitrogen to the orchard system, as discussed in Chapter 2. It is hypothesized that the increased floral resources and structural complexity in the cover crop treatments would support greater numbers of natural enemies, which would, in turn, provide greater pest regulation services. The dense and diverse range of flowering plants in the 'floral-rich' treatment was predicted to support the greatest abundance of natural enemies. The 'legume-grass' treatment was predicted to increase both structural complexity and floral abundance, though floral abundance was expected to be lower than that in the 'floral-rich' and 'oversown-clover' treatments and so a different community of species may be seen. The 'oversown-clover' treatment is expected to attract beneficial species but to a lesser extent due to its lower-growing plants and lower diversity in plant species and flower structures.

3.3 Methods

Study site

The study took place between June 2014 and September 2016 on two farms (located roughly 16 km apart) near Maidstone, Kent, England. Apple orchards used in the study were aged between 4 and 8 year old and contained the variety 'Gala', grafted onto 'M9' rootstocks. Tree spacing was 1 m within the row and 3.5 m between rows. A 2 m wide weed-strip was centred on the tree row with a 1.5 m wide swathe of vegetation in the centre of the alleyway. The orchard was managed conventionally with drip fertigation lines under each row of trees. The weed-strips in all plots were sprayed with glyphosate at commercial rates and, excluding the introduction and mowing of the alleyway cover crops, management of trees continued as standard for a conventional commercial orchard (details on management can be found in Appendix 1). The orchard blocks were managed as units and so that each treatment plot received the same management as the other plots in the same block.

Experimental design

Four orchard alleyway treatments were tested using a randomised complete block design, with six blocks split evenly between the two farms (24 experimental plots in total). Experimental plots consisted of six orchard alleyways containing five rows of trees, plots varied between 75 and 205 metres in length (0.14 to 0.39 ha in size). Plots were separated from each other by at least 40 m (fourteen tree rows) and from the outside of the orchard by a minimum of 10 m. Blocks were at least 200 m apart. In early May 2014 plots were randomly assigned to the treatments described in Table 1. Weeds were controlled in some of the plots in July and August 2014 with a strimmer and areas where cover crop germination was low were reseeded in August 2014.

Table 1. Treatment species composition, management, and estimated costs. All alleyways were cut at 15 cm with a side-discharging mower. Ground preparation and sowing took place early May 2014 and ground preparation costs are estimated using figures from Nix, 2014. NB - Costs are based on orchards with 2 m wide weed-strips and 1.5 m wide alleyways. Sowing weights and costs are relative to alleyway widths.

Treatment (percentage seed weight)	Ground preparation and management	Estimated costs per hectare, longevity, and life time cost (with an orchard lifespan of 20 years) Established orchards: £0 New orchards: seed cost £46 Ground preparation £77 Total: £123, Lifetime cost: £123			
Mown-grass - (standard practice control) - Current vegetation, predominately perennial ryegrass (<i>Lolium perenne</i>). (in new orchards sown at 10.7 kg/ha)	No ground preparation. Cut at 5 cm every 7-10 days between March and September with a tractor mounted mower. Cuttings left in alleyways.				
Floral-rich - (sown at 5.6 kg/ha): Red clover (<i>Trifolium pratense</i>) 41.4% Birdsfoot trefoil (<i>Lotus corniculatus</i>) 19.7% Sainfoin (<i>Onobrychis viciifolia</i>) 18.6% Alsike clover (<i>Trifolium hybridum</i>) 10.1% Lesser knapweed (<i>Centaurea nigra</i>) 3% Musk mallow (<i>Malva moschata</i>) 3.1% Red campion (<i>Silene dioica</i>) 2.1% Oxeye daisy (<i>Leucanthemum vulgare</i>) 1.1% Yarrow (<i>Achillea millefolium</i>) 1.1%	Alleyways sprayed with glyphosate one week before disc harrowing twice and power harrowing once. Seed broadcast by hand and alleyways ring rolled to ensure good seed to soil contact. Mown in July and August in each year. In July only alternate rows were mown to encourage late flowering. Alleyways cut at 15 cm with a side-discharging mower.	Seed cost: £94 Ground preparation: £77 Total per hectare: £171 Estimated longevity: 3-4 years Lifetime cost: £855			
Oversown-clover - sown at 3.4 kg/ha: Current vegetation, predominately perennial ryegrass (<i>Lolium perenne</i>), over-sown with: White clover (<i>Trifolium repens</i>) 75% (3 varieties) Black medic (<i>Medicago lupulina</i>) 25%	Alleyways disc harrowed once and seed broadcast by hand. Mown in June, July, and August in 2015, and July and August in 2016. Alleyways cut at 15 cm with a side-discharging mower.	Seed cost: £33 Ground preparation: £28 Total per hectare: £61 (for over sowing into existing swards) If allowed to seed re-sowing may not be needed.			
Legume-grass - sown at 10.7 kg/ha: Lucerne (<i>Medicago sativa</i>) 72% Red clover (<i>Trifolium pratense</i>) 8% Cocksfoot grass (<i>Dactylis glomerata</i>) 12% Timothy grass (<i>Phleum pratense</i>) 8%	Alleyways sprayed with glyphosate one week before disc harrowing twice and power harrowing once. Seed broadcast by hand and alleyways ring rolled to ensure good seed to soil contact. Mown in June, July, and August 2015, and July and August in 2016. Alleyways cut at 15 cm with a side-discharging mower.	Seed cost: £77 Ground preparation: £77 Total per hectare: £154 Estimated longevity: 4-5 years Lifetime cost: £765			

'Mown-grass' standard control



'Oversown-clover'

'Floral-rich'



'Legume-grass'



Figure 1. Alleyway cover crop mixtures. Experimental swards sown in May 2014, photographed here in June 2016. The control treatment was mown at a height of 5 cm once every 7-10 days between March and August. The three other treatments were mown at a height of 15 cm 2-3 times per year between April and August.

Vegetation cover and floral cover

Alleyway vegetation was surveyed using a 0.75 x 0.5 m quadrat which covered half of the alleyway width. Six randomly placed quadrats were taken in each plot every month between April and August in 2015 and 2016. The percentage cover of each plant species and the percentage floral cover for each plant species (i.e. the percentage cover of a species flowers) were visually estimated. and four measurements of vegetation height were taken for each quadrat using the direct measure method

(Stewart, Bourn & Thomas 2001). Sward height was recorded because it has been shown to affect hoverfly abundance and diversity (Sjödin, Bengtsson & Ekbom 2008).

Alleyway temperatures

One concern with growing taller, denser vegetation in alleyways is that it may reduce airflow and increase humidity, thereby increasing the risk of frost damage (Snyder & Connell 1993). To test whether the cover crops affected the temperatures in the orchards, thermometer data-loggers (Thermocron iButton, Maxim Integrated) were suspended in the middle of the central tree row at 50 cm above ground and were covered by upturned polystyrene cups to ensure they were shaded from the sun. Temperatures were recorded from March 2015 to June 2016, and December 2016 to May 2017. Daily mean, minimum, and maximum temperatures were calculated for analysis.

Invertebrate sampling

The abundance of natural enemies and pest species in the trees was ascertained by 'tap' sampling (also known as 'beat' sampling) where a funnel shaped net (70 x 43 x 50 cm) was held underneath a branch, and the branch struck twice with a padded stick. Falling invertebrates were collected in sample bags and frozen for later identification. Eighty branches per plot were sampled in this manner, one branch per tree at a height of roughly 1 metre. Sampling was conducted once per month from April 2015 to July 2015, and from April 2016 to August 2016. Invertebrates in the alleyways were sampled using the sweep net method, where a funnel net (36 x 25 x 50 cm) was swept back and forth through the alleyway vegetation over a 20 m transect, making two sweeps for every metre of alleyway. Invertebrates were collected in sample bags and frozen for later identification. Samples were taken monthly between May and August 2015, and April and August 2016. 'Vortis' suction sampling was trialled in April 2015 but was discontinued as capture rates were low. All sampling was conducted in dry conditions, with all plots within a block sampled within a few hours of each other. Invertebrate surveys were conducted before mowing in the cover crop plots.

Specimens were identified to family where possible, with parasitoid Hymenoptera grouped as Parasitica. Individuals belonging to taxa identified as important apple pests in the Horticultural Development Company Apple crop walker's guide (Fountain & Saville 2013) were identified to species where possible. Herbivores belonging to species which were not considered apple pests were grouped together for analysis (families included Aphididae, Lygaeidae, Miridae, Acanthosomatidae, Triozidae, Delphacidae, Psyllidae, Cicadellidae, Apionidae, Curculionidae, and Chrysomelidae). A minority of the species belonging to the Miridae and Lygaeidae are predatory but the families were included as herbivores for simplicity. Predatory invertebrates were allocated to the following groups: predatory beetles (consisting of Carabidae, Cantharidae, Cocinellidae, and Staphylinidae), lacewings (Chrysopidae, Hemerobiidae), and earwigs (Forficulidae). Spiders were separated into two groups according to their hunting mode; web-forming spiders (Linyphiidae, Araneidae, Tetragnathidae, Theridiidae), and cursorial or active-hunting spiders (Gnaphosidae, Salticidae, Philodromidae, Lycosidae, Thomisidae, and Clubionidae) (Wise 1993). Detritivores were also identified to family where possible and mites were grouped as Acari, though these taxa were not included in the analysis.

Predation monitoring

Pea aphids (*Acyrthosiphon pisum*) were used as sentinel prey to estimate biological control services in the different treatments. Live aphids were attached to white plastic cards (85 x 55 mm) with odourless PVA glue, with an average of 13.3 aphids per card. Cards were attached to trees at a height of 1.5 m above ground level and were positioned so that the aphids were on the underside to reduce exposure. Six cards were attached to trees spread evenly throughout each plot and at least 15 m from the orchard edge. The number of aphids present on each card was recorded at the point of deployment and then again after being exposed to predators for 24 hours. Sentinel card surveys were carried out in August 2015, April 2016, May 2016, June 2016, and July 2016.

Statistical analysis

Data were analysed using linear mixed effects models and generalised linear mixed effects models (GLMMs) in R (R Core Team 2017) using the "Ime4" (Bates, Mächler & Bolker 2012) and "glmmADMB" packages. Treatment was the main fixed effect with block nested within farm as random effects in all models. Vegetation height was log transformed and analysed using a linear model. Floral cover was analysed using a zero-inflated GLMM with negative binomial errors. Random effects were as above with quadrat nested within plot and block, and survey month as a crossed random effect. Temperatures were analysed with linear models with date as a crossed random effect. Invertebrate abundance data from tap sampling and sweep sampling were modelled using GLMMs with either Poisson or negative binomial error families depending on dispersion statistics. If dispersion statistics were greater than 2 with Poisson errors, negative binomial errors were used

instead. Sampling month was nested within year as crossed random effects. Zero-inflated models were used where this resulted in a lower AIC. Aphid predation data were modelled using a binomial GLMM comparing the number of aphids present at the start of 24 hour period to the number remaining for each card in a two-column integer matrix. Random effects included card, nested within plot, block, and farm, with survey month as a crossed random effect. Treatments were compared with each other in all of these analyses using post hoc pairwise least-squares means tests with a Tukey adjustment in the R package "Ismeans" (Lenth 2016). Graphics were produced in R using the package "ggplot2" (Wickham 2009).

3.4 Results

Vegetation and floral cover

When considered over the whole year, floral cover was significantly higher in the 'floral-rich' and 'oversown-clover' treatments compared to the 'legume-grass' and 'mown-grass' control. Vegetation height was also significantly greater in all of the cover crop treatments when compared to the control (Figure 1). Further details about plant species percentage cover and flower cover can be found in Chapter 4.



Figure 1. Mean percentage floral cover and vegetation height (mean \pm SEM) in orchard alleyways with different sward mixtures (using combined data from 2015 and 2016). Group letters indicate significant differences over the whole survey period as calculated by post hoc least-squares means tests (p<0.05).

Temperature

Analyses of alleyway temperatures were conducted for two periods: spring (March, April, and May), when the risk of frost damage is greatest (Snyder & Connell 1993; Rodrigo 2000), and the year as a whole. No significant differences were seen between treatments, in either period, in the mean, minimum, or maximum daily temperatures at 50 cm above ground level. The diurnal temperature amplitude did not differ significantly either.

Invertebrate sampling

Several invertebrate taxa showed significant differences in abundance between the treatments, with variation seen in the results between the orchard alleyways (sweep netting) and the trees (tap

sampling); the results of the analyses are shown in Table 2. The abundance of web-forming spiders did not differ significantly between treatments in either the trees or the alleyways. Active-hunting spiders were significantly more abundant in the trees of the 'floral-rich' and 'legume-grass' plots when compared to the 'mown-grass' and were significantly more abundant in the alleyways of all cover crop treatments when compared with the control. Lacewing abundance did not differ between treatments in the trees but was significantly higher in the 'floral-rich' and oversown-clover' alleyways. Earwig abundance also showed no significant differences in the trees and numbers were too low for analysis in the alleyways. In comparison to the 'mown-grass' control predatory beetles were significantly more common in the trees of the 'legume-grass' treatments, and alleyways of the 'floral-rich' and 'oversown-clover' treatments. The number of Parasitica in the trees did not significantly differ between treatments whilst in the alleyways significantly higher numbers were found in the 'floral-rich' and 'oversown-clover' treatment than the 'mown-grass' control. Apple pests did not differ significantly between treatments in the trees, and did not occur in great enough numbers in the alleyways to allow meaningful analysis. Those herbivores which were not considered apple pests were significantly more abundant in all three cover crop treatments when compared to the 'mown-grass' control, in both the alleyways and the trees. No significant differences in any of the taxa discussed were found between the three cover crop treatments.

Table 2. Mean abundance of arthropod groups from monthly tree tap sampling (April to August, 2015 and 2016) and alleyway sweep sampling (May to August 2015 and April to August 2016). Statistically significant differences between treatments are indicated by bold values, as calculated by post hoc pairwise least-squares means tests (p<0.05).

Tree samples	Treatment (mean ± SEM)				P - values					
Species group	Mown-grass	Floral-rich	Oversown- clover	Legume- grass	Mown-grass/ Floral-rich	Mown-grass/ Oversown- clover	Mown-grass/ Legume-grass	Floral-rich/ Oversown- clover	Floral-rich/ Legume- grass	Oversown- clover/ Legume-grass
Web-forming spiders	23.6 ± 2.5	27.6 ± 3.6	22.5 ± 2.6	29.4 ± 3.6	0.70	0.70	0.067	0.43	0.77	0.058
Active-hunting spiders	2.1 ± 0.4	3.9 ± 0.5	3.28 ± 0.5	4.0 ±0.4	0.001	0.069	0.0002	0.83	0.99	0.64
Lacewings	1.0 ± 0.2	1.5 ± 0.3	1.4 ± 0.4	1.4 ± 0.4	0.60	0.78	0.73	1.0	1.0	1.0
Earwigs	3.1 ± 0.8	2.1 ± 0.6	5.8 ± 1.5	2.7 ± 1	0.98	0.68	1.0	0.726	0.99	0.87
Predator beetles	0.9 ± 0.2	1.7 ± 0.4	1.4 ± 0.3	1.8 ± 0.4	0.085	0.67	0.023	0.86	0.99	0.63
Parasitica	0.9 ± 0.6	1.7 ± 0.8	1.45 ± 0.6	1.8 ± 0.6	0.68	0.51	0.99	0.99	0.93	0.86
Herbivores	8.7 ± 0.9	11.8 ± 1.3	13.0 ± 1.7	12.5 ± 1.9	0.038	0.0012	0.019	0.87	1.0	0.94
Pest aphids	10.7 ± 5.2	36.7 ± 18.7	25.0 ± 11.9	46.1 ± 13.3	0.27	0.94	0.26	0.83	1.0	0.81

Alleyway samples	Treatment (mean ± SEM)				P - values					
Species group	Mown-grass	Floral-rich	Oversown- clover	Legume- grass	Mown-grass/ Floral-rich	Mown-grass/ Oversown- clover	Mown-grass/ Legume-grass	Floral-rich/ Oversown- clover	Floral-rich/ Legume- grass	Oversown- clover/ Legume-grass
Web-forming spiders	2.6 ± 0.4	3.9 ± 0.7	4.0 ± 0.6	3.3 ± 0.5	0.34	0.20	0.95	1.0	0.85	0.74
Active-hunting spiders	0.1 ± 0.04	1.1 ± 0.3	1.5 ± 0.6	0.6 ± 0.1	0.0049	0.0035	0.0096	0.99	1.0	0.91
Lacewings	0.07 ± 0.04	1.7 ± 0.5	0.5 ± 0.2	1.1 ± 0.3	0.0001	0.22	0.0012	0.42	0.96	0.61
Predator beetles	0.5 ± 0.1	1.3 ± 0.2	1.4 ± 0.3	0.9 ± 0.1	0.0004	0.0006	0.13	0.99	0.72	0.65
Parasitica	33.5 ± 5.6	75.9 ± 12.0	92.1 ± 13.7	55.5 ± 8.0	0.0003	<0.0001	0.083	0.54	0.61	0.05
Herbivores	18.6 ± 9.8	19.4 ± 2.8	27.46 ± 6.0	18.7 ± 5.4	0.0002	0.0001	0.0076	1.0	0.91	0.85

Predation monitoring

Pea aphid sentinel cards did not show significant differences in predation rates between the treatments (Figure 3). Aphid removal rates appeared to be higher later in the growing season. When collecting the sentinel cards the most commonly observed predators still feeding on the aphids were lacewings larvae (Neuroptera), spiders (particularly Philodromidae), and earwigs (Forficulidae).



Aphid predation

Figure 3. Proportion of pea aphids predated from sentinel cards (mean ± SEM) attached to trees in orchard plots with different alleyway sward mixtures. Group letters indicate significant differences over the whole survey period as calculated by post hoc least-squares means tests (p<0.05).

3.5 Discussion

This study shows that alleyway cover crops can provide habitat which attracts a range of natural enemies to orchards, leading to an increase in the numbers of natural enemies in both the alleyways and the trees. The 'floral-rich' and 'oversown-clover' treatments produced significantly more floral cover than the 'mown-grass' control, despite variability in establishment success across blocks. The floral cover was lower than expected in the 'legume-grass' treatment, whilst in the 'oversown-clover' treatment it was higher than expected and showed no significant difference with the more expensive 'floral-rich' treatment. The 'oversown-clover' treatment also grew higher than expected relative to the other cover crops; this may be because the movement of tractors through the alleyways reduced the height of the taller plants in the 'floral-rich' and 'legume-grass' treatments, where much of the growth was restricted to the centre of the alleyways between the paths of tractor wheels. The mean vegetation heights in all three cover crop treatments were still significantly greater than in the regularly mowed control plots which displayed very little seasonal variation in height. Regular mowing of grasslands can directly increase mortality rates in invertebrates (Humbert et al. 2010), and reducing mowing frequency and leaving areas uncut has been shown to increase the abundance of beneficial species and other biodiversity (Morris 2000; Cizek et al. 2012; Humbert et al. 2012; Buri, Arlettaz & Humbert 2013; Bruppacher et al. 2016). A reduction in mowing frequency in orchard alleyways has also been shown to increase the numbers of parasitoids and predators and may improve pest regulation services (Horton et al. 2003, but see Marliac et al. 2015).

As hypothesised, some natural enemy groups were present in significantly higher numbers in the cover crop treatments, however not all taxa showed this response, and the effect was more pronounced in the alleyway vegetation than in the trees. Increasing floral density and diversity is known to have a positive effect on hoverflies, parasitoids, and other flower-feeding natural enemies such as some of the predatory beetles, with sown wildflower strips proving an effective way to increase both their abundance and diversity (Haenke *et al.* 2009; Haaland, Naisbit & Bersier 2011; Markó *et al.* 2012; Jönsson *et al.* 2015). For this reason the higher abundances of these taxa seen in the alleyways of the relatively floristically diverse and abundant 'floral-rich' treatment was expected. The higher abundances seen in the 'legume-grass' and 'oversown-clover' treatment did not significantly differ from that of the 'mown-grass' control and although more flowers were present in the 'oversown-clover' treatment the majority were white clover

flowers, which have long-corollas which are not favoured by many natural enemies such as parasitoids (Branquart & Hemptinne 2000; Wäckers 2004; Vattala et al. 2006; Wäckers & van Rijn 2012; Campbell et al. 2012). Greater structural, or architectural, complexity can also increase the habitat value of a sward for a range of species, including important natural enemies and their prey species (Langellotto & Denno 2004; Woodcock et al. 2007; Monzó et al. 2011). The greater abundances of natural enemies seen in the cover crop treatments is likely to have been at least in part due to the increase in herbivore prey species. Many of the natural enemies which showed increases in abundance are generalist, opportunistic predators which feed on a range of prey species. These natural enemies are capable of providing significant pest regulation services, though inter- and intraspecific predation and competition is likely to be common, which may make predicting biological control effectiveness difficult (Symondson, Sunderland & Greenstone 2002; Östman 2004; Markó et al. 2012). Spiders are known to be important for pest regulation in orchards and they were the most common natural enemies found in the trees, which is consistent with a number of other studies (Wyss, Niggli & Nentwig 1995; Marc & Canard 1997; Markó & Keresztes 2014). The different hunting behaviour employed by a spider species can affect its impact on the wider ecosystems; active-hunting spiders, which were significantly more abundant in the cover crop plots, have been shown to reduce the numbers of aphid pests in wheat crops (Birkhofer et al. 2008) and to increase primary productivity in grasslands (Schmitz 2008). Supporting a diversity of spider species and hunting types can increase predation of pest species in orchards (Marc & Canard 1997). Ants were not included in the analysis because, although they can be effective predators of some apple pests (Mathews, Bottrell & Brown 2004), they can also be detrimental to apple production as they adopt mutualistic relationships with a number of aphid pests (Cross et al. 2015).

The number of aphid pests was not affected by ground cover treatments, nor did the sentinel aphids show significant differences in predation rates. Woolly apple aphids were by far the most numerous species of pest aphid found during the study; more than 92% of all aphids. This species forms colonies which can persist for many years and the vast majority of the specimens collected were from two neighbouring orchard blocks. Pilot tap sample surveys conducted in 2014 showed that similar numbers were present before the cover crops were established. The higher numbers of herbivores seen in the cover crop treatments may explain why, despite the higher abundances of some natural enemies, no differences were detected in the predation of pea aphids: the natural enemies may have been feeding on other species. It seems likely that most of these herbivores were feeding on the cover crops rather than the apple trees as they are

not considered to be apple pests. This study took place in a commercial orchard which was being managed with a conventional pesticide programme (more details can be found in Appendix 1); this is likely to have affected the abundance of many species including pests and natural enemies (Dib, Sauphanor & Capowiez 2016). The differences observed in arthropod abundances between the treatments were therefore seen despite the potentially confounding effects of intensive management.

Pesticides can have unintended negative impacts on agroecosystems, including harmful effects on important natural enemies such as earwigs and spiders (Pekár 2012; Fountain & Harris 2015). A number of studies have shown that reducing pesticide sprays can help to boost numbers of natural enemies in orchards (Pekár 1999; Miliczky, Calkins & Horton 2000; Markó *et al.* 2009; Cárdenas *et al.* 2015). A modified pesticide regime may therefore be necessary if the natural enemy populations supported by habitat management practices are to provide an effective and resilient pest regulation service. It is possible that the populations of natural enemies and pests in this study may have responded differently to the cover crops under less intensive management. It is also possible that if the cover cropped orchards had been observed over a longer timescale the populations of natural enemies and other orchard species may have changed further and an increase in the more slowly reproducing species may have been observed. If natural enemy populations are not given the resources needed to establish suitably large populations, or the time needed to recover from pesticide-intensive management, reductions in sprays could lead to rapid increases in pest species.

Other studies have also found that adding areas of flowering plants and increasing the diversity of ground covers can have a positive effect on natural enemies in a range of fruit crops including blueberries (O'Neal *et al.* 2005; Blaauw & Isaacs 2015), vineyards (English-Loeb *et al.* 2003; Danne *et al.* 2010), and olive groves (Paredes, Cayuela & Campos 2013). Cover crops have not always been observed to increase the abundances of natural enemies however, and in a minority of studies an increase in pest species has been observed with the addition of flowering cover crops (Bone *et al.* 2009). Even in those studies where natural enemy numbers have increased, this has not always resulted in a detectable improvement in pest regulation services. Methods of detecting pest regulation services, beyond measuring the abundance of pest species, often involve the use of sentinel prey similar to those used in this study. Whilst this method has the advantage of producing clear outcomes in terms of number of prey eaten, it does have some drawbacks and may not be a fully reliable measure of pest regulation services as

it creates aggregates of immobile prey which may be consumed by a single large predator (Furlong & Zalucki 2010). Sweep sampling and tap sampling methods also have some flaws; sweep sampling can be affected by vegetation height and density and both methods may overand underestimate the abundances of some species depending on their behaviour. Nocturnal species, which include several important natural enemy taxa such as earwigs, and many carabid and active-hunting spider species, may well be underestimated with these sampling methods unless surveys are conducted during the night.

3.6 Conclusions and management recommendations

The results demonstrate that sowing cover crops, coupled with a reduction in the frequency of mowing, can have a positive effect on orchard biodiversity and boost the numbers of beneficial species. If habitat management interventions such as cover crop strips are to be optimal it is likely that they will need to provide both floral resources and structural complexity. Optimal species mixtures will depend on which pest species are an issue and so which natural enemies need to be supported. Although the height of the cover crops did not appear to reduce orchard temperatures, suggesting that they would not increase the risk of frost damage, other studies have found that vegetation in the alleyways can reduce temperatures and this potential effect should be considered in areas where frost damage is a risk (Snyder & Connell 1993; O'Connell & Snyder 1999). Tall vegetation in the alleyways may impede some orchard management practices, especially those which are carried out on foot (e.g. harvesting). It has also been suggested that taller vegetation could help to suppress the movement of apple scab ascospores (Aylor 1998). In this study, the cover crops were mown at the end of August, in part to make movement in the alleyways easier during harvesting. Mowing could also be used to reduce cover crop height during times of increased frost risk. The timing of mowing is also important to orchard fauna and generally mowing later in the season is better for arthropod communities (Potts et al. 2009; García & Miñarro 2014). Mowing trials in flower rich grasslands have found that performing the first cut in mid-July or later, and removing the cuttings if possible, can help to encouraging flowering species (Wheeler & Wilson 2016). Spreading cuttings onto the weedstrip using side-discharging mowers may be an effective way to mulch the trees, see Chapter 2.

Although this work was conducted in an apple orchard, the findings may be relevant to other perennial row-grown crops. It should be noted however, that the varied management requirements, pest regulation needs, and pollination demands of different crops means that if

cover crops and other habitat management practices are to produce optimal results they may need to be tailored to suit these conditions (Bugg & Waddington 1994; Fiedler, Landis & Wratten 2008; Bone *et al.* 2009; Hogg, Bugg & Daane 2011). Although further work is needed to determine the most suitable plant mixtures and management practices, this study shows that alleyway cover cropping, and generally improving the habitat value of alleyways, may be an effective method for the ecological intensification of orchards.

3.7 References

Altieri, M., Ponti, L. & Nicholls, C. (2005) Manipulating vineyard biodiversity for improved insect pest management: case studies from northern California. *International Journal of Biodiversity Science, Ecosystems Services & Management*, 1, 191–203.

Aylor, D.E. (1998) The aerobiology of apple scab. *Plant Disease*, **82**, 838–849.

- Bates, D., Mächler, M. & Bolker, B. (2012) Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, **67**, 51.
- Benton, T.G., Vickery, J.A. & Wilson, J.D. (2003) Farmland biodiversity: is habitat heterogeneity the key? *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, **18**, 182–188.
- Berndt, L.A., Wratten, S.D. & Hassan, P.G. (2002) Effects of buckwheat flowers on leafroller (Lepidoptera: Tortricidae) parasitoids in a New Zealand vineyard. *Agricultural and Forest Entomology*, **4**, 39–45.
- Berndt, L.A., Wratten, S.D. & Scarratt, S.L. (2006) The influence of floral resource subsidies on parasitism rates of leafrollers (Lepidoptera: Tortricidae) in New Zealand vineyards. *Biological Control*, **37**, 50–55.
- Bianchi, F.J.J. a, Booij, C.J.H. & Tscharntke, T. (2006) Sustainable pest regulation in agricultural landscapes: a review on landscape composition, biodiversity and natural pest control. *Proceedings or the Royal Society: Biological Sciences*, **273**, 1715–27.
- Birkhofer, K., Gavish-Regev, E., Endlweber, K., Lubin, Y.D., von Berg, K., Wise, D.H. & Scheu, S. (2008) Cursorial spiders retard initial aphid population growth at low densities in winter wheat. *Bulletin of entomological research*, **98**, 249–255.
- Blaauw, B.R. & Isaacs, R. (2015) Wildflower plantings enhance the abundance of natural enemies and their services in adjacent blueberry fields. *Biological Control*, **91**, 94–103.
- Bommarco, R., Kleijn, D. & Potts, S.G. (2013) Ecological intensification: harnessing ecosystem services for food security. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, **28**, 230–8.
- Bone, N.J., Thomson, L.J., Ridland, P.M., Cole, P. & Hoffmann, A.A. (2009) Cover crops in

Victorian apple orchards: Effects on production, natural enemies and pests across a season. *Crop Protection*, **28**, 675–683.

- Branquart, E. & Hemptinne, J.-L. (2000) Selectivity in the exploitation of floral resources by hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphinae). *Ecography*, **23**, 732–742.
- Bruppacher, L., Pellet, J., Arlettaz, R. & Humbert, J. (2016) Simple modifications of mowing regime promote butterflies in extensively managed meadows: Evidence from field-scale experiments. *Biological Conservation*, **196**, 196–202.
- Bugg, R.L. & Waddington, C. (1994) Using cover crops to manage arthropod pests of orchards: A review. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 50, 11–28.
- Buri, P., Arlettaz, R. & Humbert, J.Y. (2013) Delaying mowing and leaving uncut refuges boosts orthopterans in extensively managed meadows: Evidence drawn from field-scale experimentation. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, **181**, 22–30.
- Campbell, A.J., Biesmeijer, J.C., Varma, V. & Wäckers, F.L. (2012) Realising multiple ecosystem services based on the response of three beneficial insect groups to floral traits and trait diversity. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, **13**, 363–370.
- Cárdenas, M., Pascual, F., Campos, M. & Pekár, S. (2015) The spider assemblage of olive groves under three management systems. *Environmental Entomology*, **44**, 509–518.
- Cizek, O., Zamecnik, J., Tropek, R., Kocarek, P. & Konvicka, M. (2012) Diversification of mowing regime increases arthropods diversity in species-poor cultural hay meadows. *Journal of Insect Conservation*, **16**, 215–226.
- Connelly, H., Poveda, K. & Loeb, G. (2015) Landscape simplification decreases wild bee pollination services to strawberry. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, **211**, 671–677.
- Cross, J., Fountain, M., Markó, V. & Nagy, C. (2015) Arthropod ecosystem services in apple orchards and their economic benefits. *Ecological Entomology*, **40**, 82–96.
- Danne, A., Thomson, L.J., Sharley, D.J., Penfold, C.M. & Hoffmann, A.A. (2010) Effects of native grass cover crops on beneficial and pest invertebrates in Australian vineyards. *Environmental entomology*, **39**, 970–978.
- Dib, H., Sauphanor, B. & Capowiez, Y. (2016) Effect of management strategies on arthropod communities in the colonies of rosy apple aphid, Dysaphis plantaginea Passerini (Hemiptera: Aphididae) in south-eastern France. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, **216**, 203–206.
- Ditner, N., Balmer, O., Beck, J., Blick, T., Nagel, P. & Luka, H. (2013) Effects of experimentally planting non-crop flowers into cabbage fields on the abundance and diversity of predators. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, **22**, 1049–1061.

- English-Loeb, G., Rhainds, M., Martinson, T. & Ugine, T. (2003) Influence of flowering cover crops on *Anagrus* parasitoids (Hymenoptera: Mymaridae) and *Erythroneura* leafhoppers (Homoptera: Cicadellidae) in New York vineyards. *Agricultural and Forest Entomology*, 5, 173–181.
- Fiedler, A.K., Landis, D.A. & Wratten, S.D. (2008) Maximizing ecosystem services from conservation biological control: The role of habitat management. *Biological Control*, 45, 254–271.
- Fountain, M.T. & Harris, A.L. (2015) Non-target consequences of insecticides used in apple and pear orchards on *Forficula auricularia* L. (Dermaptera: Forficulidae). *Biological Control*, **91**, 27–33.
- Fountain, M. & Saville, R. (2013) *Apple Crop Walkers' Guide*. Horticultural Development Company.
- Furlong, M.J. & Zalucki, M.P. (2010) Exploiting predators for pest management: The need for sound ecological assessment. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*, **135**, 225–236.
- García-Díaz, A., Bienes, R., Sastre, B., Novara, A., Gristina, L. & Cerdà, A. (2017) Nitrogen losses in vineyards under different types of soil groundcover. A field runoff simulator approach in central Spain. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, **236**, 256–267.
- García, R.R. & Miñarro, M. (2014) Role of floral resources in the conservation of pollinator communities in cider-apple orchards. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **183**, 118–126.
- Gillespie, M., Wratten, S., Sedcole, R. & Colfer, R. (2011) Manipulating floral resources dispersion for hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphidae) in a California lettuce agro-ecosystem. *Biological Control*, 59, 215–220.
- Godfray, H.C.J., Blacquière, T., Field, L.M., Hails, R.S., Petrokofsky, G., Potts, S.G., Raine, N.E.,
 Vanbergen, A.J. & Mclean, A.R. (2014) A restatement of the natural science evidence base concerning neonicotinoid insecticides and insect pollinators. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, 281, 20140558.
- Gontijo, L.M., Beers, E.H. & Snyder, W.E. (2013) Flowers promote aphid suppression in apple orchards. *Biological Control*, **66**, 8–15.
- Haaland, C., Naisbit, R.E. & Bersier, L.-F.F. (2011) Sown wildflower strips for insect conservation: a review. *Insect Conservation and Diversity*, **4**, 60–80.
- Haenke, S., Scheid, B., Schaefer, M., Tscharntke, T. & Thies, C. (2009) Increasing syrphid fly diversity and density in sown flower strips within simple vs. complex landscapes. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **46**, 1106–1114.

- Hatt, S., Lopes, T., Boeraeve, F., Chen, J. & Francis, F. (2017) Pest regulation and support of natural enemies in agriculture: Experimental evidence of within field wildflower strips. *Ecological Engineering*, 98, 240–245.
- Hogg, B.N., Bugg, R.L. & Daane, K.M. (2011) Attractiveness of common insectary and harvestable floral resources to beneficial insects. *Biological Control*, **56**, 76–84.
- Horton, D.R., Broers, D.A., Lewis, R.R., Granatstein, D., Zack, R.S., Unruh, T.R., Moldenke, A.R. & Brown, J.J. (2003) Effects of mowing frequency on densities of natural enemies in three Pacific Northwest pear orchards. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*, **106**, 135–145.
- Humbert, J.Y., Ghazoul, J., Richner, N. & Walter, T. (2012) Uncut grass refuges mitigate the impact of mechanical meadow harvesting on orthopterans. *Biological Conservation*, **152**, 96–101.
- Humbert, J.Y., Ghazoul, J., Sauter, G.J. & Walter, T. (2010) Impact of different meadow mowing techniques on field invertebrates. *Journal of Applied Entomology*, **134**, 592–599.
- Jacometti, M., Jørgensen, N. & Wratten, S. (2010) Enhancing biological control by an omnivorous lacewing: Floral resources reduce aphid numbers at low aphid densities. *Biological Control*, 55, 159–165.
- Jönsson, A.M., Ekroos, J., Dänhardt, J., Andersson, G.K.S., Olsson, O. & Smith, H.G. (2015) Sown flower strips in southern Sweden increase abundances of wild bees and hoverflies in the wider landscape. *Biological Conservation*, **184**, 51–58.
- Keesstra, S., Pereira, P., Novara, A., Brevik, E.C., Azorin-Molina, C., Parras-Alcántara, L., Jordán, A.
 & Cerdà, A. (2016) Effects of soil management techniques on soil water erosion in apricot orchards. *Science of the Total Environment*, **551–552**, 357–366.
- Landis, D.A., Wratten, S.D. & Gurr, G.M. (2000) Habitat management to conserve natural enemies of arthropod pests in agriculture. *Annual Review of Entomology*, **45**, 175–201.
- Langellotto, G.A. & Denno, R.F. (2004) Responses of invertebrate natural enemies to complexstructured habitats: A meta-analytical synthesis. *Oecologia*, **139**, 1–10.
- Lavandero, B., Wratten, S.D., Didham, R.K. & Gurr, G. (2006) Increasing floral diversity for selective enhancement of biological control agents: A double-edged sward? *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 7, 236–243.
- Lavandero, B., Wratten, S., Shishehbor, P. & Worner, S. (2005) Enhancing the effectiveness of the parasitoid *Diadegma semiclausum* (Helen): movement after use of nectar in the field. *Biological Control*, **34**, 152–158.
- Lenth, R. V. (2016) Least-Squares Means: The R Package Ismeans. *Journal of Statistical Software*, **69**, 1–33.

- MacLeod, A., Wratten, S.D., Sotherton, N.W. & Thomas, M.B. (2004) 'Beetle banks' as refuges for beneficial arthropods in farmland: long-term changes in predator communities and habitat. *Agricultural and Forest Entomology*, 6, 147–154.
- Marc, P. & Canard, A. (1997) Maintaining spider biodiversity in agroecosystems as a tool in pest control. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **62**, 229–235.
- Markó, V., Jenser, G., Mihályi, K., Hegyi, T. & Balázs, K. (2012) Flowers for better pest control?
 Effects of apple orchard groundcover management on mites (Acari), leafminers
 (Lepidoptera, Scitellidae), and fruit pests. *Biocontrol Science and Technology*, 22, 39–60.
- Markó, V. & Keresztes, B. (2014) Flowers for better pest control? Ground cover plants enhance apple orchard spiders (Araneae), but not necessarily their impact on pests. *Biocontrol Science and Technology*, **24**, 574–596.
- Markó, V., Keresztes, B., Fountain, M.T. & Cross, J. V. (2009) Prey availability, pesticides and the abundance of orchard spider communities. *Biological Control*, **48**, 115–124.
- Marliac, G., Simon, S., Mazzia, C., Penvern, S., Lescourret, F. & Capowiez, Y. (2015) Increased grass cover height in the alleys of apple orchards does not promote *Cydia pomonella* biocontrol. *BioControl*, **60**, 805–815.
- Mathews, C.R., Bottrell, D.G. & Brown, M.W. (2004) Habitat manipulation of the apple orchard floor to increase ground-dwelling predators and predation of *Cydia pomonella* (L.) (Lepidoptera: Tortricidae). *Biological Control*, **30**, 265–273.
- Meehan, T.D., Werling, B.P., Landis, D.A. & Gratton, C. (2011) Agricultural landscape simplification and insecticide use in the Midwestern United States. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **108**, 11500–11505.
- Merwin, I.A., Ferree, D.C. & Warrington, I.J. (2003) Orchard-floor management systems. *Apples: Botany, production and uses* (eds D.C. Ferree & I.J. Warrington), pp. 303–344. CABI
 Publishing, Wallingford, UK.
- Miliczky, E.R., Calkins, C.O. & Horton, D.R. (2000) Spider abundance and diversity in apple orchards under three insect pest management programmes in Washington State, U.S.A. *Agricultural and Forest Entomology*, **2**, 203–215.
- Monzó, C., Mollá, O., Vanaclocha, P., Montón, H., Melic, A., Castañera, P. & Urbaneja, A. (2011) Citrus-orchard ground harbours a diverse, well-established and abundant ground-dwelling spider fauna., **9**, 606–616.
- Morris, M.G. (2000) The effects of structure and its dynamics on the ecology and conservation of arthropods in British grasslands. *Biological Conservation*, **95**, 129–142.
- O'Connell, N. & Snyder, R. (1999) Cover crops, mulch lower night temperatures in citrus.

California Agriculture, 53, 37–40.

- O'Neal, M.E., Zontek, E.L., Szendrei, Z., Landis, D.A. & Isaacs, R. (2005) Ground predator abundance affects prey removal in highbush blueberry (*Vaccinium corymbosum*) fields and can be altered by aisle ground covers. *BioControl*, **50**, 205–222.
- Östman, Ö. (2004) The relative effects of natural enemy abundance and alternative prey abundance on aphid predation rates. *Biological Control*, **30**, 281–287.
- Paredes, D., Cayuela, L. & Campos, M. (2013) Synergistic effects of ground cover and adjacent vegetation on natural enemies of olive insect pests. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **173**, 72–80.
- Pekár, S. (1999) Effect of IPM practices and conventional spraying on spider population dynamics in an apple orchard. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **73**, 155–166.
- Pekár, S. (2012) Spiders (Araneae) in the pesticide world: An ecotoxicological review. *Pest Management Science*, **68**, 1438–1446.
- Potts, S.G., Woodcock, B.A., Roberts, S.P.M., Tscheulin, T., Pilgrim, E.S., Brown, V.K. & Tallowin, J.R. (2009) Enhancing pollinator biodiversity in intensive grasslands. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **46**, 369–379.
- Pywell, R.F., Warman, E.A., Carvell, C., Sparks, T.H., Dicks, L. V., Bennett, D., Wright, A., Critchley,
 C.N.R. & Sherwood, A. (2005) Providing foraging resources for bumblebees in intensively
 farmed landscapes. *Biological Conservation*, **121**, 479–494.
- R Core Team. (2017) *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Ramsden, M.W., Menéndez, R., Leather, S.R. & Wäckers, F. (2015) Optimizing field margins for biocontrol services: The relative role of aphid abundance, annual floral resources, and overwinter habitat in enhancing aphid natural enemies. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, **199**, 94–104.
- Reganold, J.P., Glover, J.D., Andrews, P.K. & Hinman, H.R. (2001) Sustainability of three apple production systems. *Nature*, **410**, 926–930.
- van Rijn, P.C.J., Kooijman, J. & Wäckers, F.L. (2013) The contribution of floral resources and honeydew to the performance of predatory hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphidae). *Biological Control*, **67**, 32–38.
- Robinson, K.A., Jonsson, M., Wratten, S.D., Wade, M.R. & Buckley, H.L. (2008) Implications of floral resources for predation by an omnivorous lacewing. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 9, 172–181.
- Rodrigo, J. (2000) Spring frosts in deciduous fruit trees. Morphological damage and flower

hardiness. Scientia Horticulturae, 85, 155–173.

- Schmitz, O.J. (2008) Effects of predator hunting mode on grassland ecosystem function. *Science* (*New York, N.Y.*), **319**, 952–4.
- Sjödin, N.E., Bengtsson, J. & Ekbom, B. (2008) The influence of grazing intensity and landscape composition on the diversity and abundance of flower-visiting insects. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **45**, 763–772.
- Snyder, R. & Connell, J. (1993) Ground cover height affects pre-dawn orchard floor temperature. *California Agriculture*, **47**, 9–12.
- Stewart, K.E.J., Bourn, N.A.D. & Thomas, J.A. (2001) An evaluation of three quick methods commonly used to assess sward height in ecology. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **38**, 1148– 1154.
- Symondson, W.O.C., Sunderland, K.D. & Greenstone, M.H. (2002) Can generalist predators be effective biocontrol agents? *Annual Review of Entomology*, **47**, 561–594.
- Thomson, L.J. & Hoffmann, A.A. (2009) Vegetation increases the abundance of natural enemies in vineyards. *Biological Control*, **49**, 259–269.
- Thomson, L.J. & Hoffmann, A.A. (2013) Spatial scale of benefits from adjacent woody vegetation on natural enemies within vineyards. *Biological Control*, **64**, 57–65.
- Tschumi, M., Albrecht, M., Bärtschi, C., Collatz, J., Entling, M.H. & Jacot, K. (2016) Perennial, species-rich wildflower strips enhance pest control and crop yield. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, **220**, 97–103.
- Vattala, H.D., Wratten, S.D., Phillips, C.B. & Wäckers, F.L. (2006) The influence of flower morphology and nectar quality on the longevity of a parasitoid biological control agent. *Biological Control*, **39**, 179–185.
- Wäckers, F.L. (2004) Assessing the suitability of flowering herbs as parasitoid food sources: Flower attractiveness and nectar accessibility. *Biological Control*, **29**, 307–314.
- Wäckers, F.L. & van Rijn, P.C.J. (2012) Pick and mix: selecting flowering plants to meet the requirements of target biological control insects. *Biodiversity and Insect Pests: Key Issues for Sustainable Management*, pp. 139–165. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- Wheeler, B.R. & Wilson, P.J. (2016) The Effectiveness of Higher Level Stewardship for Maintaining and Restoring Species-Rich Grasslands : A Resurvey of a Sample of Grasslands under HLS Options HK6 and HK7. Belinda Wheeler.

Wickham, H. (2009) ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis.

Wise, D. (1993) *Spiders in Ecological Webs*, Cambridge. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. Woodcock, B.A., Potts, S.G., Westbury, D.B., Ramsay, A.J., Lambert, M., Harris, S.J. & Brown, V.K.

(2007) The importance of sward architectural complexity in structuring predatory and phytophagous invertebrate assemblages. *Ecological Entomology*, **32**, 302–311.

Wyss, E., Niggli, U. & Nentwig, W. (1995) The impact of spiders on aphid populations in a stripmanaged apple orchard. *Journal of Applied Entomology*, **119**, 473–478. Chapter 4:

Orchard ground cover management for pollinators and pollination services



('Floral-rich' plot during apple blossom, May 2016)

Chapter 4:

Orchard ground cover management for pollinators and pollination services

4.1 Abstract

Pollinator-dependent crops are becoming increasingly important in global agricultural production, though the pollinator species responsible for their pollination are facing a number of threats. Many of the causes of wild pollinator declines are due to intensive management methods and the loss of habitat and floral resources from agricultural landscapes. In this study, flowering alleyway cover crops were trialled as a method of habitat management to enhance floral resources for pollinators in commercial apple orchards. A randomised complete block design with an average plot size of 0.25 ha was used to compare three alleyway cover crop mixtures with a standard control consisting of closely mown grass. Cover crops were based on perennial legume species: 1) a commercially available 'pollen and nectar' mixture, 2) a legume and tussock-forming grass mix, and 3) a low-cost, low-diversity mix over-sown into existing alleyway vegetation. Alleyway cover crops provided a significant increase in floral resources throughout the summer months and boosted the numbers of pollinator taxa in the alleyways of orchards during this period. However, no significant changes in pollinator abundance or pollination service were observed during apple blossom. The lack of effect of alleyway cover crops on pollination services may have been due to the early-season, mass-flowering nature of apple trees: cover crops did not come into full flower until after apple blossom had ended, and the highly mobile pollinator species did not appear to show fidelity to cover cropped areas early in the season. The size of the treatment plots and duration of the study may also have not been great enough to produce a detectable response in pollinator populations. The results from the study suggest that the addition of even relatively inexpensive flowering plants to orchard alleyways, coupled with a reduction in mowing frequency, can create an attractive source of forage plants and increase the numbers of foraging pollinators in areas containing highly pollinator-dependent crops.

4.2 Introduction

The production of pollination dependent mass-flowering crops is increasingly globally, and the demand for pollination services is increasing with it (Klein *et al.* 2007; Aizen *et al.* 2008; Breeze

et al. 2011; FAO 2017). Pollinating species are therefore becoming increasingly important to global agriculture (Klein *et al.* 2007; Aizen & Harder 2009; Garibaldi *et al.* 2011a). Some pollination dependent crops, including apples, may be suffering from pollination deficits (Aizen *et al.* 2009; Isaacs & Kirk 2010; Garibaldi *et al.* 2014; Garratt *et al.* 2014b). Ecologically intensifying production by supporting wild pollinator species and enhancing pollination services may allow these yield and crop quality gaps to be closed (Bommarco, Kleijn & Potts 2013).

The floral resources provided by mass-flowering crops can be beneficial for pollinators (Westphal, Steffan-Dewenter & Tscharntke 2003; Holzschuh et al. 2013). However, the effect that these crops have on pollinator populations and other beneficial species will depend on the intensity of their management: intensive use of pesticides can negatively effects pollinators and other beneficial species (Gill, Ramos-Rodriguez & Raine 2012; Whitehorn et al. 2012; Mallinger, Werts & Gratton 2015), and if mass-flowering crops are produced in monocultures their benefits to pollinators may be short lived (Hanley et al. 2011). The end of the crop flowering period may bring a seasonal gap in food availability in homogenous landscapes, as once the abundance of pollen and nectar from crop flowers has finished there may be few other flowering plants available (Westphal, Steffan-Dewenter & Tscharntke 2009; Hanley et al. 2011). Natural and semi-natural areas are important habitat for pollinators and other beneficial species, providing alternative sources of food, shelter, and nesting sites (Kremen et al. 2004). They can also act as refuges from environmental extremes, and from pesticide exposure (Park et al. 2015a). The intensification of agricultural land and the loss of habitat has been shown to lower the abundance and diversity of wild bees and reduce the pollination service which they provide (Kremen, Williams & Thorp 2002; Hendrickx et al. 2007; Ricketts et al. 2008; Garibaldi et al. 2011b; Marini et al. 2012; Kennedy et al. 2013).

Modern apple orchards commonly contain 3000 trees per hectare, with hundreds or thousands of flowers per tree, and a flowering period (blossom) of only a few weeks. This creates a huge short-term demand for pollination and may result in competition with other crops (Garratt *et al.* 2014c; Grab *et al.* 2017). Since most commercial apple varieties are self-incompatible they require pollen from different varieties to develop seeds (Ramírez & Davenport 2013). For this reason, trees of a different variety are often planted throughout an orchard to provide sources of compatible pollen, these trees are known as 'pollinisers' (Barden & Neilsen 2003). Unfertilised flowers often fail to produce fruit, or may produce fruit of a lower quality with a greatly reduced market value (Garratt *et al.* 2014a). Apples are primarily insect-pollinated (Free 1964; Dennis, Ferree & Warrington 2003) and rely on a range of taxa including bumble bees (Bombus spp.), solitary bees, honey bees (Apis mellifera), and hoverflies (Syrphidae) (Ramírez & Davenport 2013). Many of these species are currently under threat from habitat loss, harmful pesticides, climate change, and a variety of pests and diseases (Potts et al. 2016). Honey bees are some of the most numerous pollinators of apple but the number of both honey bees hives and honey bee keepers has shown declines in Europe and North America (Aizen & Harder 2009; Neumann & Carreck 2010; Potts et al. 2010b). Bee keepers also often charge growers for the use of their hives and hive availability may vary between regions and years (Carreck, Williams & Little 1997; Sumner & Boriss 2006). It is crucial for food production, therefore, that wild pollinator communities are supported (Klein et al. 2007). Wild pollinators can enhance the pollination of crops despite the presence of honey bees (Garibaldi et al. 2013) and more diverse wild bee communities have been shown to improve pollination services in apple orchards and other crops (Klein et al. 2003; Hoehn et al. 2008; Holzschuh, Dudenhöffer & Tscharntke 2012; Martins, Gonzalez & Lechowicz 2015; Blitzer et al. 2016). A diversity of wild pollinator species can also help to insure against climate change (Rader et al. 2013; Bartomeus et al. 2013) and further declines in honey bee abundance (Winfree et al. 2007). To maintain healthy, stable pollinator communities it is important that the resources which they need are available to them throughout their active seasons (Roulston & Goodell 2011). Pollinators need food sources which will provide them with both nutrients and energy, in most cases this means pollen and nectar, but for some taxa such as hoverflies it also means prey species for their larval stages.

As with natural enemies and pest regulation services (Chapter 3), one way in which pollinator populations and pollination services can be enhanced is through habitat management, particularly the creation and restoration of areas of flowering plants (Pywell *et al.* 2005; Albrecht *et al.* 2007; Carvell *et al.* 2011; Wratten *et al.* 2012). The loss of flowering plants is thought to be a significant factor in the decline of pollinators in agricultural landscapes (Nicholls & Altieri 2013), with the decline in species such as red clover (*Trifolium pratense*) being one of the main drivers behind bumble bee declines in the UK (Carvell *et al.* 2006). The creation of flower strips and flower-enhanced grass margins is a common method for supporting pollinator communities and is supported by several agri-environment schemes (Pywell *et al.* 2007; Albrecht *et al.* 2007). However there are still knowledge gaps regarding the efficacy and management of flower strips and flowering cover crops for supporting pollinator communities and enhancing ecosystem services, though they have shown potential in both arable and fruit systems (Pywell *et al.* 2005; Carvalheiro *et al.* 2012; Blaauw & Isaacs 2014; Feltham *et al.* 2015). One of the key aims of

managing habitat for pollinators is to maintain floral resources throughout their active seasons. The relatively early and short flowering period of apple trees means that the crop does not provide floral resources during the summer and autumn. Orchard ground cover plants have the potential to provide an important food source to pollinators and other arthropods through these seasons (Saunders, Luck & Mayfield 2013; García & Miñarro 2014). However, ground cover management in many commercial orchards currently favours bare soil weed-strips and closely mown alleyways (Merwin, Ferree & Warrington 2003). The alleyways between rows make up a significant amount of the orchards land area, but because their management is focused almost exclusively on controlling weeds they usually provide little in the way of habitat for beneficial species. If flowering plants could be grown in these alleyways they could provide considerable and widespread resources for beneficial species without requiring a significant change in management. More knowledge is needed, however, both on which plant species are the most valuable to beneficial arthropods needed in orchards, and which plants are suitable for growing in alleyways; orchard alleyways are subjected to regular vehicle traffic and may be shaded by the neighbouring trees.

In this study, three alleyway cover crop mixtures were tested and their effects on pollinators and pollination services are assessed. Each of the cover crop mixtures were designed with a different focus: the 'floral-rich' mixture was based on a widely available 'pollen and nectar' mixture to provide maximum floral resources from a variety of plant species and flower structures. The 'legume-grass' mixture was designed to increase structural complexity and produce a large volume of vegetation. The 'oversown-clover' mixture is a low-diversity budget option which requires less change to current management. These mixtures were compared to the standard practice of regularly mown, grass-dominated alleyways. Perennial legumes were chosen as the basis for the cover crop mixtures because they can produce a large volume of flowers which are known to be attractive to pollinators (Carvell et al. 2007, 2011, Pywell et al. 2007, 2011). These species are also often less expensive than other wildflowers, and being perennial they should require less management than annual species. Legumes also have the ability to add nitrogen to the orchard system, as discussed in Chapter 2. Other perennial wildflower species are included in the 'floral-rich' treatment, at lower seed densities, as they have open flower structures which are favoured by short-tongue bees, hoverflies, and natural enemies (Campbell et al. 2012; Balzan, Bocci & Moonen 2014).

It is hypothesized that the treatment with the greatest floral diversity and abundance, i.e. the 'floral-rich' treatment, will attract the greatest abundance and diversity of pollinators. The improved habitat expected in the 'legume-grass' and 'oversown-clover' treatments are also predicted to increase pollinator abundance compared to the 'mown-grass' control treatment. The greater pollinator abundances predicted in the cover crop treatments are expected to result in improved pollination services and an increase in apple production and fruit quality.

4.3 Methods

Study site

This study took place between June 2014 and September 2016 on two farms (located roughly 16 km apart) near Maidstone, Kent, England. Apple orchards used in the study were aged between 4 and 8 years old and contained the variety 'Gala', grafted onto 'M9' rootstocks. Polliniser trees were a mixture of crab apples (*Malus spp.*) and the apple variety 'Golden delicious'. Tree spacing was 1 m within the row and 3.5 m between rows, with polliniser trees planted between each tenth and eleventh tree (at a ratio of 1:10 with the crop variety), staggered between rows so that pollinisers were evenly spaced. A 2 m wide weed-strip was centred on the tree row with a 1.5 m wide strip of vegetation in the centre of the alleyway where the cover crops were sown. The weed-strips in all plots were sprayed with glyphosate at commercial rates and, excluding the introduction and mowing of the alleyway cover crops, management of trees continued as standard for a conventional commercial orchard. The orchard blocks were managed as units and so that each treatment plot received the same management as the other plots in the same block.

Experimental design

The four orchard alleyway treatments were tested using a randomised complete block design, with six blocks split evenly between the two farms (24 experimental plots in total). Experimental plots consisted of six consecutive orchard alleyways containing five rows of trees, plots varied between 75 and 205 m in length (0.14 to 0.39 ha in size). Plots were separated from each other by at least 40 m and from the outside of the orchard by a minimum of 10 m. Blocks were at least 200 m apart. In early May 2014 plots were randomly assigned to the treatments described in

Table 1. Weeds were controlled in some of the plots in July and August 2014 with a strimmer and areas where cover crop germination was low were reseeded in August 2014. For more details on cover crop species composition, management, and costs please see Table 1 in Chapter 3.

Vegetation cover and floral cover

Alleyway vegetation was surveyed using a 0.75 x 0.5 m quadrat which covered half of the alleyway width. Six quadrats were taken in each plot every month between April and August in 2015 and 2016. Vegetation cover and floral cover were recorded for each plant species by visually estimating their percentage area cover in each quadrat. Four measurements of vegetation height were also taken for each quadrat using the direct measure method (Stewart, Bourn & Thomas 2001). Sward height was recorded because it has been shown to affect hoverfly abundance and diversity (Sjödin, Bengtsson & Ekbom 2008).

Pollinator transects

Pollinator transects were conducted in 2015 and 2016 during apple blossom (April and May) and in the summer months of June (2016 only), July, and August. At the study sites apple blossom peaked in late April in 2015 and early May in 2016. Four transects per plot were walked during each blossom period and two transects per plot in each non-blossom month, with half of the transects conducted before noon and half afterwards. Each transect consisted of a 10 minute, 100 m walk where all pollinators observed on the trees and within the alleyway were recorded to morphospecies, or species where possible. Transects were conducted between 0900 h and 1730 h, in dry, warm conditions (>13°C), where wind speeds were below 2 on the Beaufort scale. If a pollinator was seen on a flower, the species of plant was recorded. During blossom a relative estimate of apple flower numbers was calculated for each transect by counting the number of open flowers on one side of two randomly selected trees. For analysis pollinators were divided into four taxa; bumble bees (Bombus spp.), solitary bees, honey bee (Apis mellifera), and hoverflies (Syrphidae). The number of other flies seen in the alleyways was also recorded but due to their wide variety of feeding behaviours, and with little evidence to suggest that they are important apple pollinators (Garratt et al. 2014b; a), they were not included in the analysis. The potential contributions of different taxa to apple pollination are discussed further in Chapter 5.
Honey bee hives were not present within the orchard blocks used in this study, though they were present in neighbouring blocks on one of the farms.

Pollination service monitoring and apple quality

Pollination service was monitored by recording the fruit set on thirty branches in each plot; one branch per tree in three sets of ten trees spread evenly throughout the plot (a total of 720 branches from all plots in each year). This method was adapted from previous studies where pollination services to apples and other tree fruit were investigated and where fruit set has been shown to be an strong indicator of pollination (Volz, Tustin & Ferguson 1996; Isaacs & Kirk 2010; Garratt et al. 2014a). During blossom the number of flowers present on each branch was recorded and the branch was tagged. In June, the number of fruitlets that had formed on each branch was recorded. Approximately one week before commercial harvest the number of fruit on each branch was recorded again. To determine fruit size the diameters of eight fruit (or all fruit if less than eight were present) were recorded on each branch. To determine seed set six branches per plot were randomly selected and three fruit (or all fruit if less than three were present) were taken from each branch. Apple quality measures were taken on the fruit including fruit diameter, firmness (using a Silverline penetrometer), soluble solids or Brix (using a Hanna refractometer), fresh weight, and dry weight (entire fruit were cut into 4 pieces and oven dried at 70°C for at least 72 hours before reweighing). In total 1,170 fruit were collected for seed set and further fruit quality assessments.

Statistical analysis

Data were analysed with linear mixed models and generalised linear mixed models (GLMMs) in R (R Core Team 2017) using the "Ime4" (Bates, Mächler & Bolker 2012) and "glmmADMB" packages. Treatment was the main fixed effect with block nested within farm as random effects in all models. Percentage floral cover was analysed using GLMMs with a negative binomial error family. The random effects in these models were: quadrat, nested within plot, nested within block, with month as a crossed random effect. Pollinator abundance data from transects conducted during blossom (April and May) were pooled and analysed separately to those from the summer transects (June, July and August). Pollinator counts were also pooled for each summer month, and sampling month was used as a random effect in the summer pollinator models, with survey year was included as a fixed effect. Models were given either Poisson or

negative binomial error families, depending on over-dispersion statistics: if dispersion statistics were greater than 2 with Poisson errors, negative binomial errors were used instead. Fruit set data were modelled using a GLMM with a binomial error family, comparing the number of flowers which produced fruitlets to the number which did not in a two-column integer matrix.

Seed set data were modelled using GLMMs with a negative binomial error family. All other fruit quality measures were analysed using linear mixed models with apple number nested within branch, plot, block, and farm. Year (either 2015 or 2016) was included as a random effect in all fruit yield and quality models. Comparisons between cover crop treatments in all of these analyses were conducted using post hoc pairwise least-squares means tests with a Tukey adjustment in the R package "Ismeans" (Lenth 2016). Graphics were produced in R using the package "ggplot2" (Wickham 2009).

4.4 Results

Vegetation and floral cover

The floral cover and vegetation height of the alleyways are shown in Figure 1. The floral cover of the alleyways showed no significant differences between treatments during the blossom period, whilst in the summer months the 'floral-rich' and 'oversown-clover' treatments showed significantly more flowers than the 'legume-grass' and 'mown-grass' control. The 'legume-grass' treatment had significantly higher vegetation than the control during blossom and all three cover crops showed significantly higher vegetation than the control during the summer months. A breakdown of alleyway vegetation cover by species, floral cover by species, and the number of pollinators (bumble bees, solitary bees, honey bees, and hoverflies) observed feeding on different plant species during transects is shown in Table 1.



Figure 1. Floral cover and vegetation height of orchard alleyways with different sward mixtures during apple blossom (April and May), and summer months (June, July, and August) using combined data from 2015 and 2016. Letters indicate significant differences as calculated by least square means tests (p=0.05).

Table 1. Mean alleyway vegetation species cover and floral cover between April and August. Only sown species and species showing more than 0.1% vegetation cover or 0.01% floral cover when averaged over the two year are shown here. Total visit count indicates the total number of pollinators observed feeding on alleyway flowers during transects, 'Visits by pollinators, % of total' shows percentage breakdown of which flowers were being visited. These include visits made by bumble bees, solitary bees, honey bees, and hoverflies. Data were collected between April and August, 2015 and 2016.

Treatment and species Seed		Species cover %			Floral cover %				Visits by pollinators % of total			
	weight %	2015	2016	Average		2015	2016	Average		2015	2016	Average
Mown-grass (control)					Total floral cover	1.3	0.8	1	Total visit count	38	13	51
Grasses (Poaceae)		85.5	83.6	84.6								
White clover (Trifolium repens)		14.1	4.6	9.4		0.4	0.03	0.2		64.3	14.3	39.3
Buttercup (<i>Ranunculus</i> spp.)		3.7	3.8	3.8		0.1	0.05	0.08		0	14.3	7.1
Common daisy (Bellis perennis)		2.8	4.1	3.5		0.7	0.7	0.7		7.1	33.3	20.2
Mosses (Bryophyta)		1.1	2.5	1.8								
Dock (<i>Rumex</i> spp.)		1.9	1	1.5								
Greater plantain (<i>Plantago major</i>)		0.9	0.6	0.8								
Dandelion (Taraxacum officinalis)		0.9	0.5	0.7		0.02	0.01	0.01		6.1	19	12.6
Black medic (<i>Medicago lupulina</i>)		0.02	0.3	0.2		0.01	0.03	0.02		0	0	0
Hawkbits (<i>Leontodon</i> spp.)		0.1	0.05	0.08		0.04	0	0.02		18.4	4.8	11.6
Bare soil		4.2	7.3	5.8								
Floral-rich - sown at 13 kg/ha:					Total floral cover	5.1	4	4.6	Total visit count	369	357	726
Red clover (Trifolium pratense)	41	16.3	4.3	10.3		1.2	0.2	0.7		11.8	7.9	9.4
Birdsfoot trefoil (Lotus corniculatus)	20	8.1	3.5	5.8		1.9	0.5	1.2		24.6	10.9	16.4
Sainfoin (Onobrychis viciifolia)	19	6	0.01	3		0.04	0	0.02		0.7	0	0.3
Alsike clover (Trifolium hybridum)	10	0.2	0.4	0.3		0.04	0.1	0.07		16.2	5.6	9.8
Lesser knapweed (<i>Centaurea nigra</i>)	3	1	2.5	1.8		0.01	0.08	0.05		0	4.1	2.4
Musk mallow (<i>Malva moschata</i>)	3.1	5.4	5	5.2		0.7	0.6	0.7		11	22.2	17.7
Red campion (Silene dioica)	2.1	1.2	0.5	0.9		0.09	0.06	0.08		3.8	0	1.5

Oxeye daisy (Leucanthemum vulgare)	1.1	3.7	6.3	5		0.4	0.8	0.6		17.1	20	18.
Yarrow (Achillea millefolium)	1.1	4.3	6.8	5.6		0.07	0.3	0.2		6	7	6.6
Grasses (Poaceae)		62.2	62.2	62.2								
Dock (<i>Rumex</i> spp.)		4.5	7.3	5.9								
Buttercup (<i>Ranunculus</i> spp.)		3.2	3.8	3.5		0.3	0.5	0.4		1.1	3.5	2.
Greater plantain (Plantago major)		2.5	3	2.8								
White clover (Trifolium repens)		0.03	4.5	2.3		0.01	0.4	0.2		0.4	13.5	8.2
Common daisy (Bellis perennis)		0.3	0.9	0.6		0.1	0.3	0.2		0	1.2	0.7
Ribwort plantain (<i>Plantago lanceolata</i>)		0.8	0.1	0.5								
Black medic (<i>Medicago lupulina</i>)		0.04	0.7	0.4		0.01	0.1	0.06		0	0	0
Dandelion (Taraxacum officinalis)		0.3	0.2	0.3								
Thistles (<i>Cirisum</i> spp.)		0.2	0.2	0.2		0.01	0.01	0.01		0	0	0
Hawkbits (<i>Leontodon</i> spp.)		0.3	0.1	0.2		0.2	0.03	0.1		6.9	2.1	11.
Sowthistle (Sonchus spp.)		0	0.2	0.1								
Mayweed (<i>Matricaria</i> spp.)		0.1	0	0.05		0.03	0	0.02		0	0	0
Bare soil		5.5	9	7.3								
Oversown-clover - over-sown at 8 kg/ha:					Total floral cover	2.9	5	4	Total visit count	282	246	52
White clover (<i>Trifolium repens</i>)	75	26 F				2.1	3.1	2.6		70.1	68	68
Black medic (<i>Medicago lupulina</i>)		36.5	37.6	37.1								
	25	36.5 0.6	37.6 1.7	37.1 1.2		0.01	0.5	0.3		1.6	1.4	1.
							0.5	0.3			1.4	1.
Grasses (Poaceae)		0.6	1.7	1.2			0.5 0.9	0.3 0.7			1.4 13.3	1.: 9
Grasses (Poaceae) Buttercup (<i>Ranunculus</i> spp.)		0.6 79.7	1.7 70.1	1.2 74.9		0.01				1.6		
Grasses (Poaceae) Buttercup (<i>Ranunculus</i> spp.) Dock (<i>Rumex</i> spp.)		0.6 79.7 5.8	1.7 70.1 7.6	1.2 74.9 6.7		0.01				1.6		9
Grasses (Poaceae) Buttercup (<i>Ranunculus</i> spp.) Dock (<i>Rumex</i> spp.) Common daisy (<i>Bellis perennis</i>)		0.6 79.7 5.8 1.1	1.7 70.1 7.6 1.5	1.2 74.9 6.7 1.3		0.01 0.5	0.9	0.7		1.6 2.5	13.3	9
Grasses (Poaceae) Buttercup (<i>Ranunculus</i> spp.) Dock (<i>Rumex</i> spp.) Common daisy (<i>Bellis perennis</i>) Dandelion (<i>Taraxacum officinalis</i>)		0.6 79.7 5.8 1.1 0.2	1.7 70.1 7.6 1.5 1	1.2 74.9 6.7 1.3 0.6		0.01 0.5	0.9	0.7		1.6 2.5	13.3	
Grasses (Poaceae) Buttercup (<i>Ranunculus</i> spp.) Dock (<i>Rumex</i> spp.) Common daisy (<i>Bellis perennis</i>) Dandelion (<i>Taraxacum officinalis</i>) Ribwort plantain (<i>Plantago lanceolata</i>) Greater plantain (<i>Plantago major</i>)		0.6 79.7 5.8 1.1 0.2 0.7	1.7 70.1 7.6 1.5 1 0.2	1.2 74.9 6.7 1.3 0.6 0.5		0.01 0.5	0.9	0.7		1.6 2.5	13.3	9
Grasses (Poaceae) Buttercup (<i>Ranunculus</i> spp.) Dock (<i>Rumex</i> spp.) Common daisy (<i>Bellis perennis</i>) Dandelion (<i>Taraxacum officinalis</i>) Ribwort plantain (<i>Plantago lanceolata</i>) Greater plantain (<i>Plantago major</i>)		0.6 79.7 5.8 1.1 0.2 0.7 0.6	1.7 70.1 7.6 1.5 1 0.2 0.4	1.2 74.9 6.7 1.3 0.6 0.5 0.5		0.01 0.5	0.9	0.7		1.6 2.5	13.3	9
Grasses (Poaceae) Buttercup (<i>Ranunculus</i> spp.) Dock (<i>Rumex</i> spp.) Common daisy (<i>Bellis perennis</i>) Dandelion (<i>Taraxacum officinalis</i>) Ribwort plantain (<i>Plantago lanceolata</i>)		0.6 79.7 5.8 1.1 0.2 0.7 0.6 0.3	1.7 70.1 7.6 1.5 1 0.2 0.4 0.3	1.2 74.9 6.7 1.3 0.6 0.5 0.5 0.3		0.01 0.5 0.07	0.9 0.5	0.7 0.3		1.6 2.5 6.3	13.3 0.3	9 2.

Legume-grass - sown at 25 kg/ha:					Total floral cover	1.1	2.2	1.7	Total visit count	33	65	98
Cocksfoot grass (Dactylis glomerata)	12	38.3	42.1	40.2								
Lucerne (<i>Medicago sativa</i>)	72	10.2	7.7	9		0.2	0.2	0.2		0	21.6	14
Timothy grass (Phleum pratense)	8	0.3	4.8	2.6								
Red clover (Trifolium pratense)	8	3.5	2.3	2.9		0.02	0.1	0.06		0	8.9	5.7
Unsown grasses (Poaceae)		42.9	29.9	36.4								
Greater plantain (<i>Plantago major</i>)		3.9	3.2	3.6								
Dock (<i>Rumex</i> spp.)		2.6	2.5	2.6								
Common daisy (Bellis perennis)		1.4	2.6	2		0.8	1.2	1		16.9	4.5	8.9
Buttercup (<i>Ranunculus</i> spp.)		1.3	1.3	1.3		0.03	0.2	0.1		25	11.6	16.3
Dandelion (Taraxacum officinalis)		0.3	0.2	0.3								
Thistles (<i>Cirisum</i> spp.)		0.2	0.2	0.2								
Black medic (<i>Medicago lupulina</i>)		0.02	0.3	0.1		0.02	0.3	0.2		4.1	0	1.5
Yarrow (Achillea millefolium)		0.3	0	0.1								
Hawkbits (Leontodon spp.)		0.1	0.05	0.08		0.04	0.01	0.03		36.1	5.2	16.1
White clover (Trifolium repens)		0.01	0.1	0.06		0.01	0.1	0.06		0	8	5.2
Mallow (<i>Malva</i> spp.)		0	0.1	0.05		0	0.1	0.05		0	16.1	10.4
Bare soil		9.3	11.2	10.3								

The alleyway quadrats and records of pollinator visits to alleyway flowers show that some plant species in the experimental mixtures established more successfully and appeared to attract more pollinators than others. Birdsfoot trefoil, alsike clover, musk mallow, yarrow, and oxeye daisy were some of the most successful species in the 'floral-rich' mixture, all producing relatively high floral cover and attracting a high proportion of pollinators. Red clover produced less floral cover and attracted fewer pollinators than may have been expected by its relatively high proportion of seed weight in the mixture. White clover established well in many of the 'oversown-clover' plots and produced a high floral cover which was attractive to pollinators, whilst black medic was less successful and provided relatively little in return for the amount of seed sown. White clover was also found as an attractive volunteer plant in the other treatments where it was not sown. The alleyway floral cover and flower visitation in the 'legume-grass' treatment was relatively low, despite the high seed sowing rate of legumes, suggesting that lucerne may not be as valuable a species as some of those in the 'floral-rich' mixture, or that the inclusion of grasses lead to competition which impeded flowering. Red clover also showed relatively low establishment and flowering in the 'legume-grass' treatment. No pollinators were observed on alleyway flowers whilst apple trees were in blossom.

Pollinator transects

When considered across the whole sampling period (April to August, 2015 and 2016 combined) the total pollinator abundance was highest in the 'floral-rich' treatment (35.4 ± 3.2) and the 'oversown-clover' treatment (27.0 ± 3.7), which both showed significantly greater numbers of pollinators than the 'mown-grass' control (10.9 ± 2.0 , p<0.0001 and p<0.001), but did not differ significantly from each other. The 'legume-grass' treatment (16.7 ± 1.8) also showed significantly greater abundances over the whole sampling period when compared to the 'mown-grass' control (p=0.0043) (Figure 2). By separating the results by taxa and by season a more nuanced effect of cover crops and pollinators can be seen.

Bumble bee abundance did not differ significantly between the ground cover treatments during apple blossom, however, in the summer months the 'floral-rich' and 'oversown-clover' treatments attracted significantly more bumble bees than the 'legume-grass' and 'mown-grass' treatments (Figure 3). Bumble bees were significantly less abundant during the summer of 2016 than the same months in 2015 (4.1 ± 0.7 and 8.4 ± 1.7 respectively, p=0.018) though no significant change was observed during the blossom periods.

Solitary bees showed a similar pattern, with no significant differences between treatments during blossom, but then becoming significantly more common in the 'floral-rich' and 'oversown-clover' treatments when compared to the 'mown-grass' in the summer (Figure 4). In contrast to bumble bees, solitary bees were significantly more abundant in the summer of 2016 than that of 2015 (2.5 ± 0.4 and 1.7 ± 0.4 respectively, p=0.046). Though again, no significant difference in abundance was found during blossom between the years.

Honey bees also showed no differences in abundance between treatments during blossom. They then became significantly more numerous in the 'floral-rich' treatment when compared to both the 'legume-grass' treatment and the 'mown-grass' control during the summer months. The 'oversown-clover' plots also hosted significantly more honey bees during the summer months that the 'mown-grass' plots (Figure 5). In 2016 honey bees were present in significantly fewer numbers than in 2015 during both blossom (9.0 \pm 1.8 and 21.0 \pm 4.2 respectively, p=0.006) and the summer months (2.5 \pm 0.6 and 8.2 \pm 2.6 respectively, p=0.012).

Hoverflies showed a marginally significantly greater abundance in the 'floral-rich' treatment when compared to the 'mown-grass' during the blossom period (p=0.073), with the mean number of hoverflies at 3.9 ± 1.0 in the 'floral-rich' treatment, and 1.6 ± 0.5 in the 'mown-grass' control. All three cover crop treatments showed higher abundances during the summer months (Figure 6). As with the honey bees, hoverflies showed a significant decrease in abundance between blossom in 2016 and blossom in 2015 (2.1 ± 0.5 and 3.9 ± 0.6 respectively, p=0.031), by the summer however, this had turned into a significant increase on the previous year (9.3 ± 1.1 and 4.8 ± 0.8 respectively, p<0.001).





Treatment	Blossom and summer
- Mown-grass	а
Floral-rich	с
- Oversown-clover	с
- Legume-grass	b





Treatment	Blossom	Summer
Mown-grass	а	а
Floral-rich	а	b
Oversown-clover	а	b
Legume-grass	а	а





Treatment	Blossom	Summer
- Mown-grass	а	а
- Floral-rich	а	b
- Oversown-clover	а	b
— Legume-grass	а	ab





Treatment	Blossom	Summer
- Mown-grass	а	а
- Floral-rich	а	с
- Oversown-clover	а	bc
Legume-grass	а	ab





Treatment	Blossom	Summer
- Mown-grass	а	а
Floral-rich	а	с
 Oversown-clover 	а	b
Legume-grass	а	b

Pollination service

No significant differences were detected between treatments in the proportion of flowers that developed into fruit, the proportion of fruit that reached harvest, or the number of seeds set. The fruit quality measures; diameter at harvest, fresh weight, dry weight, firmness, and sugar content (brix), also showed no statistically significantly differences between treatments (Table 2). The effects of pollination on fruit quality in general will be discussed further in Chapter 5.

Table 2. Pollination service measures and fruit quality under different ground cover treatments. Fruit set is the proportion of flowers which developed into a fruitlet, fruit set at harvest is the proportion of flowers at which resulted in a harvestable fruit. Each degree Brix is equal to 1 g of sucrose in 100 g of solution. Mean ± SEM. Data are from 2015 and 2016 combined. No significant differences were found between treatments.

Treatment	Fruit set	Fruit set at harvest	Seed set	Diameter (mm)	Fresh weight (g)	Dry weight (g)	Firmness (kg/cm)	°Brix
Mown-grass	0.36±0.01	0.21±0.01	2.8±0.1	60.1±0.2	99.5±1.4	14.1±0.2	1.7±0.5	11.7±0.1
Floral-rich	0.36±0.01	0.20±0.01	2.6±0.1	60.2±0.2	100.0±1.6	14.4±0.2	3.9±1.0	11.9±0.1
Oversown-clover	0.37±0.01	0.20±0.01	3.2±0.1	60.8±0.2	101.5±1.3	14.1±0.2	2.4±0.7	11.7±0.1
Legume-grass	0.35±0.01	0.21±0.01	2.9±0.1	59.8±0.2	97.4±1.5	14.0±0.2	3.4±0.8	12.0±0.1

4.5 Discussion

The results from this study show that alleyway cover crops, relative to current practices, can substantially increase both the floral resources available in orchards and the abundance of key pollinator taxa through the year. As hypothesised, the more florally abundant cover crop alleyways showed significantly higher numbers of pollinators. The flower-rich 'floral-rich' treatment showed the highest mean pollinator abundance overall, with the less diverse but still florally abundant 'oversown-clover' treatment also showing significant increases. The higher numbers of pollinators in cover crops plots were only observed during the summer months however; no significant differences were observed during apple blossom, it follows that there were no significant differences in the amount of pollination service.

Honey bees were the most numerous taxa observed during apple blossom: accounting for 54% of the total count of monitored pollinators, with solitary bees accounting for 28%, hoverflies 10%, and bumble bees 8%. During the summer months hoverflies became the most abundant species observed on transects at 37%, with bumble bees at 29%, honey bees at 24% and solitary bees at 10%. The sharp decline in honey bee and solitary bee abundance seen in 'mown-grass' control plots after apple blossom contributed to this seasonal demographic shift and reflects the lack of floral resources in these plots during the summer months. The 'floral-rich' and 'oversown-clover' treatments on the other hand appeared to maintain or increase their populations of all four taxa during the summer. The 'floral-rich' treatment displayed the highest abundance of pollinators overall but was only significantly different from the 'oversown-clover' treatment in the number of hoverflies. This was despite the fact that the 'floral-rich' treatment was sown with far more diverse species mixture and cost 2.9 times as much as the 'oversownclover' treatment. Like the 'mown-grass' control the 'legume-grass' treatment also showed a decline in bee abundance after blossom, although the numbers of hoverflies increased. A study by Sjödin, Bengtsson and Ekbom (2008) found that the abundance and diversity of hoverflies was greater in less intensively managed grassland with a higher sward height. This may explain why numbers were significantly higher in the 'oversown-clover' and 'legume-grass' treatments when compared to the 'mown-grass' control, despite a similar percentage cover of the open structured flowers which these insects are thought to prefer, due to their recued ability to feed on long-corolla flowers (Vattala et al. 2006; Campbell et al. 2012). Some species of hoverflies are known to feed on grass pollen (Branquart & Hemptinne 2000) which may have been more abundant in the less frequently mown cover crop plots; it is also possible that the taller

vegetation played host to more prey species for the hoverfly species with predatory larval stages (Ramsden et al. 2015). As well as pollinating apple flowers the predatory larvae of some hover fly species can help to control pest aphids in orchards (Brown 2004; Bergh & Short 2008). Wild bee species also require specific habitats to produce the next generation; it is possible that the orchard alleyways and weed strip could provide nesting habitat for a subset of bee species, and small numbers of mining bees (Andrenidae spp) were observed nesting in sunnier areas of bare soil in the study orchards. For other species nesting and overwintering often occurs in areas of natural or semi-natural habitat including hedgerows, banks, and areas with tussocks of grass (Svensson, Lagerlof & Svensson 2000; Kells & Goulson 2003; Williams & Kremen 2007). The effects of cover crops and other habitat enhancements will depend on the density and diversity of resources such as suitable nesting sites in the surrounding landscape (Scheper et al. 2015), and on the existing pollinator communities. Increasing the floral resources and nesting sites available to pollinator populations may allow them to become larger and more stable (Sheffield et al. 2008; Oliver et al. 2010; Mallinger, Gibbs & Gratton 2016), which may improve the pollination service in following years. The numbers of both hoverflies and honey bees varied between the years, with significantly fewer of both taxa seen in 2016 compared to 2015. Similar fluctuations in pollinator abundance between years have been seen in apple orchards and may be due to differences in weather during blossom (Vicens & Bosch 2000a). This highlights the importance of maintaining a diverse range of pollinator species; species diversity can help to buffer ecosystem service provision against weather and climatic changes (Brittain, Kremen & Klein 2014). Some wild bee species can forage in temperatures and wind speeds that would deter honey bees (Corbet et al. 1993; Vicens & Bosch 2000b) and for a crop with a short pollination window such as apple, having a diversity of pollinators available which can forage under different weather conditions could make a significant difference to production if adverse weather were to occur during flowering (Polce et al. 2014). Different pollinator taxa have also been found to have synergistic effects on the pollination of crops, including apples (Brittain et al. 2013; Sapir et al. 2017).

Honey bees and bumble bees regularly cover several kilometres during foraging trips and even small solitary bees may cover many hundreds of metres in search of food (Gathmann & Tscharntke 2002; Greenleaf *et al.* 2007; Wolf & Moritz 2008; Zurbuchen *et al.* 2010). The highly mobile nature of these species may have masked any positive effects that cover crops had on pollinator populations as during the blossom period individuals are unlikely to show fidelity to these plots when huge floral resources are available throughout the landscape. Apple blossom

also occurs relatively early in the year when many pollinator species are less abundant, with bumble bee colonies often just establishing for example. A study by Blaauw and Isaacs (2014) showed that it can take several years for a measureable increase in pollinator abundance to be detected following the addition of floral resources, and other studies have found that creating areas of floral resources near to fruit crops can increase both pollinator numbers and the pollination services which they provide (Carvalheiro et al. 2012; Blaauw & Isaacs 2014). Although competition for pollinators between alleyway vegetation and apple trees has been considered a potential issue in apple orchards (Free 1968) the result of this study do not support this, in fact no pollinators from the four main taxa were observed on alleyway flowers during apple blossom, despite many hours of surveying. There were also no significant differences in floral cover or pollinator abundance between the treatments during blossom, nor any significant differences in fruit set or seed set. This is likely to be due largely to the huge volumes of apple flowers available, but also to the behaviour of pollinators which can become focused on a single flower type during foraging (Hill, Wells & Wells 1997; Goulson 2000). Apple trees blossom relatively early in the season, commonly April and May in the UK, whilst the alleyway cover crops only began to show an increase flower cover in mid-May and June. There are few commercially available flowering plant species which will flower before apple trees, if floral resources were to be made available to pollinators before apple blossom the addition of flowering trees such as native willows (Salix spp.) to windbreaks and hedgerows may be appropriate (Ostaff et al. 2015; Park et al. 2015b).

4.6 Conclusions and management recommendations

The results suggest that whilst commonly available legume-based 'pollen and nectar' mixtures can boost pollinator numbers in orchards, more targeted mixtures may have greater success. An optimal species mixture would be one which provided floral resources throughout the active-seasons of beneficial species (Haaland, Naisbit & Bersier 2011; Peters *et al.* 2013), and did not require re-sowing or further ground management; perennial species are therefore likely to be more suitable than annuals. The seeds for a cover crop must be commercially available and not prohibitively expensive; legume seeds are often less expensive than other wildflower seeds and may form a good base for a mixture. Non-legume wildflowers have the potential to persist for longer than many legumes however, though if properly managed some legumes (e.g. white clover) can naturally reseed, therefore there may be trade-offs between seed price and mixture longevity. Low-growing legumes such as white clover and birdsfoot trefoil combined with long-

living wildflower species such as oxeye daisy, musk mallow, and yarrow may form a suitable mixture. Although red clover did not establish particularly well in this study it is known to be an important forage plant for bees, particularly bumble bees (Carvell *et al.* 2006) and it is possible that wild-type varieties, rather than the agricultural varieties as used in this study, may prove more successful as orchard alleyway plants. Resident, or volunteer, plant species, particularly white clover and hawkbits but also buttercups, dandelions, and common daisies, were seen to attract a number of pollinators and such species are known to be important for conserving pollinators in orchards (García & Miñarro 2014). Using a diversity of plants with a range of flower structures can be important when creating habitat because different beneficial species have a variety of feeding abilities and preferences (Haenke *et al.* 2009; Campbell *et al.* 2012), and the establishment and growth of different plant species will vary depending on soils and management.

In newly established orchards the ground is generally cleared of vegetation and flattened, providing a suitable seed bed for sowing cover crop. In this situation the addition of fine-leaved grasses may help to reduce encroachment of more competitive grass species (Pywell et al. 2011). The mowing management of alleyways is likely to be instrumental to the success of a cover crop or any wildflower area and will help to determine plant species composition, which in turn decides arthropod species composition. The results of this study and others suggest that reducing the frequency of mowing, possibly to once or twice per year, and raising the height of cuts, to 10-15 cm, and increasing floral diversity and abundance will benefit beneficial species (Buri, Humbert & Arlettaz 2014; García & Miñarro 2014; Wastian, Unterweger & Betz 2016). A reduction in mowing frequency is also less likely to favour competitive grass species which can reduce the growth of wildflowers. Mowing should be avoided when bees are foraging on alleyways as this can result in significant mortality (Humbert et al. 2010), and by not mowing entire orchards at the same time, perhaps by cutting only every second row, the unmown areas can act as refugia (Bruppacher et al. 2016). This practice may also help to prevent sharp changes in floral resources from disrupting pollinators and other beneficial species (Cizek et al. 2012). If growers find that alleyway plants are attracting pollinators during the blossom period, mowing the alleyways may help to push pollinators to the crop flowers. The removal of cuttings is recommend for maintaining areas of flowering plants as they can smother growth, and increase the fertility of the soil which is often detrimental to the success of wildflowers (Pywell et al. 2011). Using side-discharging mowers would allow the cuttings to be spread onto the bare soil of

115

the weed-strip where they would act as beneficial mulch for the trees, boosting soil fertility and soil-derived ecosystem services, as discussed in Chapter 2.

It should be noted that whilst providing pollinators with floral resources in orchard alleyways is likely to boost populations, it also means attracting them into an intensively managed environment where their exposure to pesticides may be increased. Although the use of the many of the more harmful broad-spectrum pesticides is being restricted, pesticides are still a major source of pollinator decline and can negatively affect pollination services (Potts *et al.* 2010a; Vanbergen & Garratt 2013; Godfray *et al.* 2014). Many of the pesticides used in orchards are known to having damaging effects on pollinators (Whitehorn *et al.* 2012; Godfray *et al.* 2014; Stanley *et al.* 2015). Even products considered to be less immediately damaging, such as fungicides, can cause harm and their synergistic and species-specific impacts are not fully understood (Brittain & Potts 2011; Biddinger *et al.* 2013). Further research is needed into how orchard pesticides affect pollinators and whether providing floral resources within the orchard system could lead to a damaging increase in pesticide exposure.

In conclusion, orchard alleyways cover large areas of land in agricultural landscapes which have high pollination demands, with the correct management they could potentially increase the area of floral resources, boost pollinator populations, and potentially enhance pollination services. The effects of mowing management and the sowing and over-sowing of flowering plants species into orchard alleyways, and other areas of low-diversity grassland, is an promising method for pollinator conservation which would benefit from further research. This study has shown that the addition of even relatively inexpensive plant species and slight changes in ground cover management have the potential to significantly enhance the value of orchard alleyways to pollinators.

4.7 References

- Aizen, M.A., Garibaldi, L.A., Cunningham, S.A. & Klein, A.M. (2008) Long-term global trends in crop yield and production reveal no current pollination shortage but increasing pollinator dependency. *Current Biology*, **18**, 1572–1575.
- Aizen, M.A., Garibaldi, L.A., Cunningham, S.A. & Klein, A.M. (2009) How much does agriculture depend on pollinators? Lessons from long-term trends in crop production. *Annals of Botany*, **103**, 1579–1588.

- Aizen, M.A. & Harder, L.D. (2009) The global stock of domesticated honey bees is growing slower than agricultural demand for pollination. *Current Biology*, **19**, 915–918.
- Albrecht, M., Duelli, P., Müller, C., Kleijn, D. & Schmid, B. (2007) The Swiss agri-environment scheme enhances pollinator diversity and plant reproductive success in nearby intensively managed farmland. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **44**, 813–822.
- Balzan, M. V., Bocci, G. & Moonen, A.-C.C. (2014) Augmenting flower trait diversity in wildflower strips to optimise the conservation of arthropod functional groups for multiple agroecosystem services. *Journal of Insect Conservation*, **18**, 713–728.
- Barden, J.A. & Neilsen, G.H. (2003) Selecting the orchard site, site preparation and orchard planning and establishment. *Apples: botany, production and uses*, pp. 237–265. CABI, Wallingford.
- Bartomeus, I., Park, M.G., Gibbs, J., Danforth, B.N., Lakso, A.N. & Winfree, R. (2013) Biodiversity ensures plant-pollinator phenological synchrony against climate change. *Ecology letters*, 16, 1331–8.
- Bates, D., Mächler, M. & Bolker, B. (2012) Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. *Journal* of Statistical Software, **67**, 51.
- Bergh, J.C. & Short, B.D. (2008) Ecological and life-history notes on syrphid predators of woolly apple aphid in Virginia, with emphasis on Heringia calcarata. *BioControl*, **53**, 773–786.
- Biddinger, D.J., Robertson, J.L., Mullin, C., Frazier, J., Ashcraft, S.A., Rajotte, E.G., Joshi, N.K. &
 Vaughn, M. (2013) Comparative toxicities and synergism of apple orchard pesticides to *Apis* mellifera (L.) and Osmia cornifrons (Radoszkowski). *PLoS ONE*, 8, 1–6.
- Blaauw, B.R. & Isaacs, R. (2014) Flower plantings increase wild bee abundance and the pollination services provided to a pollination-dependent crop. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 51, 890–898.
- Blitzer, E.J., Gibbs, J., Park, M.G. & Danforth, B.N. (2016) Pollination services for apple are dependent on diverse wild bee communities. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 221, 1–7.
- Bommarco, R., Kleijn, D. & Potts, S.G. (2013) Ecological intensification: harnessing ecosystem services for food security. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, **28**, 230–8.
- Branquart, E. & Hemptinne, J.-L. (2000) Selectivity in the exploitation of floral resources by hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphinae). *Ecography*, **23**, 732–742.
- Breeze, T.D., Bailey, A.P., Balcombe, K.G. & Potts, S.G. (2011) Pollination services in the UK: How important are honeybees? *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **142**, 137–143.
- Brittain, C., Kremen, C. & Klein, A.-M. (2014) Biodiversity buffers pollination from changes in

environmental conditions. *Global Change Biology*, **19**, 540–547.

- Brittain, C. & Potts, S.G. (2011) The potential impacts of insecticides on the life-history traits of bees and the consequences for pollination. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, **12**, 321–331.
- Brittain, C., Williams, N., Kremen, C. & Klein, A. (2013) Synergistic effects of non-Apis bees and honey bees for pollination services. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 280, 20122767.
- Brown, M.. (2004) Role of aphid predator guild in controlling spirea aphid populations on apple in West Virginia, USA. *Biological Control*, **29**, 189–198.
- Bruppacher, L., Pellet, J., Arlettaz, R. & Humbert, J. (2016) Simple modifications of mowing regime promote butterflies in extensively managed meadows: Evidence from field-scale experiments. *Biological Conservation*, **196**, 196–202.
- Buri, P., Humbert, J.Y. & Arlettaz, R. (2014) Promoting pollinating insects in intensive agricultural matrices: Field-scale experimental manipulation of hay-meadow mowing regimes and its effects on bees. *PLoS ONE*, **9**, e85635.
- Campbell, A.J., Biesmeijer, J.C., Varma, V. & Wäckers, F.L. (2012) Realising multiple ecosystem services based on the response of three beneficial insect groups to floral traits and trait diversity. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, **13**, 363–370.
- Carreck, N.L., Williams, I.H. & Little, D.J. (1997) The movement of honey bee colonies for crop pollination and honey production by beekeepers in Great Britain. *Bee World*, **78**, 67–77.
- Carvalheiro, L.G., Seymour, C.L., Nicolson, S.W. & Veldtman, R. (2012) Creating patches of native flowers facilitates crop pollination in large agricultural fields: Mango as a case study. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **49**, 1373–1383.
- Carvell, C., Meek, W.R., Pywell, R.F., Goulson, D. & Nowakowski, M. (2007) Comparing the efficacy of agri-environment schemes to enhance bumble bee abundance and diversity on arable field margins. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **44**, 29–40.
- Carvell, C., Osborne, J.L., Bourke, A.F.G., Freeman, S.N., Pywell, R.F. & Heard, M.S. (2011) Bumble bee species' responses to a targeted conservation measure depend on landscape context and habitat quality. *Ecological Applications*, **21**, 1760–71.
- Carvell, C., Roy, D.B., Smart, S.M., Pywell, R.F., Preston, C.D. & Goulson, D. (2006) Declines in forage availability for bumblebees at a national scale. *Biological Conservation*, **132**, 481– 489.
- Cizek, O., Zamecnik, J., Tropek, R., Kocarek, P. & Konvicka, M. (2012) Diversification of mowing regime increases arthropods diversity in species-poor cultural hay meadows. *Journal of Insect Conservation*, **16**, 215–226.

- Corbet, S.A., Fussell, M., Ake, R., Fraser, A., Gunson, C., Savage, A. & Smith, K. (1993) Temperature and the pollinating activity of social bees. *Ecological Entomology*, **18**, 17–30.
- Dennis, F.J., Ferree, D.C. & Warrington, I.J. (2003) *Apples: Botany, Production and Uses* (eds D.C. Ferree & I.J. Warrington). CABI, Wallingford.
- FAO. (2017) FAOSTAT Crop Data, http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QC
- Feltham, H., Park, K., Minderman, J. & Goulson, D. (2015) Experimental evidence that wildflower strips increase pollinator visits to crops. *Ecology and Evolution*, **5**, 3523–3530.
- Free, J.B. (1964) Comparison of the importance of insect and wind pollination of apple trees. *Nature*, **201**, 726–727.
- Free, J.B. (1968) Dandelion as a competitor to fruit trees for bee visits. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **5**, 169–178.
- García, R.R. & Miñarro, M. (2014) Role of floral resources in the conservation of pollinator communities in cider-apple orchards. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **183**, 118–126.
- Garibaldi, L.A., Aizen, M.A., Klein, A.M., Cunningham, S.A. & Harder, L.D. (2011a) Global growth and stability of agricultural yield decrease with pollinator dependence. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **108**, 5909–14.
- Garibaldi, L.A., Carvalheiro, L.G., Leonhardt, S.D., Aizen, M.A., Blaauw, B.R., Isaacs, R., Kuhlmann,
 M., Kleijn, D., Klein, A.M., Kremen, C., Morandin, L., Scheper, J. & Winfree, R. (2014) From
 research to action: Enhancing crop yield through wild pollinators. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, **12**, 439–447.
- Garibaldi, L.A., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Winfree, R., Aizen, M.A., Bommarco, R., Cunningham, S.A.,
 Kremen, C., Carvalheiro, L.G., Harder, L.D., Afik, O., Bartomeus, I., Benjamin, F., Boreux, V.,
 Cariveau, D., Chacoff, N.P., Dudenhöffer, J.H., Freitas, B.M., Ghazoul, J., Greenleaf, S.,
 Hipólito, J., Holzschuh, A., Howlett, B., Isaacs, R., Javorek, S.K., Kennedy, C.M., Krewenka,
 K.M., Krishnan, S., Mandelik, Y., Mayfield, M.M., Motzke, I., Munyuli, T., Nault, B.A., Otieno,
 M., Petersen, J., Pisanty, G., Potts, S.G., Rader, R., Ricketts, T.H., Rundlöf, M., Seymour, C.L.,
 Schüepp, C., Szentgyörgyi, H., Taki, H., Tscharntke, T., Vergara, C.H., Viana, B.F., Wanger,
 T.C., Westphal, C., Williams, N. & Klein, A.M. (2013) Wild pollinators enhance fruit set of
 crops regardless of honey bee abundance. *Science*, **340**, 1608–1611.
- Garibaldi, L., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Kremen, C., Morales, J.M., Bommarco, R., Cunningham, S.A., Carvalheiro, L.G., Chacoff, N.P., Dudenhoeffer, J.H. & Greenleaf, S.S. (2011b) Stability of pollination services decreases with isolation from natural areas despite honey bee visits. *Ecology Letters*, **14**, 1062–1072.

- Garratt, M.P.D., Breeze, T.D., Jenner, N., Polce, C., Biesmeijer, J.C. & Potts, S.G. (2014a) Avoiding a bad apple: Insect pollination enhances fruit quality and economic value. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **184**, 34–40.
- Garratt, M.P.D., Truslove, C.L., Coston, D.J., Evans, R.L., Moss, E.D., Dodson, C., Jenner, N.,
 Biesmeijer, J.C. & Potts, S.G. (2014b) Pollination deficits in UK apple orchards. *Journal of Pollination Ecology*, **12**, 9–14.
- Garratt, M.P.D., Truslove, C.L., Coston, D.J., Evans, R.L., Moss, E.D., Dodson, C., Jenner, N.,
 Biesmeijer, J.C. & Potts, S.G. (2014c) Pollination deficits in UK apple orchards. *Journal of Pollination Ecology*, **12**, 9–14.
- Gathmann, A. & Tscharntke, T. (2002) Foraging ranges of solitary bees. Journal of Animal Ecology, 71, 757–764.
- Gill, R.J., Ramos-Rodriguez, O. & Raine, N.E. (2012) Combined pesticide exposure severely affects individual- and colony-level traits in bees. *Nature*, **491**, 105–108.
- Godfray, H.C.J., Blacquière, T., Field, L.M., Hails, R.S., Petrokofsky, G., Potts, S.G., Raine, N.E.,
 Vanbergen, A.J. & Mclean, A.R. (2014) A restatement of the natural science evidence base concerning neonicotinoid insecticides and insect pollinators. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, 281, 20140558.
- Goulson, D. (2000) Are insects flower constant because they use search images to find flowers? *Oikos*, **88**, 547–552.
- Grab, H., Blitzer, E.J., Danforth, B., Loeb, G. & Poveda, K. (2017) Temporally dependent pollinator competition and facilitation with mass flowering crops affects yield in co-blooming crops. *Scientific Reports*, **7**, 45296.
- Greenleaf, S.S., Williams, N.M., Winfree, R. & Kremen, C. (2007) Bee foraging ranges and their relationship to body size. *Oecologia*, **153**, 589–596.
- Haaland, C., Naisbit, R.E. & Bersier, L.-F.F. (2011) Sown wildflower strips for insect conservation: a review. *Insect Conservation and Diversity*, **4**, 60–80.
- Haenke, S., Scheid, B., Schaefer, M., Tscharntke, T. & Thies, C. (2009) Increasing syrphid fly diversity and density in sown flower strips within simple vs. complex landscapes. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **46**, 1106–1114.
- Hanley, M.E., Franco, M., Dean, C.E., Franklin, E.L., Harris, H.R., Haynes, A.G., Rapson, S.R.,
 Rowse, G., Thomas, K.C., Waterhouse, B.R. & Knight, M.E. (2011) Increased bumblebee
 abundance along the margins of a mass flowering crop: Evidence for pollinator spill-over. *Oikos*, **120**, 1618–1624.

Hendrickx, F., Maelfait, J.P., Van Wingerden, W., Schweiger, O., Speelmans, M., Aviron, S.,

Augenstein, I., Billeter, R., Bailey, D., Bukacek, R., Burel, F., Diekötter, T., Dirksen, J., Herzog, F., Liira, J., Roubalova, M., Vandomme, V. & Bugter, R. (2007) How landscape structure, land-use intensity and habitat diversity affect components of total arthropod diversity in agricultural landscapes. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **44**, 340–351.

- Hill, P.S.M., Wells, P.H. & Wells, H. (1997) Spontaneous flower constancy and learning in honey bees as a function of colour. *Animal Behaviour*, 54, 615–627.
- Hoehn, P., Tscharntke, T., Tylianakis, J.M. & Steffan-Dewenter, I. (2008) Functional group diversity of bee pollinators increases crop yield. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **275**, 2283–2291.
- Holzschuh, A., Dormann, C.F., Tscharntke, T. & Steffan-Dewenter, I. (2013) Mass-flowering crops enhance wild bee abundance. *Oecologia*, **172**, 477–484.
- Holzschuh, A., Dudenhöffer, J. & Tscharntke, T. (2012) Landscapes with wild bee habitats enhance pollination, fruit set and yield of sweet cherry. *Biological Conservation*, **153**, 101– 107.
- Humbert, J.Y., Ghazoul, J., Sauter, G.J. & Walter, T. (2010) Impact of different meadow mowing techniques on field invertebrates. *Journal of Applied Entomology*, **134**, 592–599.
- Isaacs, R. & Kirk, A.K. (2010) Pollination services provided to small and large highbush blueberry fields by wild and managed bees. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **47**, 841–849.
- Kells, A.R. & Goulson, D. (2003) Preferred nesting sites of bumblebee queens (Hymenoptera: Apidae) in agroecosystems in the UK. *Biological Conservation*, **109**, 165–174.
- Kennedy, C.M., Lonsdorf, E., Neel, M.C., Williams, N.M., Ricketts, T.H., Winfree, R., Bommarco, R., Brittain, C., Burley, A.L., Cariveau, D., Carvalheiro, L.G., Chacoff, N.P., Cunningham, S.A., Danforth, B.N., Dudenhoffer, J.H., Elle, E., Gaines, H.R., Garibaldi, L.A., Gratton, C., Holzschuh, A., Isaacs, R., Javorek, S.K., Jha, S., Klein, A.M., Krewenka, K., Mandelik, Y., Mayfield, M.M., Morandin, L., Neame, L.A., Otieno, M., Park, M., Potts, S.G., Rundlof, M., Saez, A., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Taki, H., Viana, B.F., Westphal, C., Wilson, J.K., Greenleaf, S.S. & Kremen, C. (2013) A global quantitative synthesis of local and landscape effects on wild bee pollinators in agroecosystems. *Ecology Letters*, **16**, 584–599.
- Klein, A.A.-M., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Tscharntke, T., Steffan–Dewenter, I. & Tscharntke, T. (2003)
 Fruit set of highland coffee increases with the diversity of pollinating bees. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, **270**, 955–961.
- Klein, A.-M., Vaissiere, B.E., Cane, J.H., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Cunningham, S.A., Kremen, C. & Tscharntke, T. (2007) Importance of pollinators in changing landscapes for world crops.
 Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, **274**, 303–313.

- Kremen, C., Williams, N.M., Bugg, R.L., Fay, J.P. & Thorp, R.W. (2004) The area requirements of an ecosystem service: crop pollination by native bee communities in California. *Ecology Letters*, 7, 1109–1119.
- Kremen, C., Williams, N.M. & Thorp, R.W. (2002) Crop pollination from native bees at risk from agricultural intensification. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **99**, 16812–16816.
- Lenth, R. V. (2016) Least-Squares Means: The R Package Ismeans. *Journal of Statistical Software*, **69**, 1–33.
- Mallinger, R.E., Gibbs, J. & Gratton, C. (2016) Diverse landscapes have a higher abundance and species richness of spring wild bees by providing complementary floral resources over bees' foraging periods. *Landscape Ecology*, **31**, 1523–1535.
- Mallinger, R.E., Werts, P. & Gratton, C. (2015) Pesticide use within a pollinator-dependent crop has negative effects on the abundance and species richness of sweat bees, *Lasioglossum* spp., and on bumble bee colony growth. *Journal of Insect Conservation*, **19**, 999–1010.
- Marini, L., Quaranta, M., Fontana, P., Biesmeijer, J.C. & Bommarco, R. (2012) Landscape context and elevation affect pollinator communities in intensive apple orchards. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, **13**, 681–689.
- Martins, K.T., Gonzalez, A. & Lechowicz, M.J. (2015) Pollination services are mediated by bee functional diversity and landscape context. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **200**, 12–20.
- Merwin, I.A., Ferree, D.C. & Warrington, I.J. (2003) Orchard-floor management systems. *Apples: Botany, production and uses* (eds D.C. Ferree & I.J. Warrington), pp. 303–344. CABI
 Publishing, Wallingford, UK.
- Neumann, P. & Carreck, N.L. (2010) Honey bee colony losses. *Journal of Apicultural Research*, **49**, 1–6.
- Nicholls, C.I. & Altieri, M.A. (2013) Plant biodiversity enhances bees and other insect pollinators in agroecosystems. A review. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, **33**, 257–274.
- Oliver, T., Roy, D.B., Hill, J.K., Brereton, T. & Thomas, C.D. (2010) Heterogeneous landscapes promote population stability. *Ecology Letters*, **13**, 473–484.
- Ostaff, D.P., Mosseler, A., Johns, R.C., Javorek, S., Klymko, J. & Ascher, J.S. (2015) Willows (*Salix* spp.) as pollen and nectar sources for sustaining fruit and berry pollinating insects. *HortTechnology*, **95**, 505–516.
- Park, M.G., Blitzer, E.J., Gibbs, J., Losey, J.E. & Danforth, B.N. (2015a) Negative effects of pesticides on wild bee communities can be buffered by landscape context. *Proceedings of*

the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 282, 20150299.

- Park, M., Danforth, B., Losey, J., Agnello, A., Biddinger, D., Rajotte, E., Vaughan, M. & Jolie, G.-D.
 (2015b) Wild Pollinators of Eastern Apple Orchards and How to Conserve Them, Second Edi.
 Cornell University, Penn State University, and The Xerces Society.
- Peters, V.E., Carroll, C.R., Cooper, R.J., Greenberg, R. & Solis, M. (2013) The contribution of plant species with a steady-state flowering phenology to native bee conservation and bee pollination services. *Insect Conservation and Diversity*, **6**, 45–56.
- Polce, C., Garratt, M.P.D., Termansen, M., Ramirez-Villegas, J., Challinor, A.J., Lappage, M.G., Boatman, N.D., Crowe, A., Endalew, A.M., Potts, S.G., Somerwill, K.E. & Biesmeijer, J.C. (2014) Climate-driven spatial mismatches between British orchards and their pollinators: Increased risks of pollination deficits. *Global Change Biology*, **20**, 2815–2828.
- Potts, S.G., Biesmeijer, J., Kremen, C., Neumann, P., Schweiger, O. & Kunin, W.E. (2010a) Global pollinator declines: trends, impacts and drivers. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, **25**, 345–53.
- Potts, S.G., Imperatriz-Fonseca, V., Ngo, H.T., Aizen, M.A., Biesmeijer, J.C., Breeze, T.D., Dicks, L.
 V., Garibaldi, L.A., Hill, R., Settele, J. & Vanbergen, A.J. (2016) Safeguarding pollinators and their values to human well-being. *Nature*, 540, 220–229.
- Potts, S.G., Roberts, S.P.M., Dean, R., Marris, G., Brown, M.A., Jones, R., Neumann, P. & Settele, J. (2010b) Declines of managed honey bees and beekeepers in Europe. *Journal of Apicultural Research*, **49**, 15–22.
- Pywell, R.F., Meek, W.R., Hulmes, L., Hulmes, S., James, K.L., Nowakowski, M. & Carvell, C. (2011)
 Management to enhance pollen and nectar resources for bumblebees and butterflies
 within intensively farmed landscapes. *Journal of Insect Conservation*, **15**, 853–864.
- Pywell, R.F., Meek, W.R., Hulmes, L. & Nowakowski, M. (2007) Creation and Management of Pollen and Nectar Habitats on Farmland. Creating Pollen and Nectar Habitat Annual Report 2006/7. Huntingdon.
- Pywell, R.F., Warman, E.A., Carvell, C., Sparks, T.H., Dicks, L. V., Bennett, D., Wright, A., Critchley,
 C.N.R. & Sherwood, A. (2005) Providing foraging resources for bumblebees in intensively
 farmed landscapes. *Biological Conservation*, **121**, 479–494.
- R Core Team. (2017) *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Rader, R., Reilly, J., Bartomeus, I. & Winfree, R. (2013) Native bees buffer the negative impact of climate warming on honey bee pollination of watermelon crops. *Global Change Biology*, **19**, 3103–3110.

Ramírez, F. & Davenport, T.L. (2013) Apple pollination: A review. Scientia Horticulturae, 162,

188-203.

- Ramsden, M.W., Menéndez, R., Leather, S.R. & Wäckers, F. (2015) Optimizing field margins for biocontrol services: The relative role of aphid abundance, annual floral resources, and overwinter habitat in enhancing aphid natural enemies. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, **199**, 94–104.
- Ricketts, T.H., Regetz, J., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Cunningham, S.A., Kremen, C., Bogdanski, A.,
 Gemmill-Herren, B., Greenleaf, S.S., Klein, A.M., Mayfield, M.M., Morandin, L.A., Ochieng,
 A., Potts, S.G. & Viana, B.F. (2008) Landscape effects on crop pollination services: Are there
 general patterns? *Ecology Letters*, **11**, 499–515.
- Roulston, T.H. & Goodell, K. (2011) The role of resources and risks in regulating wild bee populations. *Annual Review of Entomology*, **56**, 293–312.
- Sapir, G., Baras, Z., Azmon, G., Goldway, M., Shafir, S., Allouche, A., Stern, E. & Stern, R.A. (2017)
 Synergistic effects between bumblebees and honey bees in apple orchards increase cross
 pollination, seed number and fruit size. *Scientia Horticulturae*, **219**, 107–117.
- Saunders, M.E., Luck, G.W. & Mayfield, M.M. (2013) Almond orchards with living ground cover host more wild insect pollinators. *Journal of Insect Conservation*, **17**, 1011–1025.
- Scheper, J., Bommarco, R., Holzschuh, A., Potts, S.G., Riedinger, V., Roberts, S.P.M., Rundlöf, M., Smith, H.G., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Wickens, J.B., Wickens, V.J. & Kleijn, D. (2015) Local and landscape-level floral resources explain effects of wildflower strips on wild bees across four European countries. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **52**, 1165–1175.
- Sheffield, C.S., Westby, S.M., Smith, R.F. & Kevan, P.G. (2008) Potential of bigleaf lupine for building and sustaining *Osmia lignaria* populations for pollination of apple. *The Canadian Entomologist*, **140**, 589–599.
- Sjödin, N.E., Bengtsson, J. & Ekbom, B. (2008) The influence of grazing intensity and landscape composition on the diversity and abundance of flower-visiting insects. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **45**, 763–772.
- Stanley, D.A., Garratt, M.P.D., Wickens, J.B., Wickens, V.J., Potts, S.G. & Raine, N.E. (2015)
 Neonicotinoid pesticide exposure impairs crop pollination services provided by
 bumblebees. *Nature*, **528**, 548–550.
- Stewart, K.E.J., Bourn, N.A.D. & Thomas, J.A. (2001) An evaluation of three quick methods commonly used to assess sward height in ecology. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **38**, 1148– 1154.
- Sumner, D. & Boriss, H. (2006) Bee-conomics and the leap in pollination fees. *Agricultural and Resource Economics Update*, **9**, 9–11.

- Svensson, B., Lagerlof, J. & Svensson, G. (2000) Habitat preferences of nest-seeking bumble bees (Hymenoptera: Apidae) in an agricultural landscape. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **77**, 247–255.
- Vanbergen, A.J. & Garratt, M.P. (2013) Threats to an ecosystem service: Pressures on pollinators. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, **11**, 251–259.
- Vattala, H.D., Wratten, S.D., Phillips, C.B. & Wäckers, F.L. (2006) The influence of flower morphology and nectar quality on the longevity of a parasitoid biological control agent. *Biological Control*, **39**, 179–185.
- Vicens, N. & Bosch, J. (2000a) Weather-Dependent Pollinator Activity in an Apple Orchard, with Special Reference to *Osmia cornuta* and *Apis mellifera* (Hymenoptera: Megachilidae and Apidae). *Environmental Entomology*, **29**, 413–420.
- Vicens, N. & Bosch, J. (2000b) Weather-dependent pollinator activity in an apple orchard, with special reference to Osmia cornuta and Apis mellifera (Hymenoptera:Megachilidae and Apidae). Physiological and Chemical Ecology, 29, 413–420.
- Volz, R.K., Tustin, D.S. & Ferguson, I.B. (1996) Pollination effects on fruit mineral composition, seeds and cropping characteristics of 'Braeburn' apple trees. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 66, 169–180.
- Wastian, L., Unterweger, P.A. & Betz, O. (2016) Influence of the reduction of urban lawn mowing on wild bee diversity (Hymenoptera, Apoidea). *Journal of Hymenoptera Research*, 49, 51– 63.
- Westphal, C., Steffan-Dewenter, I. & Tscharntke, T. (2003) Mass flowering crops enhance pollinator densities at a landscape scale. *Ecology Letters*, **6**, 961–965.
- Westphal, C., Steffan-Dewenter, I. & Tscharntke, T. (2009) Mass flowering oilseed rape improves early colony growth but not sexual reproduction of bumblebees. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **46**, 187–193.
- Whitehorn, P.R., O'Connor, S., Wackers, F.L. & Goulson, D. (2012) Neonicotinoid pesticide reduces bumble bee colony growth and queen production. *Science*, **336**, 351–352.
- Wickham, H. (2009) ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis.
- Williams, N.M. & Kremen, C. (2007) Resource distributions among habitats determine solitary bee offspring production in a mosaic landscape. *Ecological Applications*, **17**, 910–921.
- Winfree, R., Williams, N.M., Dushoff, J. & Kremen, C. (2007) Native bees provide insurance against ongoing honey bee losses. *Ecology Letters*, **10**, 1105–1113.
- Wolf, S. & Moritz, R.F.A. (2008) Foraging distance in *Bombus terrestris* L. (Hymenoptera: Apidae). *Apidologie*, **39**, 419–427.

- Wratten, S.D., Gillespie, M., Decourtye, A., Mader, E. & Desneux, N. (2012) Pollinator habitat enhancement: Benefits to other ecosystem services. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, **159**, 112–122.
- Zurbuchen, A., Landert, L., Klaiber, J., Müller, A., Hein, S. & Dorn, S. (2010) Maximum foraging ranges in solitary bees: only few individuals have the capability to cover long foraging distances. *Biological Conservation*, **143**, 669–676.

Chapter 5:

The benefits of insect pollination to apple yield and fruit quality



(Andrena sp. foraging on 'Gala' apple flowers)

Chapter 5:

The benefits of insect pollination to apple yield and fruit quality

5.1 Abstract

The majority of crop species depend on biotic pollination for improved yields. Whilst there is growing evidence for the extent of pollination dependency in different crops, there are still knowledge gaps in varietal differences and the importance of pollination on crop quality, despite its importance to commercial value. There are also knowledge gaps relating to potential pollination deficits, which will vary depending on the pollination demand of the crop and the ability of the surrounding pollinator community, both managed and wild, to provide a pollination services. Here the pollination dependence and pollination deficits of a commercially important apple variety, 'Gala', are investigated. The methods commonly used to test for pollination dependence and pollination deficits, pollinator exclusion and supplementary pollination, are tested at three experimental scales: the inflorescence, the branch, and the entire tree. 'Gala' apple yields were shown to be highly pollinator dependent; grand means of the scale experiments showed that following pollinator exclusion yields fell to 55%. Supplementary hand pollination led yields to increase to 167% of current rates, showing that pollination deficits existed in the study orchards. Seed set was also significantly affected by pollination rates, and seed numbers were shown to significantly improve a number of fruit quality measurements, and to result in greater production of Class 1 fruit. This shows that apple quality is also dependent on pollination and that seed count may be used as an indicator for fruit quality. Growers are recommended to record seed count as part of their fruit quality monitoring programmes to give an indication of potential pollination deficits. Recommendations are made on the scale at which pollination dependence and deficit studies are conducted and the potential pollinating effectiveness of a suite of apple flower visitors is discussed.

5.2 Introduction

Pollinator dependent crops represent 75% of global crop species and are some of our most valuable foodstuffs both in terms of financial worth and nutritional content (Klein *et al.* 2007; Aizen *et al.* 2009; Eilers *et al.* 2011; Chaplin-Kramer *et al.* 2014). The degree to which pollinator dependent crops rely on insect pollinators varies; oilseed rape can receive an 18% boost to

yields when pollinated (Bommarco, Marini & Vaissière 2012), canola yields can be improved by 46% (Sabbahi, De Oliveira & Marceau 2005), and macadamia yields can be 185% greater following pollination (Grass et al. 2018). Pollination is also important for crop quality; as well as coffee fruit numbers being enhanced by 49%, fruit weight was found to increase by an additional 7% following pollination (Roubik 2002). Strawberry yields have been shown to increase by 39% with bee pollination, with significant improvements in fruit quality and crop value (Klatt et al. 2014). For some other crops, including many fruit crops, pollination may be even more essential to production (Klein et al. 2007). There is now also growing evidence for varietal differences in pollination dependence, this has been observed in oilseed rape (Hudewenz et al. 2014), strawberries (Klatt et al. 2014), blueberry (Benjamin & Winfree 2014), and apples (Garratt et al. 2014a, 2016). The increased production of pollination dependent crops raises the demand for pollination services, however the declines seen in pollinator communities mean that there may be a growing risk of pollination deficits (Aizen et al. 2008; Winfree 2008; Garibaldi et al. 2011a; Potts et al. 2016, 2017). Despite the importance of pollinator dependent crops and the potential impacts of pollination deficits, there are relatively few studies which have investigated this phenomenon, though deficits have been detected in some fruit crops including apple (Garratt et al. 2014a, 2016), strawberries (Benjamin & Winfree 2014), custard apple (Pritchard & Edwards 2006), and coffee (Klein et al. 2003). Pollination deficits will vary regionally and locally and improving our knowledge of where they occur, and to what severity, could help to target efforts to support pollinator services. A better understanding of the effects of pollination on fruit yields and on fruit quality, a critical factor in determining the value of many fruit crops including apples, may also help to inform policy and improve production practices (Breeze et al. 2016).

One method to quantify pollinator dependence is through the use of pollinator exclusion experiments. Mesh bags have been used in studies testing pollination dependence in a number of crops including coffee (Roubik 2002; Steffan-Dewenter & Leschke 2003), apples (Garratt *et al.* 2014a), strawberries (Klatt *et al.* 2014), and macadamia nuts (Grass *et al.* 2018). For some flowering crops wind can be responsible for a portion of pollen transfer, but it is not considered an important vector of apple pollen (Free 1964), therefore the exclusion of insect pollinators from apple flowers effectively inhibits pollination. To establish whether a pollination deficit exists for a crop its flowers can be given supplementary pollination; for experimental studies this is usually done by hand, using paintbrushes and pollen collected from a suitable donor plant (Hopping & Simpson 1982; Button & Elle 2014; Garratt *et al.* 2014c; a; Hudewenz *et al.* 2014). The production from these supplementary pollinated flowers is then compared with others which were exposed to current or 'background' levels of pollination. The difference in production between the two can then be inferred as the pollination deficit. For studies of tree crops, these manipulations have generally been carried out at the scale of the inflorescence or the branch (Hopping & Simpson 1982; Klein *et al.* 2003; Garratt *et al.* 2014c; a; Sheffield 2014; Grass *et al.* 2018). For treatments which involve covering flowers with mesh and hand pollinating this may be the most logistically feasible method, however there is little evidence to show that the results produced are representative of the effects of different pollination levels for the whole tree. Trees are able to selectively abscise fruit under low crop loads (Dennis, Ferree & Warrington 2003) and this adaptive reallocation of resources may alter the effects of poor pollination. Commercial apple trees also generally set more fruit than is desirable and growers often 'thin' apple crops, removing excess, small or misshapen fruit to create an optimal crop load.

Apple flowers are grouped in clusters, or inflorescences, of approximately 5 flowers, though the average number may vary between varieties. Flowers are hermaphroditic and a typical flower has 5 sepals and 5 petals, with the centre of the flower having approximately 20 stamen surrounding 5 stigma and styles. Within the flower ovary there are 5 locules, each of which contains 2 ovules; the majority of apples flowers can therefore set up to a maximum of 10 seeds (Jackson 2003). If an ovule is fertilised by compatible pollen it will produce a seed which releases a number of hormones, triggering the development of a fruitlet (Jackson 2003). The majority of apple varieties are self-incompatible (Ramírez & Davenport 2013) and require pollen from a different apple variety to produce seeds. In many modern orchards 'polliniser' varieties are planted amongst the crop variety with the sole purpose of providing compatible pollen. The transfer of pollen between trees is carried out by a variety of insect vectors, the composition of which will vary both spatially and temporally, though wild bees and honey bees are thought to be the principal pollinators (Klein et al. 2007; Garratt et al. 2014a). Other species such as hoverflies and other flies may also play a more minor role in apple pollination and can be important pollinators of other crops (Rader et al. 2016). Poor apple pollination and low seed set can reduce both yields (Stern, Eisikowitch & Dag 2001; Garratt et al. 2014c) and fruit quality, leading to smaller fruit (Garratt et al. 2014a), increased asymmetry (Sheffield 2014), and reduced mineral content (Volz, Tustin & Ferguson 1996). Fruit quality is a critical deciding factor for the value of fruit crops and can have a significant impact on the value of apple production (Garratt et al. 2014a).

131

In this study, the pollination dependence and local pollination deficits of 'Gala' apples were tested using three pollination treatments: pollinator exclusion or 'closed' pollination, 'open' pollination (where insects were free to visit flowers), and 'supplementary' pollination (where as well as insect pollination flowers were pollinated by hand using a paintbrush and pollen collected from nearby polliniser varieties). To test if the observed effects of pollination intensity are affected by the scale at which it is monitored the three pollination treatments were tested at three different scales: the 'inflorescence', the 'branch', and the whole 'tree'. The effects of the pollination treatments on initial fruitlet set, fruit set at harvest, and seed set were monitored at each experimental scale. The influence of seed set on fruit quality was investigated, using fruit from this experiment and those discussed in chapters 2 and 3, and the behaviour of potential pollinators during apple blossom is discussed. It was hypothesised that greater pollination will result in improved fruitlet set, which in turn is expected to result in more fruit at harvest. It is predicted that the influence of pollination treatment on fruitlet set, and fruit set at harvest will be lower at the larger scales due to the moderating effects of fruitlet abscission and thinning. A higher number of seeds is predicted to lead to improvements in fruit quality (e.g. size and shape).

5.3 Methods

Study sites

This study took place in 2014 and 2015 on a conventionally managed commercial fruit farm near Maidstone, Kent, England. Apple orchards used in the study were aged between 4 and 8 years old and contained the variety 'Gala', grafted onto 'M9' rootstocks. Polliniser trees were a mixture of crab apples (*Malus spp.*) and the apple variety 'Golden delicious'. Tree spacing was 1 m within the row and 3.5 m between rows with polliniser trees planted between each tenth and eleventh tree, at a ratio of 1:10 with the crop variety. The blocks and plots used in this study were the same as those from one of the two farms described in Chapters 3 and 4 (see Appendix 2 for more details on management).

Pollinator abundance and behaviour

Observations of insect pollinator apple flower visits were conducted in April 2014, before the ground preparation or sowing of alleyway cover crops discussed in chapters 2, 3, and 4. Apple

blossom watches were observations of one side of a single apple tree for 5 minutes. The number of apple flowers being visited by individual insects (touching flower petals) and the number of times individuals came into contact with the centre of the flower (touching any part of the stamen or pistil) was recorded. Taxa were grouped as bumble bee, solitary bee, honey bee, hoverfly, other fly, or other insect. Six crop watches were conducted in each of the 24 plots at randomly selected trees which were at least 15 m away from the orchard edge. Crop watches were conducted between 0900 h and 1730 h, in dry, warm (>13°C) conditions, where wind speeds were below 2 on the Beaufort scale.

Pollination dependence treatments

The three experimental scales varied considerably in the number of flowers which they contained: the single 'inflorescence' scale treatments had a mean of 5.7 ± 0.2 flowers; the 'branches' had 6.9 ± 0.4 inflorescences and 37.4 ± 2.3 flowers, and the whole 'trees' had 133.3 ± 5.3 inflorescences with an estimated 741.4 ± 29.3 flowers. Flower numbers for whole trees were estimated by counting the number of inflorescences and multiplying by the average number of flowers seen per inflorescence in the 'inflorescence' scale and 'branch' scale treatments (5.55 ± 0.02). Pollination treatments at the 'inflorescence' scale were applied using methods adapted from (Garratt *et al.* 2014a).

In 2014, six trees were selected from 12 plots spread across 3 orchard blocks on one farm. Trees were evenly spaced through the plots and a minimum of 15 m from the orchard edge. Before blossom, five inflorescences of a similar developmental stage, each on different branches, were selected and randomly assigned to a pollination treatment. For the 'closed' treatment PVC mesh bags with 1.2 mm² diameter holes were used to cover two inflorescences per tree, these bags were removed once flowering had finished approximately 3 weeks later. Three inflorescences were left 'open' to insect pollination, and one of these inflorescences received 'supplementary' pollination. Supplementary hand pollination was conducted at peak blossom, with dehisced anthers being collected from the flowers of nearby polliniser trees; anthers were shaken in a petri dish to release their pollen which was then applied fresh to the all of the stigmas of the target flower using a fine paintbrush. Two inflorescences per tree were assigned to the 'closed' and 'open' treatments because yields were expected to be lower in these treatments and sufficient numbers of apples were needed for fruit quality analysis. Each inflorescence was tagged with a coloured marker to denote its treatment and the number of flowers present was

recorded: 360 inflorescences were monitored in 2014. In 2015, this experiment was repeated using a further 36 inflorescences (1 tree per plot), and was expanded to include 'branch' and 'tree' scale experiments. Along with the experimental inflorescences, 3 branches and 3 trees were monitored in each plot, all evenly spaced between through the plot and a minimum of 15 m from the orchard edge. Pollinator excluded 'branches' were covered with mosquito netting with 2.2 mm² diameter holes, and pollinator excluded 'trees' were covered with commercially available mosquito nets of the same material measuring 2.6 m high and with a base diameter of 2.6 m. Netting and nets were removed at petal fall in mid-May. Supplementary hand pollination of the whole trees was carried out up to a height of 3 m. Data from 2014 and 2015 were combined for analysis.

For all treatments the initial fruitlet set was recorded approximately four weeks after blossom had ended. The fruit set at harvest was recorded approximately one week before commercial harvest took place. At this time all fruit from the 'inflorescence' and 'branch' scale pollination treatments were collected along with a randomly selected subset of 5 fruit from each of the 'tree' scale pollination treatments. In this part of the study, 396 'inflorescences' (360 from 2014 and 36 from 2015), 36 'branches' (with 247 inflorescences), and 36 'trees' (with 4,697 inflorescences) were monitored. A total of 537, 194, and 175 apples were collected for seed set counts respectively.

Seed set and fruit quality

The seed set and fruit quality data from the pollination dependence experiment were combined with data from previous experiments to Increase the power of the statistical analyses. In total, 3,196 fruit were included in the analysis; 652 from the pollinator dependence experiment, 1,119 from the mulch experiment (Chapter 2), 1,171 from the cover crop experiment (Chapter 4), and 254 from a pilot experiment. All of these fruit were from 'Gala' apple trees grown on two commercially managed fruit farms in Kent, England (see Appendix 2 for further details on management). Fruit quality measures included: seed number, fresh weight, diameter, firmness (using a Silverline penetrometer), defects (scored as either minimal, moderate, or excessive for defects in shape or development), sugar content or Brix (using a Hanna refractometer), and dry weight (entire fruit were cut into 4 pieces and oven dried at 70°C for at least 72 hours before reweighing). Due to the combination of data sets from different experiments not all fruit quality measures were recorded for all fruit: dry weight was not measured for the fruit in the 2014

inflorescence pollination treatment, Brix and firmness were not measured for the branch or tree scale pollination treatments, and height was not measured for the fruit in the mulch or cover crop experiments.

Fruit were sorted into commercial grades based on standards produced by the Food and Agriculture Organisation (UN) standards (FAO 2010), where fruit must be greater than 60 mm in diameter or 90 g in weight, or must exceed 10.5°Brix and not be smaller than 50 mm or 70 g. Fruit which fulfilled these criteria and which showed minimal defects were scored as 'Class 1', those which fulfilled the criteria but showed more moderate defects were scored as 'Class 2', and those which did not fulfil the criteria or which displayed excessive defects were scored as 'Class 3' and were unmarketable as dessert fruit. Colour was not included as a quality measure as it is thought to be largely determined by light exposure (Corelli-Grappadelli 2003).

Statistical analysis

Data were analysed with linear mixed models and generalised linear mixed models (GLMMs) in R (R Core Team 2017) using the "Ime4" (Bates, Mächler & Bolker 2012) and "gImmADMB" (Fournier et al. 2012) packages. For the pollinator dependence experiment separate GLMMs were created for pollination treatments at each experimental scale. Initial fruitlet set was analysed as a two-column integer matrix containing the number of flowers (at the relevant experimental scale) which developed into fruitlets compared to the number which failed to set. Fruit set at harvest was analysed as a two-column integer matrix containing the number of flowers (at the relevant experimental scale) which produced fruit still present at harvest compared to the number which failed to do so. Seed set was measured as a count. Pollination treatment was the main fixed effect in all of these models and the random effects were: tree, nested within plot, nested within block. Alleyway groundcover treatment (described in Chapters 3 and 4) was included as the nested random effect 'plot': groundcover treatments were not explicitly included in the models as previous analyses had shown that they had no significant effect on fruit production. Year of harvest was included as a fixed effect for the inflorescence scale models to account for variations between 2014 and 2015. Observation-level random effects were added to reduce overdispersion in the initial fruitlet set, fruit at harvest, and seed set models for the tree scale and for the fruit at harvest model for the branch scales (Harrison 2014). Error families were binomial for the initial fruitlet set and fruit set at harvest models,

135

Poisson for the inflorescence and branch scale seed set models, and negative binomial for the tree scale seed set model.

The initial fruitlet set, fruit set at harvest, and seed set data collected at the three experimental scales were also compared between pollination treatments to ascertain whether the pollination treatments produced different result at different scales. The data were modelled with separate GLMMs with treatment scale now as the main fixed effect. The same random effects were used as above, error families were either binomial or Poisson, and observation-level random effects were included for the 'excluded' pollination treatment to reduce overdispersion.

The effect of seed number on fruit quality and class was assessed using linear mixed model regressions. Each fruit quality measure was modelled separately with seed number as the main fixed effect and tree nested within plot (groundcover treatment), block, and farm as random effects. The experiment of origin and the year of harvest were included as crossed random effects.

5.4 Results

Pollinator abundance and behaviour

Solitary bees were the most abundant pollinator taxa seen on apple flowers, with honey bees observed making the highest number of contacts with flower centres. Not all flower visitors were seen to make contact with the centre of a flower. On average, each honey bee visitor came into contact with the centre of more than 2 flowers, non-Syrphid flies on the other hand showed a far lower visitor to contact ratio of 0.33 (Figure 1).


Figure 1. Potential pollinators observed on apple flowers during blossom. "Visitors" indicates the number of individuals observed on apple flowers during crop watches. "Contacts" indicates the number of flowers which individuals appearing to feed from, making contact with the central structures of the flower (pistil or stamens).

Pollination dependence treatments

Manipulating pollination levels showed a trend of greater fruitlet set, fruit set at harvest, and seed set at every experimental scale; inflorescence, branch, and tree (Figure 2). Year showed no significant effect in the 'inflorescence' scale models on fruitlet set or fruit set at harvest, but a significant effect was seen in the seed set model. Grand means of the pollination treatments at all three experimental scales showed that, when compared to the 'open' treatments, fruitlet set increased to 207.4% with supplementary pollination, and decreased to 54.9% in the pollinator exclusion treatments. Fruit set at harvest increased to 167.3% following additional hand pollination and declined to 55.4% if pollinators were excluded. Seed set showed similar results; with supplementary pollination leading to 149.9% of 'open' treatment seed numbers and pollinator exclusion to just 22.8%.

Pollinator exclusion showed a significant reduction in fruitlet set with 21.8%, 72.8%, and 64.6% for the inflorescence, branch, and trees scale experiments respectively. By harvest the numbers of fruit had changed to 12.7%, 75.4%, and 78.6%. Supplementary pollination also showed a significant difference in fruitlet set, and the same trend of decreasing treatment effect at greater scale, with 340.7% at the inflorescence scale, 174.1% at the branch scale, and 124.8% at the tree scale. For fruit set at harvest these percentages had changed to 217.7%, 171.5%, and 116.8% respectively. Seed set was also significantly lower in the excluded treatments at 10.6%, 27.0%, and 31.1% and significant higher in the supplementary treatments at 193.2%, 122.6%, and 135.3% for the inflorescence, branch, and tree scales respectively. Although pollination treatments all showed the same trend for the benefits of increase pollination the effects were not significant at all scales (Table 1).



Pollination service and pollinator dependence measured at different scales

Figure 2. Pollination treatment effect on apple fruit set, fruit set at harvest, and seed set at three scales: the inflorescence (with a mean of 5.7 flowers), the branch (with a mean of 37.4 flowers), and the whole tree (with an estimated mean of 741.4 flowers). Mesh was used to prevent insect pollinators from coming into contact with flowers in the Excluded treatment. The Open treatment allowed insects free access to flowers and the Supplementary combined insect pollination.

p-values	Initial fruitlet set			Fruit set at harvest			Seed set		
	Open	Open	Excluded	Open	Open	Excluded	Open	Open	Excluded
Scale	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Excluded	Suppl	Suppl	Excluded	Suppl	Suppl	Excluded	Suppl	Suppl
Inflor	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
Branch	0.0074	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.416	0.0271	0.0006	<0.0001	0.0079	<0.0001
Tree	<0.0001	0.017	<0.0001	0.0991	0.2608	0.001	<0.0001	0.39	<0.0001

Table 1. The results of least square means test comparing the effects of pollination treatments on initial fruitlet set, fruit set at harvest, and seed set at three experimental scales. "Inflor" = inflorescence, "Suppl" = supplementary pollination. The treatment with the greater level of pollination (Supplementary > Open > Excluded) produced the highest result in all cases.

Comparing the outcomes of the pollination treatments between the different experimental scales shows that there were some statistically significant differences (Table 2). At the inflorescence scale initial fruitlet set was significantly lower in the 'excluded' treatment (21.8%) than for the same treatment at the branch (72.82) and tree (64.6%) scales, suggesting lower flower fertilisation, or possibly more selective fruitlet setting. Significant differences were found comparing fruit set at harvest from the supplementary pollination treatment between the inflorescence (340.7%) and the branch (171.5%) and tree (116.8%), with a declining effect size of supplementary pollination with increasing scale. Seed set was significantly higher in the supplementary pollination treatment at the inflorescence scale (193.2%) than at the branch (122.5%) or tree (135.25%) scales. It is possible that this was because a greater proportion of flowers were receptive at the time of hand pollination: flowering is not completely synchronous within the inflorescence or within the tree.

P-values	Initial fruitlet set		Fruit set at harvest			Seed set			
	Inflor	Inflor	Branch	Inflor	Inflor	Branch	Inflor	Inflor	Branch
Treatment	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Branch	Tree	Tree	Branch	Tree	Tree	Branch	Tree	Tree
Excluded	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.1813	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.3402	0.0840	0.1597	0.8577
Open	0.2160	0.5163	0.7872	0.8483	0.7716	0.5245	0.9226	0.9410	0.9980
Suppl	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.0001	0.0094	<0.0001	0.2409	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.7388

Table 2. The results of least square means tests comparing the effects pollination treatments between experiments conducted at different scales. "Inflor" = inflorescence, "Suppl" = supplementary pollination. P-values are calculated by least square means tests.

Fruit with higher seed numbers had a significantly greater diameter (p<0.0001), height (p<0.0001), fresh weight (p<0.0001), and dry weight (p<0.0001), though the effects were slight (Figure 3). Fruit firmness was not affected by seed number (p=0.682), and sugar content showed a significant though slight trend for lower sweetness with more seeds (p<0.0001). Fruit set also had a significant positive effect on fruit class, the key deciding factor of a fruits value (p<0.0001) (Figure 4).



Figure 3. The relationship between seed number and measures of apple fruit quality. Regression lines and R² values were calculated using simple linear models.



Figure 4. Apple fruit commercial class in relation to seed numbers (based on FAO standards). Class 1 is the highest class with Class 3 being unsuitable for sale as desert fruit. The number of seeds had a significant positive effect on fruit class (p<0.0001). These data are from 'Gala' apples which had been commercially thinned prior to harvest.

5.5 Discussion

The results show that 'Gala' apples are dependent on pollination for both yield and fruit quality, and that pollination deficits exist in the study orchards. The results also suggest that the scale at which pollination dependence and deficits are measured will affect the extent of the effect observed. A grand mean of the experimental scales showed that yields fell to 55.4% in the absence of pollinators, though these values ranged between 21.8%, 75.4%, and 78.6% when measured at the inflorescence, branch, and tree scales respectively. Pollination deficits were also shown to exist in the study orchards; with a grand mean yield of 167.3% following supplementary pollination. Variation existed depending on the scale at which it was measured: at the inflorescence scale yields were 217.7% of current pollination, whilst at the branch and tree scales the increase was less pronounced at 171.5% and 116.8% respectively. Supplementary pollination also resulted in increased seed set, with seed numbers at 149.9% of current

pollination levels when averaged across the experimental scales. Seed set ranged from 193.2% at the inflorescence scale, to 122.6% and 135.3% at the branch and tree scale, respectively. Greater seed set was shown to have a positive effect on several measures of fruit quality and to increase the proportion of Class 1 fruit being produced. These results concur with those of a number of other studies and further highlight the importance of pollination services to apple production (Ladurner *et al.* 2004; Garratt *et al.* 2014c; a; Sheffield 2014).

The positive effects of pollination on fruitlet set, fruit set at harvest, and seed set were seen at all three experimental scales, though there were some significant differences in the degree of their impact. As hypothesised, the effects of decreased and increased pollination appeared to be less pronounced when measured at greater scales. There are many reasons why this may be the case, including biological, cultural, and experimental factors. Fruitlets are more likely to be abscised if they have received poor pollination (Dennis, Ferree & Warrington 2003), however if a plant has a low overall fruit set the chances of abscission are reduced (Stephenson 1981; Jackson 2003). This may affect the representativeness of pollination treatments at different scales: if a single inflorescence is poorly pollinated it will have less of an effect on the overall fruit set than if a branch had received poor pollination, and less effect still when compared to the entire tree. The 'June drop' is a period roughly 4-6 weeks after blossom when trees abscise a proportion of their fruitlets, often those which have received insufficient pollination or which have suffered pest damage. The proportion of the fruit which undergo this process is thought to depend on the level of pollination received by the tree as a whole, the resources within a tree, and weather conditions (Wertheim 1973; Stephenson 1981).

Thinning of fruitlets will also affect the proportion and size of fruit at harvest; thinning is carried out to prevent a trees resources being wasted on overly small or misshapen fruit and to optimise crop loads (Byers, Ferree & Warrington 2003). If a tree has set a large number of fruit, a greater proportion of these fruit may be thinned, as unsustainably high crop loads in one year can induce biennial cropping, where trees enter boom-bust cycles of production which can reduce overall yields and make output unreliable (Jonkers 1979). Excessive crop loads may also increase the risk of branches breaking under the weight of the fruit. It is possible therefore, that a high fruit set could result in increased thinning costs, particularly in varieties which are considered to be heavy cropping, such as 'Gala', and any financial assessment should take this into account. Because hand thinning focuses on smaller, less well formed fruit, which previous studies suggest are more likely to have low seed numbers (Garratt *et al.* 2014c; a), it may lead to an

143

underestimate of the influence of pollination on fruit quality as these fruit do not reach harvest as so are not assessed for quality. Both the thinning process and the natural abscission of fruit are likely to have a moderating effect on extremes of pollination, and they may explain some of the differences observed between the treatments at different scales.

Although the trends of increased pollination were common amongst all of the scales tested, larger scale measurements of pollination service may be better at taking into account the effects of thinning and resource allocation within the tree. However, excluding pollinators from standard trees or those with wire supports may be unfeasible, and the unequal development times of flowers, along with their potential inaccessibility, means that hand pollination may not be as complete at the tree scale. Although apple tree blossoming takes place over a relatively short period flowering phenology is not completely synchronous. Within the inflorescence the apical or 'king flower' develops before the lateral flowers and is more likely to set fruitlets and produce larger fruit in many cultivars (Dennis, Ferree & Warrington 2003). Flowering times also vary between inflorescences, depending on various internal and external factors including hormone expression, temperature, light, and pruning (Landsberg 1974; Ferree & Warrington 2003). The results of the branch scale experiment were generally similar to those of the other scales, suggesting that branch scale measurements may be an appropriate compromise between feasibility and representativeness. For tree crops it is therefore recommend that pollination manipulation experiments are carried out at the branch scale if entire trees cannot be manipulated. A protocol has been developed by the FAO which provides further recommendations for conducting pollination deficit assessments (see Vaissière, Freitas & Gemmill-Herren 2011).

Fruit quality is a key deciding factor of a crop's worth, with Class 1 fruit achieving a significant premium (Garratt *et al.* 2014a). The improvements in quality and higher proportions of Class 1 fruit seen with increasing seed numbers shows that pollination is important for quality as well as yields. Fruit firmness was the only quality trait to show a significant, albeit very slight, negative trend with seed set. Similar results have been found in another study (Garratt *et al.* 2014a) and it is likely that the greater firmness is due to fruit with lower seeds numbers often being smaller and denser. It is also possible that fruit with higher seed numbers developed and ripened more quickly. Seed set will affect fruit morphology not only in terms of how many seeds there are but also how they are distributed amongst the carpels; unbalanced seed distribution may result in malformation (Brault & de Oliveira 1995; Sheffield 2014). Repeated visitation, and visitation

from different pollinator taxa, may help to ensure more comprehensive fertilisation (Stern, Eisikowitch & Dag 2001; Sapir *et al.* 2017).

The results of the insect pollinator apple blossom watches showed that differences in pollinator behaviour may make abundance a poor indicator of a taxa's contribution to pollination. During the crop watches many flies were observed on apple flowers, but were relatively rarely seen to come into contact with the reproductive structures at the centre of the flower. The chances of pollen transfer were therefore comparatively low for these species. Although they were less abundant than flies, honey bees came into contact with far more flower centres. The more active foraging behaviour of honey bees may explain why they accounted for a greater proportion of pollinators observed during the walked transects detailed in Chapter 4 (54% of individuals observed), when compared to the crop watches (20% of individuals observed). It may be that the higher rate of flower visitation made them more visible, leading to an overestimate of their relative numbers during transects. It is also possible that these differences were due to changes in abundance between the years as bee keepers may have moved their hives. Even coming into contact with the reproductive structures of the flowers does not necessarily indicate a pollination event. Honey bee visits have been shown to result in fewer pollen grains being deposited than visits from wild bees (Vicens & Bosch 2000a; Thomson & Goodell 2001; Martins, Gonzalez & Lechowicz 2015). This is in part because of honey bee foraging behaviour; honey bees often "side-work" flowers, where they perch on a petal and extend their tongues through the stamen filaments near their base to access the nectar. This behaviour lowers the chances of pollen grains on the anthers attaching to the bees or of pollen on the body of the insect coming into contact with the stigmas (Stern, Eisikowitch & Dag 2001; Thomson & Goodell 2001). Many of the honey bees which visited apple flowers during the crop-watches exhibited this behaviour, whilst solitary bees and bumblebees were often seen in close contact with both the stigmas and anthers as they sought out nectar and pollen. Hoverflies are also thought to be less efficient apple pollinators than wild bees (Garratt et al. 2016) and they, like the side-working honey bees, may be more focused on collecting nectar as much of their protein and nutrients demand are met during their predatory larval stages. As well as behaviour, the efficacy of a pollinator species is decided by their phenological and physical traits (Garibaldi et al. 2015; Blitzer et al. 2016). Many solitary bees collect pollen on scopa, specialised hairs covering much of the underside of their bodies, whilst bumble bees and honey bees store pollen in corbiculae, or pollen baskets, on their hind legs where it may be less likely to come into contact with stigmas. Solitary bees and bumble bees are thought to be particularly effective pollinators of a variety of crops, including

145

apples, and these wild species are key for apple production in many areas (Ladurner *et al.* 2004; Monzon, Bosch & Retana 2004; Garibaldi *et al.* 2013; Sheffield 2014; Garratt *et al.* 2014a, 2016; Garantonakis *et al.* 2016; Sapir *et al.* 2017).

In some regions, apple pollination is almost completely reliant on honey bees (Marini et al. 2012), whilst in others it is performed by a diverse range of wild species (Blitzer et al. 2016; Földesi et al. 2016). This wide variation shows that whilst a crop may always be pollination dependent, pollination services vary between regions and pollination deficiencies may exist which require local assessment and remediation. Pollinator communities are in significant decline in some regions and are subject to a range of threats (Potts et al. 2016). It is important that this trend is reversed if the demand for pollination services are to meet (Klein et al. 2007; Garibaldi et al. 2011a). Growers who are currently paying to hire honey bee hives may find that supporting wild pollinators and enhancing pollination services from wild species reduces the need for this financial outlay, and wild pollinators have been shown to improve pollination services regardless of honey bee visits (Greenleaf & Kremen 2006; Garibaldi et al. 2011b, 2013). Efforts should be taken to reduce the harmful effects of intensive agriculture on pollinators and to increase the availability of floral resources and other habitat, as discussed in Chapter 4. Maintaining pollinator diversity is important as taxa can have synergistic effects on flower pollination (Brittain et al. 2013; Sapir et al. 2017) and are active under different weather conditions (Vicens & Bosch 2000b; Hansted et al. 2014). Climate change may affect both the areas in which crops can be grown and the diversity of potential pollinators (Imbach et al. 2017).

In this study the number of times a potential pollinator made contact with the structures at centre of the flower was recorded; it is recommend that for future studies wishing to quantify the contributions of different taxa that records should instead be taken of instances where contact was made with the anthers and stigmas alone, as this may give a more accurate indication of how much pollination is actually being performed. Knowing the identity of crop pollinators can help to improve management efforts to protect and enhance these beneficial species (Garratt *et al.* 2014b). For this reason, it is also recommended that future studies identify potential pollinators to greater taxonomic resolution, to species levels if possible.

In conclusion, the results of this study provide further evidence that the apple variety 'Gala', one of the most commercially important varieties in the UK and elsewhere (Garratt *et al.* 2014a), is pollination dependent; with 55.4% of yields depending on pollination. There was a strong trend

showing lower rates of pollination resulting in lower production, and increased pollination resulting in improved production, at all scales. Evidence was also found for pollination deficits, with potential increases of yield to 167.3% of current production in orchards where the study was conducted. Variation in pollination treatment effect was seen at different spatial scales and it is recommend that, where possible, pollination dependence and deficit measurements are carried out at the plant scale, or for tree crops the more feasible branch scale. Seed set was also strongly affected by pollination treatment, and the number of seeds was shown to have a significant positive effect on fruit quality, therefore pollination dependence and pollination deficit were also found for fruit quality. It is advised that growers record seed set as part of their routine monitoring of fruit quality and development as this will give an indication of pollination levels in their orchards and may alert them to potential deficits. Whilst resource allocation and adaptive abscission may help to reduce the impact of poor pollination there is little that can be done to increase a year's production once low seed set and low fruit set occur. A diverse community of pollinators were observed during blossom, the majority of them wild species. The findings of this study highlight the importance of supporting wild pollinator communities and of enhancing pollination services for apple production.

5.6 Acknowledgements

Part of this work was conducted with and alongside the NPPMS apple project conducted by M. P. D. Garratt.

5.7 References

- Aizen, M.A., Garibaldi, L.A., Cunningham, S.A. & Klein, A.M. (2008) Long-term global trends in crop yield and production reveal no current pollination shortage but increasing pollinator dependency. *Current Biology*, **18**, 1572–1575.
- Aizen, M.A., Garibaldi, L.A., Cunningham, S.A. & Klein, A.M. (2009) How much does agriculture depend on pollinators? Lessons from long-term trends in crop production. *Annals of Botany*, **103**, 1579–1588.
- Bates, D., Mächler, M. & Bolker, B. (2012) Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, **67**, 51.
- Benjamin, F.E. & Winfree, R. (2014) Lack of pollinators limits fruit production in commercial blueberry (Vaccinium corymbosum). Environmental Entomology, 43, 1574–1583.

- Blitzer, E.J., Gibbs, J., Park, M.G. & Danforth, B.N. (2016) Pollination services for apple are dependent on diverse wild bee communities. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 221, 1–7.
- Bommarco, R., Marini, L. & Vaissière, B.E. (2012) Insect pollination enhances seed yield, quality, and market value in oilseed rape. *Oecologia*, **169**, 1025–1032.
- Brault, A.M. & de Oliveira, D. (1995) Seed number and an asymmetry index of 'McIntosh' apples. *HortScience*, **30**, 44–46.
- Breeze, T.D., Gallai, N., Garibaldi, L.A. & Li, X.S. (2016) Economic measures of pollination services: shortcomings and future directions. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, **31**, 927–939.
- Brittain, C., Williams, N., Kremen, C. & Klein, A. (2013) Synergistic effects of non-*Apis* bees and honey bees for pollination services. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 280, 20122767.
- Button, L. & Elle, E. (2014) Wild bumble bees reduce pollination deficits in a crop mostly visited by managed honey bees. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **197**, 255–263.
- Byers, R.E., Ferree, D.C. & Warrington, I.J. (2003) *Apples: Botany, Production and Uses* (eds D.C. Ferree & I.J. Warrington). CABI, Wallingford.
- Chaplin-Kramer, R., Dombeck, E., Gerber, J., Knuth, K.A., Mueller, N.D., Mueller, M., Ziv, G. & Klein, A.-M. (2014) Global malnutrition overlaps with pollinator-dependent micronutrient production. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **281**, 20141799.

Corelli-Grappadelli, L. (2003) Light Relations. Apples: Botany, Production and Uses, 195–216.

- Dennis, F.J., Ferree, D.C. & Warrington, I.J. (2003) *Apples: Botany, Production and Uses* (eds D.C. Ferree & I.J. Warrington). CABI, Wallingford.
- Eilers, E.J., Kremen, C., Greenleaf, S.S., Garber, A.K. & Klein, A.M. (2011) Contribution of pollinator-mediated crops to nutrients in the human food supply. *PLoS ONE*, **6**, e21363.
- FAO. (2010) Standard for Apples CODEX STAN 73-1981.
- Ferree, D.C. & Warrington, I.J. (2003) *Apples: Botany, Production and Uses* (eds D.C. Ferree & I.J. Warrington). CABI, Wallingford.
- Földesi, R., Kovács-Hostyánszki, A., Korösi, Á., Somay, L., Elek, Z., Markó, V., Sárospataki, M.,
 Bakos, R., Varga, Á., Nyisztor, K. & Báldi, A. (2016) Relationships between wild bees,
 hoverflies and pollination success in apple orchards with different landscape contexts.
 Agricultural and Forest Entomology, 18, 68–75.
- Fournier, D., Skaug, H., Ancheta, J., Ianelli, J., Magnusson, A., Maunder, M., Nielsen, A. & Sibert,
 J. (2012) AD Model Builder: using automatic differentiation for statistical inference of
 highly parameterized complex nonlinear models. *Optimization Methods and Software*, 27,

233–249.

- Free, J.B. (1964) Comparison of the importance of insect and wind pollination of apple trees. *Nature*, **201**, 726–727.
- Garantonakis, N., Varikou, K., Birouraki, A., Edwards, M., Kalliakaki, V. & Andrinopoulos, F. (2016) Comparing the pollination services of honey bees and wild bees in a watermelon field. *Scientia Horticulturae*, **204**, 138–144.
- Garibaldi, L.A., Aizen, M.A., Klein, A.M., Cunningham, S.A. & Harder, L.D. (2011a) Global growth and stability of agricultural yield decrease with pollinator dependence. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **108**, 5909–14.
- Garibaldi, L.A., Bartomeus, I., Bommarco, R., Klein, A.M., Cunningham, S.A., Aizen, M.A., Boreux,
 V., Garratt, M.P.D., Carvalheiro, L.G., Kremen, C., Morales, C.L., Schüepp, C., Chacoff, N.P.,
 Freitas, B.M., Gagic, V., Holzschuh, A., Klatt, B.K., Krewenka, K.M., Krishnan, S., Mayfield,
 M.M., Motzke, I., Otieno, M., Petersen, J., Potts, S.G., Ricketts, T.H., Rundlöf, M., Sciligo, A.,
 Sinu, P.A., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Taki, H., Tscharntke, T., Vergara, C.H., Viana, B.F. &
 Woyciechowski, M. (2015) Trait matching of flower visitors and crops predicts fruit set
 better than trait diversity. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 52, 1436–1444.
- Garibaldi, L.A., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Winfree, R., Aizen, M.A., Bommarco, R., Cunningham, S.A.,
 Kremen, C., Carvalheiro, L.G., Harder, L.D., Afik, O., Bartomeus, I., Benjamin, F., Boreux, V.,
 Cariveau, D., Chacoff, N.P., Dudenhöffer, J.H., Freitas, B.M., Ghazoul, J., Greenleaf, S.,
 Hipólito, J., Holzschuh, A., Howlett, B., Isaacs, R., Javorek, S.K., Kennedy, C.M., Krewenka,
 K.M., Krishnan, S., Mandelik, Y., Mayfield, M.M., Motzke, I., Munyuli, T., Nault, B.A., Otieno,
 M., Petersen, J., Pisanty, G., Potts, S.G., Rader, R., Ricketts, T.H., Rundlöf, M., Seymour, C.L.,
 Schüepp, C., Szentgyörgyi, H., Taki, H., Tscharntke, T., Vergara, C.H., Viana, B.F., Wanger,
 T.C., Westphal, C., Williams, N. & Klein, A.M. (2013) Wild pollinators enhance fruit set of
 crops regardless of honey bee abundance. *Science*, **340**, 1608–1611.
- Garibaldi, L., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Kremen, C., Morales, J.M., Bommarco, R., Cunningham, S.A.,
 Carvalheiro, L.G., Chacoff, N.P., Dudenhoeffer, J.H. & Greenleaf, S.S. (2011b) Stability of
 pollination services decreases with isolation from natural areas despite honey bee visits.
 Ecology Letters, 14, 1062–1072.
- Garratt, M.P.D., Breeze, T.D., Boreux, V., Fountain, M.T., McKerchar, M., Webber, S.M., Coston,
 D.J., Jenner, N., Dean, R., Westbury, D.B., Biesmeijer, J.C. & Potts, S.G. (2016) Apple
 pollination: Demand depends on variety and supply depends on pollinator identity. *PLoS ONE*, **11**, 1–15.

Garratt, M.P.D., Breeze, T.D., Jenner, N., Polce, C., Biesmeijer, J.C. & Potts, S.G. (2014a) Avoiding

a bad apple: Insect pollination enhances fruit quality and economic value. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment,* **184**, 34–40.

- Garratt, M.P.D., Coston, D.J., Truslove, C.L., Lappage, M.G., Polce, C., Dean, R., Biesmeijer, J.C. & Potts, S.G. (2014b) The identity of crop pollinators helps target conservation for improved ecosystem services. *Biological Conservation*, **169**, 128–135.
- Garratt, M.P.D., Truslove, C.L., Coston, D.J., Evans, R.L., Moss, E.D., Dodson, C., Jenner, N.,
 Biesmeijer, J.C. & Potts, S.G. (2014c) Pollination deficits in UK apple orchards. *Journal of Pollination Ecology*, **12**, 9–14.
- Grass, I., Meyer, S., Taylor, P.J., Foord, S.H., Hajek, P. & Tscharntke, T. (2018) Pollination
 limitation despite managed honeybees in South African macadamia orchards. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **260**, 11–18.
- Greenleaf, S.S. & Kremen, C. (2006) Wild bees enhance honey bees' pollination of hybrid sunflower. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **103**, 13890–13895.
- Hansted, L., Grout, B.W.W., Toldam-Andersen, T.B. & Eilenberg, J. (2014) Effectiveness of managed populations of wild and honey bees as supplemental pollinators of sour cherry (*Prunus cerasus* L.) under different climatic conditions. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section B Soil & Plant Science*, 1–9.
- Harrison, X.A. (2014) Using observation-level random effects to model overdispersion in count data in ecology and evolution. *PeerJ*, **2**, e616.
- Hopping, M.E. & Simpson, L.M. (1982) Supplementary pollination of tree fruits. New Zealand Journal of Agricultural Research, 25, 245–250.
- Hudewenz, A., Pufal, G., Bögeholz, A.-L. & Klein, A.-M. (2014) Cross-pollination benefits differ among oilseed rape varieties. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, **152**, 770–778.
- Imbach, P., Fung, E., Hannah, L., Navarro-Racines, C.E., Roubik, D.W., Ricketts, T.H., Harvey, C.A., Donatti, C.I., L\u00e4derach, P., Locatelli, B. & Roehrdanz, P.R. (2017) Coupling of pollination services and coffee suitability under climate change. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, **114**, 10438–10442.

Jackson, J.E. (2003) Biology of Apples and Pears. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

- Jonkers, H. (1979) Biennial bering in apple and pear: a literature survey. *Scientia Horticulturae*, **11**, 303–317.
- Klatt, B.K., Holzschuh, A., Westphal, C., Clough, Y., Smit, I., Pawelzik, E. & Tscharntke, T. (2014)
 Bee pollination improves crop quality, shelf life and commercial value. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **281**, 20132440.

Klein, A.A.-M., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Tscharntke, T., Steffan–Dewenter, I. & Tscharntke, T. (2003)

Fruit set of highland coffee increases with the diversity of pollinating bees. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, **270**, 955–961.

- Klein, A.-M., Vaissiere, B.E., Cane, J.H., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Cunningham, S.A., Kremen, C. & Tscharntke, T. (2007) Importance of pollinators in changing landscapes for world crops.
 Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, **274**, 303–313.
- Ladurner, E., Recla, L., Wolf, M., Zelger, R. & Burgio, G. (2004) Osmia cornuta (Hymenoptera Megachilidae) densities required for apple pollination: a cage study. Journal of Apicultural Research, 43, 118–122.
- Landsberg, J.J. (1974) Apple fruit bud development and growth; analysis and an empirical model. Annals of Botany, **38**, 1013–1023.
- Marini, L., Quaranta, M., Fontana, P., Biesmeijer, J.C. & Bommarco, R. (2012) Landscape context and elevation affect pollinator communities in intensive apple orchards. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, **13**, 681–689.
- Martins, K.T., Gonzalez, A. & Lechowicz, M.J. (2015) Pollination services are mediated by bee functional diversity and landscape context. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **200**, 12–20.
- Monzon, H., Bosch, J. & Retana, J. (2004) Foraging behavior and pollinating effectiveness of Osmia cornuta (Hymenoptera: Megachilidae) and Apis mellifera (Hymenoptera: Apidae) on 'Comice' pea. Apidologie, 35, 575–585.
- Potts, S.G., Imperatriz-Fonseca, V., Ngo, H.T., Aizen, M.A., Biesmeijer, J.C., Breeze, T.D., Dicks, L.
 V., Garibaldi, L.A., Hill, R., Settele, J. & Vanbergen, A.J. (2016) Safeguarding pollinators and their values to human well-being. *Nature*, 540, 220–229.
- Potts, S.G., Imperatriz-Fonseca, V.L., Ngo, H.T., Biesmeijer, J.C., Breeze, T.D., Dicks, L. V.,
 Garibaldi, L.A., Hill, R., Settele, J., Vanbergen, A.J., Aizen, M.A., Cunningham, S.A., Eardley,
 C., Freitas, B.M., Gallai, N., Kevan, P.G., Kovács-Hostyánszki, A., Kwapong, P.K., Li, J., Li., X.,
 Martins, D.J., Nates-Parra, G., Pettis, J.S., Rader, R. & Viana, B.F. (2017) *IPBES (2016): Summary for Policymakers of the Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Science- Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services on Pollinators, Pollination and Food Production.* Secretariat of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity
- Pritchard, K.D. & Edwards, W. (2006) Supplementary pollination in the production of custard apple (Annona sp.) - The effect of pollen source. Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology, 81, 78–83.

R Core Team. (2017) R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for

Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.

- Rader, R., Bartomeus, I., Garibaldi, L.A., Garratt, M.P.D., Howlett, B.G., Winfree, R., Cunningham, S.A., Mayfield, M.M., Arthur, A.D., Andersson, G.K.S., Bommarco, R., Brittain, C., Carvalheiro, L.G., Chacoff, N.P., Entling, M.H., Foully, B., Freitas, B.M., Gemmill-Herren, B., Ghazoul, J., Griffin, S.R., Gross, C.L., Herbertsson, L., Herzog, F., Hipólito, J., Jaggar, S., Jauker, F., Klein, A.-M., Kleijn, D., Krishnan, S., Lemos, C.Q., Lindström, S.A.M., Mandelik, Y., Monteiro, V.M., Nelson, W., Nilsson, L., Pattemore, D.E., de O. Pereira, N., Pisanty, G., Potts, S.G., Reemer, M., Rundlöf, M., Sheffield, C.S., Scheper, J., Schüepp, C., Smith, H.G., Stanley, D.A., Stout, J.C., Szentgyörgyi, H., Taki, H., Vergara, C.H., Viana, B.F. & Woyciechowski, M. (2016) Non-bee insects are important contributors to global crop pollination. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **113**, 146–151.
- Ramírez, F. & Davenport, T.L. (2013) Apple pollination: A review. *Scientia Horticulturae*, **162**, 188–203.
- Roubik, D.W. (2002) Tropical agriculture: The value of bees to the coffee harvest. *Nature*, **417**, 708–708.
- Sabbahi, R., De Oliveira, D. & Marceau, J. (2005) Influence of honey bee (Hymenoptera: Apidae) density on the production of canola (Crucifera: Brassicacae). *Journal of Economic Entomology*, **98**, 367–72.
- Sapir, G., Baras, Z., Azmon, G., Goldway, M., Shafir, S., Allouche, A., Stern, E. & Stern, R.A. (2017)
 Synergistic effects between bumblebees and honey bees in apple orchards increase cross
 pollination, seed number and fruit size. *Scientia Horticulturae*, **219**, 107–117.
- Sheffield, C.S. (2014) Pollination, seed set and fruit quality in apple: studies with Osmia lignaria (Hymenoptera: Megachilidae) in the Annapolis Valley, Nova Scotia, Canada. Journal of Pollination Ecology, 12, 120–128.
- Steffan-Dewenter, I. & Leschke, K. (2003) Effects of habitat management on vegetation and above-ground nesting bees and wasps of orchard meadows in Central Europe. *Biodiversity* and Conservation, **12**, 1953–1968.
- Stephenson, A.G. (1981) Flower and fruit abortion: proximate causes and ultimate functions. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, **12**, 253–279.
- Stern, R.A., Eisikowitch, D. & Dag, A. (2001) Sequential introduction of honeybee colonies and doubling their density increases cross-pollination, fruit-set and yield in 'Red Delicious' apple. *Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology*, **76**, 17–23.
- Thomson, J.D. & Goodell, K. (2001) Pollen removal and deposition by honeybee and bumblebee visitors to apple and almond flowers. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **38**, 1032–1044.

- Vaissière, B., Freitas, B. & Gemmill-Herren, B. (2011) *Protocol to Detect and Assess Pollination Deficits in Crops: A Handbook for Its Use*. FAO, Rome.
- Vicens, N. & Bosch, J. (2000a) Pollinating efficacy of *Osmia cornuta* and *Apis mellifera* (Hymenoptera: Megachilidae, Apidae) on 'Red Delicious' apple. *Environmental Entomology*, 29, 235–240.
- Vicens, N. & Bosch, J. (2000b) Weather-Dependent Pollinator Activity in an Apple Orchard, with Special Reference to *Osmia cornuta* and *Apis mellifera* (Hymenoptera: Megachilidae and Apidae). *Environmental Entomology*, **29**, 413–420.
- Volz, R.K., Tustin, D.S. & Ferguson, I.B. (1996) Pollination effects on fruit mineral composition, seeds and cropping characteristics of 'Braeburn' apple trees. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 66, 169–180.
- Wertheim, S.J. (1973) Fruit set and June drop in Cox's Orange Pippin apple as affected by pollination and treatment with a mixture of gibberellins A4 and A7. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 1, 85–105.
- Winfree, R. (2008) Pollinator-dependent crops: an increasingly risky business. *Current Biology*, **18**, 968–969.

Chapter 6:

Discussion



('Oversown-clover' alleyways, July 2016)

Chapter 6:

Discussion

6.1 Review of thesis aim and objectives

There are many threats to food security (Godfray *et al.* 2010), but if intensive agriculture is able to reduce its reliance on agrochemical inputs by adopting ecologically sound methods, a number of these threats may be reduced. The huge areas of land under agricultural management mean that changes and developments in agricultural practices have the potential to affect a significant proportion of the world's land surface. Even minor improvements could result in benefits to biodiversity conservation and food production alike. This highlights the importance of applied research which can be used to design agroecosystems and inform management.

The studies in this thesis help to address knowledge gaps regarding the implementation of ecologically intensive methods in UK apple orchards; showing that alleyway cover crops and mulching with cover crop cuttings can boost the numbers of important ecosystem service providers. Often studies of habitat management practices focus on a single species group or a single ecosystem service and may therefore overlook additional benefits of a practice (Seppelt *et al.* 2011; Liss *et al.* 2013). Agroecosystems are highly complicated and changes in management can affect different species and different ecosystem services in different ways; it is important, therefore, to study these systems as holistically as possible. Based on current knowledge gaps, this thesis aims to explore the multiple ecosystem service benefits that habitat creation and management can have in UK apple orchards. It demonstrates that alleyway cover cropping can have positive effects on a range of ecosystem service providers, both above ground (e.g. pollinators and natural enemies of crop pests) and below ground (e.g. earthworms). This kind of multiple benefit is particularly valuable because space is highly limited in intensive agricultural systems (Fiedler, Landis & Wratten 2008; Boreux *et al.* 2013).

Objective 1: Evaluate the effects of different mulches on soil fertility and soil-derived ecosystem services. It is hypothesised that the addition of mulch improves soil fertility and soil-derived ecosystem services.

It was demonstrated that mulching can provide a number of benefits to soil fertility: compost was shown to increase soil carbon and soil nitrogen, and the straw and 'legume-grass2'

treatments increased soil moisture. Both of the higher-rate cover crop cutting treatments showed increased numbers of earthworms and the compost and 'legume-grass2' treatments resulted in increased leaf litter decomposition rates. Despite the variation in results, the study in Chapter 2 shows that both traditional and cover crop-derived mulches can help to reduce dependence on agrochemicals. The use of cover crop cuttings as mulch may be an effective, lowcost, way to integrate this once common practice in commercial apple production, with little change to management.

Many of the benefits of using mulch are highly relevant to food security. The results of this study and others show that mulches can: act as organic fertilisers, reducing the need for synthetic inputs (Sirrine et al. 2008; Mullinix & Granatstein 2011); reduce evaporation (Pinamonti 1998; Van Donk et al. 2012), thereby lowering the demand for water, a resource in increasing demand due to increased human populations and climate change; and help to smother weeds (Pullaro et al. 2006; Van Donk et al. 2012), potentially reducing the number of herbicide applications required. A reduction in herbicide use and increased addition of plant material onto the herbicide strip can also boost beneficial species abundance and improve soil biodiversity-derived ecosystem services, such as leaf litter decomposition (Hartley et al. 1996; Sullivan & Sullivan 2003; Jacometti, Wratten & Walter 2007; Andersen et al. 2013). Increased leaf litter decomposition can lower fungal pest abundance thereby reducing the need for fungicide sprays, this in turn reduces the negative effects on soil biota which these chemical controls can cause (Wang, Zhou & Cang 2009; Jacometti, Wratten & Walter 2010; Komárek et al. 2010). Mulching can also help to increase soil organic matter (Merwin et al. 1995; Pinamonti 1998). This soil property is important for both soil fertility and for reducing atmospheric carbon levels, but it has been declining in many intensively managed agricultural systems, including orchards (St. Laurent, Merwin & Thies 2008; Steenwerth & Belina 2008; Schmidt et al. 2011).

Objective 2: Determine the effects of alleyway cover crops on natural enemy abundance and the resulting implications for pest regulation services. Alleyway cover crops are predicted to provide a higher quality habitat than current management, leading to an increase in natural enemy abundance and an enhancement of pest regulation services.

Objective 3: Assess the value of alleyway cover crop habitat for pollinators and evaluate their impact on pollinator abundances and pollinator services. Pollinators are also hypothesised to

benefit from the higher quality habitat provided by the cover crops, and increasing their abundance is predicted to improve pollination services.

The results showed similar responses for these two objectives and so are they discussed together. Overall, alleyway cover crops were shown to provide valuable habitat for above ground beneficial invertebrates, providing more floral resources and greater vegetation structure than current practice. Cover cropping led to significantly greater abundances of a number of natural enemies of crop pests and of all of the main apple pollinator taxa. However, neither pest regulation nor pollination services showed a detectable increase.

Pollinators were not found to be more abundant in the cover crops plots during blossom and so the lack of difference in pollination service was not surprising. However, the greater numbers seen during the summer months show that the cover crops could support more pollinators through much of their active periods. Supporting larger and more diverse populations through the summer months is likely to result in more apple pollinators being present during blossom in the following year. If alleyway cover cropping was conducted throughout an entire orchard, or an entire landscape, it is likely that populations of pollinators would increase, as long as they were not limited by a lack of other resources such as nesting or overwintering sites (Altieri & Letourneau 1982; Kells & Goulson 2003; Potts *et al.* 2005). Cover crops also take time to establish, and the populations of beneficial species can take several years to respond to the increase in resources (Blaauw & Isaacs 2014); it may be that if the study had run for longer there would have been detectable changes in services. Providing floral resources and improving habitat have been shown to improve both pollination and pest regulation services in a number of other studies (Altieri, Ponti & Nicholls 2005; Berndt, Wratten & Scarratt 2006; Fiedler, Landis & Wratten 2008; Blaauw & Isaacs 2014, 2015, Tschumi *et al.* 2015, 2016).

If the high demands for pest regulation and pollination services in intensively managed crops are to be met, it is likely the abundance of ecosystem service providers will need to be kept artificially high. Creating and managing habitat, such as cover crops, which has been designed specifically for these species may be the most effective way of boosting their numbers and enhancing services. Both pollination and pest regulation services are reduced with distance away from habitat and so having cover crops in close proximity to the trees is likely to be beneficial (Miliczky & Horton 2005; Carvalheiro *et al.* 2010; Bailey *et al.* 2014). Although it is possible that cover crops could also increase pest populations (Bone *et al.* 2009) no evidence was found for this in these studies.

Objective 4: Quantify the role of pollination in apple production and identify potential pollination deficits. Pollination dependence and pollination deficits are expected to be found, with pollination affecting both yield and fruit quality.

The study in Chapter 5 quantified 'Gala' apple pollination dependence and showed that increased pollination services could help to close both yield gaps and quality gaps. The study also helps to refine the methods used to detect pollination dependence and deficits. Some of the difficulties in measuring ecosystem service provision were also demonstrated: the crop-watch surveys showed that flower visitation is unlikely to give an accurate indication of a species' contribution to pollination, and variations were seen in the extent of pollination dependence and deficits found when measured at different scales. If further yield gaps are to be identified, and the effectiveness of different management methods used to ecologically intensify production are to be accurately assessed, it is important that the measured variables are a good proxy of service provision. It is recommended therefore that future studies assessing pollination dependence and pollination deficits use entire-plant pollination treatments or branch scale treatments where this is not feasible.

6.2 Methodological constraints

A number of other studies have also reported that habitat management practices, such as introducing areas of flowering plants, have resulted in increased abundances of beneficial species, however fewer studies have quantified the effects on the actual ecosystem services provision, and fewer still have detected effects on production (Seppelt *et al.* 2011; Liss *et al.* 2013). This may be due to the complexity of ecological systems and the influence of intensive agricultural management, which is already focused on maximising production. It may also be because ecosystem services are only detectable in those years when pest pressure is high, or when adverse weather reduces the numbers of pollinators during blossom. The fact that the studies in this thesis were conducted in orchards managed with conventional pesticide regimes is likely to have affected the abundance of all of species monitored, either directly or indirectly, and to have masked treatment effects. However, conducting the experiments at these sites reduces concerns as to whether such treatments would work in commercial settings.

Varied cover crop establishment was found between blocks, despite the same ground preparation and sowing methods being used. It is likely that local conditions, particularly soil properties due to previous land use and weed abundance, were responsible for these differences. The local species pool of beneficial species will also have varied between sites. A similar situation would be encountered for cover crops established outside of an experimental setting and so the results are realistic; however these differences will have increased variation in species abundances and reduced the ability to statistically differentiate results between treatments.

A common limitation of the studies in this thesis, and the majority of those referenced, is that they cover only a short period in the lifespan of an orchard. Modern apple orchards are expected to be commercially viable for between 15-20 years (Robinson, Ferree & Warrington 2003), very few studies are able to cover this timespan. Other tree crops may last even longer; pear orchards can be commercially viable for over 60 years, for example, and fruit growers have a phrase that you: "plant pears for heirs". Soil properties, below ground arthropod populations, and trees can all take years to respond to changes in management and it is possible that the treatment effects of mulching and cover cropping may have been more pronounced when considered over the lifespan of the orchard.

6.3 Management recommendations and potential issues

If methods for ecological intensification are to be adopted they must be able to successfully integrate into existing agricultural and horticultural systems: they must not cause excessive disruption to crop management, be unaffordable, or be technically unachievable (Wade, Gurr & Wratten 2008). The studies in this thesis show that alleyway cover cropping can be an effective method for increasing the abundance of beneficial species which can be successfully integrated into UK intensive apple orchard systems with little change to management.

Despite this, some potential issues were identified. Pruning is an important part of tree management and is used to shape trees, increase light interception, and remove diseased material. When trees are pruned, the removed branches are commonly left in the alleyways were they are then pulverised with tractor-mounted flails. Pulverising may damage the cover crops and reduce the abundance of floral resources, particularly if it is done during the summer months. Removing pruned material is a potential option; however it is not standard practice and will require the transportation of large quantities of material, which has associated costs. Another option is to sow cover crops in every other row; pruned branches can then be left in the 'empty' rows for pulverising. This method has worked effectively in UK orchards (M. McKerchar, personal communication). Although no differences were detected in the air temperatures between ground cover treatments, if orchards, or parts of orchards, are located in high frost risk areas the effect of alleyway vegetation on air movement should be considered (Barden & Neilsen 2003). High growing alleyway vegetation may also impede orchard workers who are moving through alleyways.

The species used for cover crops will depend on both the ecosystem services which are required and local context (soil, species pool, weather, etc.). If both pest regulation and pollination services are required it is recommended that a mixture of plant species with both open and long-corolla flowers are sown (Campbell et al. 2012). Lower growing species such as white clover may be better suited to orchard alleyways as they are less likely to be damaged by tractor traffic or impede orchard workers. White clover, the predominant species in the 'oversown-grass' mixture, produced more flowers than any other species and was shown to be attractive to a range of beneficial species. This plant would be a suitable base-species for a cover crop mixture. It is recommended that several white clover varieties are included to extend flowering times and improve the chances of good establishment. In addition to white clover, other species which grew and flowered well included birdsfoot trefoil, yarrow, musk mallow, and oxeye daisy. Lesser knapweed and cocksfoot grass may also be considered. Between them, these species provide a range of flower structures and are likely to be a suitable 'multi-service' mixture for orchards. All of these species are relatively long-lived, or have the ability to reseed, which should help to extend the duration of the cover crop. There is potential to tailor cover crops mixture to suit target species and ecosystem services; if pest regulation was the primary desired ecosystem service the proportion of plants with open, simple structured flowers, such as oxeye daisy or yarrow, should be increased as these flowers are more suitable for many natural enemies (Branquart et al. 2000; Wäckers & van Rijn 2012; Laubertie, Wratten & Hemptinne 2012; van Rijn, Kooijman & Wäckers 2013). If supporting pollinators was the main purpose of the cover crop a greater proportion of clovers and legumes may be beneficial (Carvell et al. 2007, 2011).

The 'oversown-grass' treatment attracted similar numbers of beneficial species as the more expensive 'red' treatment, despite consisting of only two species which were over sown into

existing vegetation. Of the two species only white clover showed significant growth and flowering. In established orchards scarification of existing vegetation followed by over-sowing with white clover seeds, a reduction in mowing frequency, and an increase in cutting height may prove a low-cost option for ecologically intensifying orchards. Cover crops seeds could also be broadcast onto alleyways following ploughing and rolling to remove ruts, and if a cover crop was sown at the same time as a new orchard was being created ground preparation cost would be reduced. The cost per hectare for agricultural white clover is similar to that of grass and replacing a proportion of the grass seed commonly sown in alleyways during orchard establishment with white clover could increase floral abundance at little or no net cost. Sowing cover crops at the time of orchard establishment would also allow populations of beneficial species several years to build up, before the trees started to yield. Naturally occurring flowers such as common daisy, dandelion, and hawksbit species were also shown to grow and flower well in the alleyways, and such volunteer species can be valuable to ecosystem services providers (Danne *et al.* 2010; Walton & Isaacs 2011; García & Miñarro 2014).

Mowing management has been discussed in Chapters 4 and 5 and is summarised here. It is recommended that growers reduce mowing frequency and raise the height of cuts; currently alleyways are often mowed to 5cm, and cutting at this height would damage cover crop plants and provide little shelter for beneficial species. It is therefore recommended that mowing heights are increased to 10-15cm. The frequency and timing of cuts will depend on soil fertility and weed abundance as well as which species constitute the cover crop, but if mixtures are based on perennial legumes a single cut in mid-July or August is likely to be appropriate (Pywell & Nowakowski 2006; Pywell et al. 2011). This allows plants to flower throughout much of the beneficial species active periods and reduces alleyway vegetation prior to harvest, improving access for workers. Reducing mowing frequency is also likely to lower operational costs as even when mowing and spraying are combined the energy used to power and pull the mower will increase diesel usage and machinery maintenance. This change in mowing management is also likely allow naturally occurring plants to grow taller and produce more flowers (Noordijk et al. 2009). It is recommend that cuttings are removed from areas of wildflowers to reduce smothering and remove nutrients (Ash, Bennett & Scott 1992; Carvell et al. 2016), and so spreading cuttings onto the herbicide strip as mulch will benefit both the cover crops and the soil fertility of the herbicide strip. For this reason the adoption of side-discharging mowers is recommended irrespective of the main purpose of the cover crop.

If cover crops were managed primarily to produce mulch, densely growing legumes and grasses such as the species used in the 'legume-grass' mixture (predominantly lucerne and cocksfoot grass) are recommended. Cheaper options include white clover over-sown into the existing sward, similar to the 'oversown-grass' treatment. There will be trade-offs between mulch production and providing floral resources and habitat for above ground species; optimal mulch production is likely to require more frequent mowing than would otherwise be recommended, with up to 4 cuts per year between May and October (AHDB 2014). The nutrient content and timing of mulch application should be considered as mulch that is too high in nitrogen or that supplies large amounts of nitrogen at the wrong time of the year can result in a reduction in fruit quality and excessive leafy growth (Granatstein & Mullinix 2008; De Angelis, Sánchez & Tognetti 2011). However, given the relatively small volumes of material that are produced in the narrow orchard alleyways it is unlikely that excess nitrogen will be produced (Mullinix & Granatstein 2011). Although cover crop cuttings are unlikely to fulfil the trees entire nitrogen demands at current alleyway widths, they may reduce demand for expensive synthetic fertilisers (Sirrine *et al.* 2008; Mullinix & Granatstein 2011).

Local conditions should be taken into consideration when sowing cover crops as some species will be unsuitable for certain soil types and climatic conditions. Frost can damage or kill plants which are not cold-hardy, and many species will not survive in soils prone to drought. Orchard soils are likely to be more fertile than is ideal for many wildflowers, reducing their ability to compete with grasses; removing cuttings to the herbicide strip can help to reduce alleyway soil fertility and boost soil fertility underneath the trees. The pressure from weeds will vary between sites and even with proper ground preparation and sowing there may be issues with weed growth and cover crop establishment. Sowing mixtures of plant species, and varieties, will help to improve the chances of establishment success.

There is a tendency for growers to manage orchards so that they look 'neat and tidy', with alleyways and windbreaks which resemble lawns and uniform garden hedges. Unfortunately, like their domestic counterparts, these habitats can be relatively poor quality habitat for biodiversity (Dobbs & Potter 2014; Wastian, Unterweger & Betz 2016), including those beneficial species which are so valuable to crop production. Leaving corners of fields and the areas underneath windbreaks to develop denser vegetation will improve the availability of nesting and overwintering sites, and maintaining flower rich cover crops which are alive with beneficial species would be a more rewarding use of alleyway space.

6.4 Future research

There are a number of areas related to the management of alleyway cover crops which would benefit from further research. There are a range of potential cover crops management options including different cover crop species, sowing dates, sowing methods, and mowing regimes. This study goes some way to identify suitable and unsuitable species and the results suggest that specialised alleyway mixes will be needed for optimal effects. The use of cover crops and other habitat strips, both perennial and annual, appears to be a space-efficient way to boost the abundance of ecosystem services providers and it may be applicable for a wide variety of crops.

There is still a need to identify which natural enemies are the most valuable to pest regulation services in orchards, and which plant species and management methods are the most suitable for these species. More knowledge on natural enemy interactions, including competition and predation, could help to develop cover crop species mixtures which are more optimal. It may be that cover crop species mixtures and ground cover management can be modified to reduce inter-species competition, perhaps by sowing different mixtures in different rows to segregate natural enemy populations. Important and considerable knowledge gaps surround how pesticides affect natural enemies. This is also true for pollinators, and because most pollinators are only needed in apple orchards during blossom it may be best to create habitat for them elsewhere, if their exposure to pesticides in the alleyways is significant.

Long-term, large-scale studies which look at the effects of cover cropping on beneficial species populations at landscape scales would enable the population and community level effects of cover cropping to be investigated (Tscharntke *et al.* 2005). Long-term experiments are also likely to be needed to fully determine the effects of mulches on soils and trees, and such studies would be useful for producing accurate cost-benefit analyses of these management practices. It is possible that in the future alleyway cover cropping could be supported by agri-environment schemes.

It would be useful to investigate the soil fertility effects of cover crops in more detail and to improve understanding of how they affect soil moisture and nutrients in the alleyways as well as the herbicide strip. Further knowledge is also needed regarding how cover cropping effects nutrient leaching, as they may help to 'catch' nutrients and reduce fertiliser pollution (Steenwerth & Belina 2010; Atucha *et al.* 2011; Gabriel, Garrido & Quemada 2013). Cover crop

plant may also affect tree root growth and could potentially increase mycorrhizal connections with tree roots (Baumgartner, Smith & Bettiga 2005). Mycorrhizal connections can improve access to nutrients and reduce the potential damage from drought, but they are negatively affected by intensive management (Yang *et al.* 2007; Meyer, Wooldridge & Dames 2015; Van Geel *et al.* 2015).

It would useful to improve knowledge on the optimal width of the herbicide strip and to quantify any competition between trees and alleyways vegetation. This could inform management on cover crops so that competition was minimised, perhaps by mowing cover crops during droughts to both reduce water usage and add water-conserving mulch to the herbicide strip. If herbicide strips were found to be unnecessarily wide this could allow a reduction in the use of herbicides. A narrower herbicide strip would also increase the area available to grow cover crops, and more cuttings could be produced to mulch a smaller area, thus amplifying their beneficial effects. Increased mulch production could also be achieved by increasing alleyway widths; wider alleyways are common in many cider orchards. Increasing the width of the alleyway vegetation would also provide more habitat and floral resources for natural enemies and pollinators. This practice is unlikely to increase yields but it could help to make production more sustainable and may be useful for developing low-input orchards (Simon et al. 2017). The effect of cover crop height could also be further investigated as the effect of cover crops on orchard microclimate and the consequences for frost damage and disease risk are still not fully known; It has been suggested that taller vegetation could help to suppress the movement of apple scab ascospores (Aylor 1998).

The further development of artificial nesting sites and refugia for beneficial species is likely to be beneficial for ecological intensification as a whole. These tools have the potential to improve both pollination (Torchio & Biology 1985; Vicens & Bosch 2000; Bosch & Kemp 2002; Maccagnani & Burgio 2007; Sheffield *et al.* 2014) and pest regulation services (Corbett & Rosenheim 1996; Suckling *et al.* 2006; Roubos, Rodriguez-Saona & Isaacs 2014). It is possible that beneficial species themselves may require considerable management if they are to be maintained at high enough abundances to fulfil the ecosystem services demands of intensive agricultural systems.

As well as identifying yield gaps which may be closed by enhancing ecosystem services, it is important that the constraints on ecosystem services are assessed. Once yield gaps and the

relevant ecosystem service-providing species have been identified, the constraints on suboptimal service provision should be determined (Luck, Daily & Ehrlich 2003; Kremen & Ostfeld 2005; Luck *et al.* 2009). It is likely that the constraints will be due to low abundances of service providers, perhaps because of some of the issues previously discussed, including negative effects of pesticides, lack of floral resources, or lack of nesting and overwintering sites. However, other constraints may exist: pollinators may be being attracted to another crop (Grab *et al.* 2017), or inter-species competition may be disrupting pest regulation (Moerkens *et al.* 2009). Once the constraints have been identified, management practices can be employed to reduce them. If all of the constraints are not identified changing management may not be effective: increasing nesting sites may not increase service provider populations if they are also subsequently constrained by a lack of food resources. Developing research methods and ecosystem models which can identify these constraints could help to improve the effectiveness of ecological intensification.

The methods of cover cropping and mulching using alleyways cuttings have the potential to be used in a wide variety of perennial row-grown fruit and nut crops. The creation of perennial habitat strips may also be applicable for row-grown annual crops where a reservoir of beneficial species can be maintained adjacent to cultivated rows. Alleyway cover cropping may also be useful in tropical agroecosystems, and low-input or subsistence agriculture. The practices of using of crop waste for mulch may be beneficial for agroforestry systems; straw from alleyway grown wheat could be used to mulch trees for example. Alleyway cover cropping is likely to be particularly useful in organic fruit orchards where fertilisers options are more limited and there is demand for more effective weed control practices which can replace soil-damaging tillage (Granatstein & Sánchez 2009).

6.5 Final conclusions

Food security will be an increasingly significant issue in the future, as the global population continues to grow and the demands for food, fuel, and fibre increase (Tilman 2001; McKee *et al.* 2004; Godfray *et al.* 2010). Further loss of biodiversity, declines in finite resources, and the increasing impact of climate change will also impact on food security (Godfray *et al.* 2010; Godfray & Garnett 2014). To increase the sustainability of agricultural production it important we reduce reliance on agrochemical inputs and reduce environmental damage. Enhancing ecosystem services and supporting beneficial species is therefore vital. This will include limiting practices which have negative effects on beneficial species, such as the use of excessively harmful agrochemical and mechanical practices. It will also involve a cessation of the destruction of natural habitat (Fiedler, Landis & Wratten 2008; Garibaldi *et al.* 2011; Klein *et al.* 2012; Park *et al.* 2015).

If ecological intensification is to be successful more active methods will also be needed. The quality of remaining natural habitat will need to be improved (Goverde *et al.* 2002; Hendrickx *et al.* 2007; Bailey *et al.* 2010), and it is likely that targeted habitat creation will be needed near to crops (Landis, Wratten & Gurr 2000). The studies in this thesis highlight the potential benefits of biodiversity-derived ecosystem services to apple production and demonstrate that orchard alleyway cover crops are a multifunctional management practice which can be a valuable tool for ecological intensification.

6.6 References

AHDB. (2014) Growing and feeding lucerne.

- Altieri, M.A. & Letourneau, D.K. (1982) Vegetation management and biological control in agroecosystems. *Crop Protection*, **1**, 405–430.
- Altieri, M., Ponti, L. & Nicholls, C. (2005) Manipulating vineyard biodiversity for improved insect pest management: case studies from northern California. *International Journal of Biodiversity Science, Ecosystems Services & Management*, **1**, 191–203.
- Andersen, L., Kühn, B.F., Bertelsen, M., Bruus, M., Larsen, S.E. & Strandberg, M. (2013)
 Alternatives to herbicides in an apple orchard, effects on yield, earthworms and plant
 diversity. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 172, 1–5.
- De Angelis, V., Sánchez, E. & Tognetti, J. (2011) Timing of nitrogen fertilization influences color and anthocyanin content of apple (*Malus domestica* Borkh. cv 'Royal Gala') fruits. *International Journal of Fruit Science*, **11**, 364–375.

Ash, H.J., Bennett, R. & Scott, R. (1992) Flowers in the Grass. Natural England.

- Atucha, A., Merwin, I.A., Purohit, C.K., Technologies, S., Ki, S., Guwar, B. & Brown, M.G. (2011)
 Nitrogen dynamics and nutrient budgets in four orchard groundcover management
 systems. *HortScience*, 46, 1184–1193.
- Aylor, D.E. (1998) The aerobiology of apple scab. *Plant Disease*, **82**, 838–849.
- Bailey, S., Requier, F., Nusillard, B.B.B.B., Roberts, S.P.M., Potts, S.G. & Bouget, C. (2014)
 Distance from forest edge affects bee pollinators in oilseed rape fields. *Ecology and Evolution*, 4, 370–380.

- Bailey, D., Schmidt-Entling, M.H., Eberhart, P., Herrmann, J.D., Hofer, G., Kormann, U. & Herzog,
 F. (2010) Effects of habitat amount and isolation on biodiversity in fragmented traditional orchards. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 47, 1003–1013.
- Barden, J.A. & Neilsen, G.H. (2003) Selecting the orchard site, site preparation and orchard planning and establishment. *Apples: botany, production and uses*, pp. 237–265. CABI, Wallingford.
- Baumgartner, K., Smith, R.F. & Bettiga, L. (2005) Weed control and cover crop management affect mycorrhizal colonization of grapevine roots and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal spore populations in a California vineyard. *Mycorrhiza*, **15**, 111–119.
- Berndt, L.A., Wratten, S.D. & Scarratt, S.L. (2006) The influence of floral resource subsidies on parasitism rates of leafrollers (Lepidoptera: Tortricidae) in New Zealand vineyards. *Biological Control*, **37**, 50–55.
- Blaauw, B.R. & Isaacs, R. (2014) Flower plantings increase wild bee abundance and the pollination services provided to a pollination-dependent crop. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 51, 890–898.
- Blaauw, B.R. & Isaacs, R. (2015) Wildflower plantings enhance the abundance of natural enemies and their services in adjacent blueberry fields. *Biological Control*, **91**, 94–103.
- Bone, N.J., Thomson, L.J., Ridland, P.M., Cole, P. & Hoffmann, A.A. (2009) Cover crops in
 Victorian apple orchards: Effects on production, natural enemies and pests across a season.
 Crop Protection, 28, 675–683.
- Boreux, V., Kushalappa, C.G., Vaast, P. & Ghazoul, J. (2013) Interactive effects among ecosystem services and management practices on crop production: pollination in coffee agroforestry systems. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **110**, 8387–8392.
- Bosch, J. & Kemp, W.P.P. (2002) Developing and establishing bee species as crop pollinators: the example of *Osmia* spp. (Hymenoptera: Megachilidae) and fruit trees. *Bulletin of Entomological Research*, **92**, 3–16.
- Branquart, E., Branquart, E., Hemptinne, J. & Hemptinne, J. (2000) Selectivity in the exploitation of oral resources by hover ies (Diptera: Syrphinae). *Ecography*, **23**, 732–742.
- Campbell, A.J., Biesmeijer, J.C., Varma, V. & Wäckers, F.L. (2012) Realising multiple ecosystem services based on the response of three beneficial insect groups to floral traits and trait diversity. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, **13**, 363–370.
- Carvalheiro, L.G., Seymour, C.L., Veldtman, R. & Nicolson, S.W. (2010) Pollination services decline with distance from natural habitat even in biodiversity-rich areas. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **47**, 810–820.

- Carvell, C., Heard, M., Vanbergen, A., Bourke, A. & Dicks, L. (2016) *Managing Farmed Landscapes* for Pollinating Insects: Increasing Floral Resources and Improving Habitat Conditions Can Benefit Pollinating Insect Species, Wildflowers and Crop Production. Swindon.
- Carvell, C., Meek, W.R., Pywell, R.F., Goulson, D. & Nowakowski, M. (2007) Comparing the efficacy of agri-environment schemes to enhance bumble bee abundance and diversity on arable field margins. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **44**, 29–40.
- Carvell, C., Osborne, J.L., Bourke, A.F.G., Freeman, S.N., Pywell, R.F. & Heard, M.S. (2011) Bumble bee species' responses to a targeted conservation measure depend on landscape context and habitat quality. *Ecological Applications*, **21**, 1760–71.
- Corbett, A. & Rosenheim, J.A. (1996) Impact of a natural enemy overwintering refuge and its interaction with the surrounding landscape. *Ecological Entomology*, **21**, 155–164.
- Danne, A., Thomson, L.J., Sharley, D.J., Penfold, C.M. & Hoffmann, A.A. (2010) Effects of native grass cover crops on beneficial and pest invertebrates in Australian vineyards. *Environmental entomology*, **39**, 970–978.
- Dobbs, E.K. & Potter, D.A. (2014) Conservation biological control and pest performance in lawn turf: Does mowing height matter? *Environmental Management*, **53**, 648–659.
- Van Donk, S.J., Lindgren, D.T., Schaaf, D.M., Petersen, J.L., Tarkalson, D.D. & Donk, S. van. (2012)
 Wood chip mulch thickness effects on soil water, soil temperature, weed growth and
 landscape plant growth. *Journal of Applied Horticulture*, **13**, 91–95.
- Fiedler, A.K., Landis, D.A. & Wratten, S.D. (2008) Maximizing ecosystem services from conservation biological control: The role of habitat management. *Biological Control*, 45, 254–271.
- Gabriel, J.L., Garrido, A. & Quemada, M. (2013) Cover crops effect on farm benefits and nitrate leaching: Linking economic and environmental analysis. *Agricultural Systems*, **121**, 23–32.
- García, R.R. & Miñarro, M. (2014) Role of floral resources in the conservation of pollinator communities in cider-apple orchards. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **183**, 118–126.
- Garibaldi, L., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Kremen, C., Morales, J.M., Bommarco, R., Cunningham, S.A.,
 Carvalheiro, L.G., Chacoff, N.P., Dudenhoeffer, J.H. & Greenleaf, S.S. (2011) Stability of
 pollination services decreases with isolation from natural areas despite honey bee visits.
 Ecology Letters, 14, 1062–1072.
- Van Geel, M., Ceustermans, A., Van Hemelrijck, W., Lievens, B. & Honnay, O. (2015) Decrease in diversity and changes in community composition of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in roots of apple trees with increasing orchard management intensity across a regional scale.

Molecular Ecology, **24**, 941–952.

- Godfray, H.C.J., Beddington, J.R., Crute, I.R., Haddad, L., Lawrence, D., Muir, J.F., Pretty, J.,
 Robinson, S., Thomas, S.M. & Toulmin, C. (2010) Food security: the challenge of feeding 9
 billion people. *Science*, **327**, 812–818.
- Godfray, H.C.J. & Garnett, T. (2014) Food security and sustainable intensification. *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B*, **369**, 20120273.
- Goverde, M., Schweizer, K., Baur, B. & Erhardt, a. (2002) Small-scale habitat fragmentation effects on pollinator behaviour: experimental evidence from the bumblebee Bombus veteranus on calcareous grasslands. *Biological Conservation*, **104**, 293–299.
- Grab, H., Blitzer, E.J., Danforth, B., Loeb, G. & Poveda, K. (2017) Temporally dependent pollinator competition and facilitation with mass flowering crops affects yield in co-blooming crops. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 45296.
- Granatstein, D. & Mullinix, K. (2008) Mulching options for Northwest organic and conventional orchards. *HortScience*, **43**, 45–50.
- Granatstein, D. & Sánchez, E. (2009) Research knowledge and needs for orchard floor
 management in organic tree fruit systems. *International Journal of Fruit Science*, 9, 257–281.
- Hartley, M.J., Reid, J.B., Rahman, A. & Springett, J.A. (1996) Effect of organic mulches and a residual herbicide on soil bioactivity in an apple orchard. *New Zealand Journal of Crop and Horticultural Science*, **24**, 183–190.
- Hendrickx, F., Maelfait, J.P., Van Wingerden, W., Schweiger, O., Speelmans, M., Aviron, S.,
 Augenstein, I., Billeter, R., Bailey, D., Bukacek, R., Burel, F., Diekötter, T., Dirksen, J., Herzog,
 F., Liira, J., Roubalova, M., Vandomme, V. & Bugter, R. (2007) How landscape structure,
 land-use intensity and habitat diversity affect components of total arthropod diversity in
 agricultural landscapes. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 44, 340–351.
- Jacometti, M.A., Wratten, S.D. & Walter, M. (2007) Management of understorey to reduce the primary inoculum of *Botrytis cinerea*: Enhancing ecosystem services in vineyards. *Biological Control*, **40**, 57–64.
- Jacometti, M.A., Wratten, S.D. & Walter, M. (2010) Review: Alternatives to synthetic fungicides for Botrytis cinerea management in vineyards. *Australian Journal of Grape and Wine Research*, **16**, 154–172.
- Kells, A.R. & Goulson, D. (2003) Preferred nesting sites of bumblebee queens (Hymenoptera: Apidae) in agroecosystems in the UK. *Biological Conservation*, **109**, 165–174.
- Klein, A.M., Brittain, C., Hendrix, S.D., Thorp, R., Williams, N. & Kremen, C. (2012) Wild

pollination services to California almond rely on semi-natural habitat. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **49**, 723–732.

- Komárek, M., Čadková, E., Chrastný, V., Bordas, F. & Bollinger, J.C. (2010) Contamination of vineyard soils with fungicides: A review of environmental and toxicological aspects. *Environment International*, **36**, 138–151.
- Kremen, C. & Ostfeld, R.S. (2005) A call to ecologists: Measuring, analyzing, and managing ecosystem services. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, **3**, 540–548.
- Landis, D.A., Wratten, S.D. & Gurr, G.M. (2000) Habitat management to conserve natural enemies of arthropod pests in agriculture. *Annual Review of Entomology*, **45**, 175–201.
- Laubertie, E. a. E., Wratten, S.S.D. & Hemptinne, J.J.-L.L. (2012) The contribution of potential beneficial insectary plant species to adult hoverfly (Diptera: Syrphidae) fitness. *Biological Control*, **61**, 1–6.
- St. Laurent, A., Merwin, I. a. & Thies, J.E. (2008) Long-term orchard groundcover management systems affect soil microbial communities and apple replant disease severity. *Plant and Soil*, **304**, 209–225.
- Liss, K.N., Mitchell, M.G.E., Macdonald, G.K., Mahajan, S.L., Méthot, J., Jacob, A.L., Maguire, D.Y., Metson, G.S., Ziter, C., Dancose, K., Martins, K., Terrado, M. & Bennett, E.M. (2013)
 Variability in ecosystem service measurement: A pollination service case study. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, **11**, 414–422.
- Luck, G.W., Daily, G.C. & Ehrlich, P.R. (2003) Population diversity and ecosystem services. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, **18**, 331–336.
- Luck, G.W., Harrington, R., Harrison, P.A., Kremen, C., Berry, P., Bugter, R., Kontogianni, A.,
 Lavorel, S., Rounsevell, M., Samways, M.J., Settele, J., Sykes, M.T., Hove, S. Van Den,
 Vandewalle, M. & Zobel, M. (2009) Quantifying the contribution of organisms to the
 provision of ecosystem services. *BioScience*, **59**, 223–235.
- Maccagnani, B. & Burgio, G. (2007) *Osmia cornuta* management in pear orchards. *Bulletin of Insectology*, **60**, 77–82.
- McKee, J.K., Sciulli, P.W., David Fooce, C. & Waite, T.A. (2004) Forecasting global biodiversity threats associated with human population growth. *Biological Conservation*, **115**, 161–164.
- Merwin, I.A., Rosenberger, D.A., Engle, C.A., Rist, D.L. & Fargione, M. (1995) Comparing mulches, herbicides, and cultivation as orchard groundcover management systems. *HortTechnology*, 5, 151–158.
- Meyer, A.H., Wooldridge, J. & Dames, J.F. (2015) Effect of conventional and organic orchard floor management practices on enzyme activities and microbial counts in a 'Cripp's Pink'/M7

apple orchard. South African Journal of Plant and Soil, **32**, 105–112.

- Miliczky, E.R. & Horton, D.R. (2005) Densities of beneficial arthropods within pear and apple orchards affected by distance from adjacent native habitat and association of natural enemies with extra-orchard host plants. *Biological Control*, **33**, 249–259.
- Moerkens, R., Leirs, H., Peusens, G. & Gobin, B. (2009) Are populations of European earwigs, *Forficula auricularia*, density dependent? *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*, **130**, 198–206.
- Mullinix, K. & Granatstein, D. (2011) Potential nitrogen contributions from legumes in Pacific Northwest apple orchards. *International Journal of Fruit Science*, **11**, 74–87.
- Noordijk, J., Delille, K., Schaffers, A.P. & Sýkora, K. V. (2009) Optimizing grassland management for flower-visiting insects in roadside verges. *Biological Conservation*, **142**, 2097–2103.
- Park, M.G., Blitzer, E.J., Gibbs, J., Losey, J.E. & Danforth, B.N. (2015) Negative effects of pesticides on wild bee communities can be buffered by landscape context. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **282**, 20150299.
- Pinamonti, F. (1998) Compost mulch effects on soil fertility, nutritional status and performance of grapevine. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, **51**, 239–248.
- Potts, S.G., Vulliamy, B., Roberts, S., O'Toole, C., Dafni, A., Ne'eman, G. & Willmer, P. (2005) Role of nesting resources in organising diverse bee communities in a Mediterranean landscape. *Ecological Entomology*, **30**, 78–85.
- Pullaro, T.C., Marino, P.C., Jackson, D.M., Harrison, H.F. & Keinath, A.P. (2006) Effects of killed cover crop mulch on weeds, weed seeds, and herbivores. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **115**, 97–104.
- Pywell, R.F., Meek, W.R., Hulmes, L., Hulmes, S., James, K.L., Nowakowski, M. & Carvell, C. (2011)
 Management to enhance pollen and nectar resources for bumblebees and butterflies
 within intensively farmed landscapes. *Journal of Insect Conservation*, **15**, 853–864.
- Pywell, R. & Nowakowski, M. (2006) Creation and Management of Pollen and Nectar Habitats on Farmland Syngenta Crop Protection AG.
- van Rijn, P.C.J., Kooijman, J. & Wäckers, F.L. (2013) The contribution of floral resources and honeydew to the performance of predatory hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphidae). *Biological Control*, **67**, 32–38.
- Robinson, T.L., Ferree, D.C. & Warrington, I.J. (2003) *Apples: Botany, Production and Uses* (eds D.C. Ferree & I.J. Warrington). CABI, Wallingford.
- Roubos, C.R., Rodriguez-Saona, C. & Isaacs, R. (2014) Mitigating the effects of insecticides on arthropod biological control at field and landscape scales. *Biological Control*, **75**, 28–38.

- Schmidt, M.W.I., Torn, M.S., Abiven, S., Dittmar, T., Guggenberger, G., Janssens, I.A., Kleber, M.,
 Kögel-Knabner, I., Lehmann, J., Manning, D.A.C., Nannipieri, P., Rasse, D.P., Weiner, S. &
 Trumbore, S.E. (2011) Persistence of soil organic matter as an ecosystem property. *Nature*,
 478, 49–56.
- Seppelt, R., Dormann, C.F., Eppink, F. V., Lautenbach, S. & Schmidt, S. (2011) A quantitative review of ecosystem service studies: Approaches, shortcomings and the road ahead. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **48**, 630–636.
- Sheffield, C.S., Wilkes, M. a., Christopher Cutler, G. & Hermanutz, L. (2014) An artificial nesting substrate for Osmia species that nest under stones, with focus on Osmia inermis (Hymenoptera: Megachilidae) eds K. Schonrogge & L. Packer. *Insect Conservation and Diversity*, n/a-n/a.
- Simon, S., Lesueur-Jannoyer, M., Plénet, D., Lauri, P.É. & Le Bellec, F. (2017) Methodology to design agroecological orchards: Learnings from on-station and on-farm experiences. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 82, 320–330.
- Sirrine, J., Letourneau, D.K., Shennan, C., Sirrine, D., Fouch, R., Jackson, L. & Mages, a. (2008) Impacts of groundcover management systems on yield, leaf nutrients, weeds, and arthropods of tart cherry in Michigan, USA. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **125**, 239–245.
- Steenwerth, K. & Belina, K.M. (2008) Cover crops enhance soil organic matter, carbon dynamics and microbiological function in a vineyard agroecosystem. *Applied Soil Ecology*, **40**, 359– 369.
- Steenwerth, K.L. & Belina, K.M. (2010) Vineyard weed management practices influence nitrate leaching and nitrous oxide emissions. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **138**, 127– 131.
- Suckling, D.M., Burnip, G.M., Hackett, J. & Daly, J.C. (2006) Frass sampling and baiting indicate European earwig (Forficula auricularia) foraging in orchards. *Journal of Applied Entomology*, **130**, 263–267.
- Sullivan, T. & Sullivan, D. (2003) Vegetation management and ecosystem disturbance: impact of glyphosate herbicide on plant and animal diversity in terrestrial systems. *Environmental Reviews*, **11**, 37–59.
- Tilman, D. (2001) Forecasting Agriculturally Driven Global Environmental Change. *Science*, **292**, 281–284.
- Torchio, P.F. & Biology, B. (1985) Field experiments with the pollinator species, *Osmia lignaria propinqua* Cresson, in apple orchards: V (1979-1980), methods of introducing bees, nesting

success, seed counts, fruit yields (Hymenoptera: Megachilidae). *Journal of the Kansas Entomological Society*, **58**, 448–464.

- Tscharntke, T., Thies, C., Roschewitz, I., Hu, M., Hücker, M., Tscharntke, T. & Thies, C. (2005) The influence of landscape context and farming practices on parasitism of cereal aphids. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **108**, 218–227.
- Tschumi, M., Albrecht, M., Bärtschi, C., Collatz, J., Entling, M.H. & Jacot, K. (2016) Perennial, species-rich wildflower strips enhance pest control and crop yield. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, **220**, 97–103.
- Tschumi, M., Albrecht, M., Entling, M.H. & Jacot, K. (2015) High effectiveness of tailored flower strips in reducing pests and crop plant damage. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **282**, 20151369.
- Vicens, N. & Bosch, J. (2000) Pollinating efficacy of Osmia cornuta and Apis mellifera (Hymenoptera: Megachilidae, Apidae) on 'Red Delicious' apple. Environmental Entomology, 29, 235–240.
- Wäckers, F.L. & van Rijn, P.C.J. (2012) Pick and mix: selecting flowering plants to meet the requirements of target biological control insects. *Biodiversity and Insect Pests: Key Issues for Sustainable Management*, pp. 139–165. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- Wade, M.R., Gurr, G.M. & Wratten, S.D. (2008) Ecological restoration of farmland: progress and prospects. *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological sciences*, **363**, 831–47.
- Walton, N.J. & Isaacs, R. (2011) Influence of native flowering plant strips on natural enemies and herbivores in adjacent blueberry fields. *Environmental Entomology*, **40**, 697–705.
- Wang, Q.Y., Zhou, D.M. & Cang, L. (2009) Microbial and enzyme properties of apple orchard soil as affected by long-term application of copper fungicide. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, **41**, 1504–1509.
- Wastian, L., Unterweger, P.A. & Betz, O. (2016) Influence of the reduction of urban lawn mowing on wild bee diversity (Hymenoptera, Apoidea). *Journal of Hymenoptera Research*, 49, 51– 63.
- Yang, Y., Wang, H., Tang, J. & Chen, X. (2007) Effects of weed management practices on orchard soil biological and fertility properties in southeastern China. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 93, 179–185.

7.1 Appendix 1

Mulch trial experimental design and orchard management details:

The experimental area consisted of randomised complete block design with 9 blocks spread across three tree rows. Trees were spaced 3.5 m between rows and 1 m within the row. Crop trees were 'Gala' apples with polliniser trees (*Malus spp.*) planted between every 10th and 11th crop tree.



Control (bare soil) Straw Compost Legume-grass cuttings Legume-grass x 2 cuttings Oversown-clover cuttings Oversown-clover x 2 cuttings



Alleyway

Spacer tree (no treatment)

1 Block number Pollensier tree

Mowing: Mowing of the orchard alleyways was carried out at a height of 5 cm once every 7-10 days between March and August.

Herbicide was applied to a 1 m wide strip either side of tree row (leaving 1.5 m of alleyway vegetation, predominately perennial ryegrass, *Lolium perenne*). Herbicide treatments for all plots were as follows:

May/June 2015: Round Up Biactive (Glyphosate) - 4lts/Ha Banlene Super (Mecoprop-p, Dicamba, MCPA) - 4lts/Ha

December/January 2015: Rosate 36 (Glyphosate 36%) - 4lts/Ha Banlene Super (Mecoprop-p, Dicamba, MCPA) - 4lts/Ha

May/June 2016: Rodeo (Glyphosate 36%) - 2.4lts/Ha Transfer (Mecoprop-p, Dicamba, MCPA) - 2.4lts/Ha

November/December 2016: Spray Guard (Water Conditioner) - 0.4lts/Ha Kyleo (Glyphosate 24% + 2,4-D 16%) 4lts/Ha

For pesticide and nutritional sprays see Farm 2, Appendix 2



Mulch trial plot design.

Appendix 1

7.2 Appendix 2

Cover-crop trial experimental design and orchard management details:

This experiment consisted of a randomised complete block design using 6 orchard blocks across 2 farms (3 blocks per farm). Plots were at least 40 m away from each other and a minimum of 10 m from the orchard edge. Blocks were at least 200 m away from each other.

Mowing: Mowing of the control plot orchard alleyways was carried out on the dates of spray applications (see below), approximately once every 7-10 days between March and August, at a height of 5 cm.

Mowing of the Legume-grass, and Oversown-clover plots was carried out at a height of 15 cm in June, July, and August 2015, and July and August in 2016. The Floral-rich plots were mown in July and August 2015 and 2016, with only alternate alleyways mown in July.

Herbicide treatment of the weed strips was as follows:

May/June 2015: Round Up Biactive (Glyphosate) - 4lts/Ha Banlene Super (Mecoprop-p, Dicamba, MCPA) - 4lts/Ha

December/January 2015: Rosate 36 (Glyphosate 36%) - 4lts/Ha Banlene Super (Mecoprop-p, Dicamba, MCPA) - 4lts/Ha

May/June 2016: Rodeo (Glyphosate 36%) - 2.4lts/Ha Transfer (Mecoprop-p, Dicamba, MCPA) - 2.4lts/Ha

November/December 2016: Spray Guard (Water Conditioner) - 0.4lts/Ha Kyleo (Glyphosate 24% + 2,4-D 16%) 4lts/Ha

Pesticides and nutritional sprays were as follows (spray application dates were on the date shown or within one day of this date):

Farm 1:

	2015	2016				
Date	Treatments	Rate per hectare	Date	Treatments	Rate per hectare	
28/03/2015	Headland Inorganic Liquid Copper	250 lt	24/03/2016	Headland Inorganic Liquid Copper	2.5 lt	
07/04/2015	SYLLIT 400 SC	2.5 lt	02/04/2016	SYLLIT 400 SC	2.5 lt	
	C-Tech Urea	2 kg	12/04/2016	Pyrus 400 SC (Pyrimethanil 40.0%)	0.75 lt	
	Pyrus 400 SC (Pyrimethanil 40.0%)	0.75 lt		DITHIANON Flowable (Dithianon)	1.1 lt	
15/04/2015	DITHIANON Flowable (Dithianon)	1.1 lt		C-Tech Urea	2 kg	
	EQUITY	1 lt	22/04/2016	DITHIANON Flowable (Dithianon)	1.1 lt	
	OPTE B	1 lt		KINDRED (Meptyldinocap)	0.6 lt	
	ZINTRAC	1 lt		MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt	
	C-Tech Urea	2 kg		ZINTRAC	1 lt	



An example of an orchard block with alleyway cover crop plots.

25/04/2015	KINDRED (Meptyldinocap)	0.6 kg		OPTE B	1 lt
	PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 kg	01/05/2016	Mix-Mate	0.25 lt
	MAINMAN (Flonicamid)	0.14 kg		PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 kg
	HEADLAND PANDA	5 lt		CALYPSO (Thiacloprid)	0.375 lt
04/05/2015	TOPENCO 100 EC (Penconazole)	0.5 lt		TOPAS (Penconazole)	0.5 lt
	PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 KG		MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt
	Pyrus 400 SC (Pyrimethanil 40.0%)	1 lt		HEADLAND PANDA	5 lt
	Bellis (Boscolid + Pyraclostrobin)	0.8 kg	11/05/2016	Mix-Mate	0.25 lt
	C-Tech Urea	3 kg		PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 kg
12/05/2015	TOPENCO 100 EC (Penconazole)	0.5 lt		TOPAS (Penconazole)	0.5 lt
	PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 kg		MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt
	MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt		HEADLAND PANDA	5 lt
	Difference (Difenoconazole 25%)	0.2 lt	20/05/2016	Mix-Mate	0.45 lt
	SENIPHOS	10 lt		Clayton Core (Captan 80.0%)	2 kg
22/05/2015	PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 kg		Geoxe (Fludioxonil)	0.45 kg
	Systhane 20 EW (Mycolbuntanil)	0.33 kg		Systhane 20 EW (Mycolbuntanil)	0.33 lt
	STROBY Wg (Kresomix-methyl)	0.2 lt		MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt
	CALYPSO (Thiacloprid)	0.375 lt	30/05/2016	Mix-Mate	0.25 lt
	Frutrel	5 lt		PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 kg
01/06/2015	PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 kg		CALYPSO (Thiacloprid)	0.375 lt
	Systhane 20 EW (Mycolbuntanil)	0.33 kg		Systhane 20 EW (Mycolbuntanil)	0.33 lt
	STROBY Wg (Kresomix-methyl)	0.2 kg		MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt
	Frutrel	5 lt		Frutrel	5 lt
	Difference (Difenoconazole 25%)	0.2 lt	09/06/2016	Mix-Mate	0.45 lt
11/06/2015	PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 kg		Clayton Core (Captan 80.0%)	2 kg
	Cosine (Cyflufenamid)	0.5 lt		Systhane 20 EW (Mycolbuntanil)	0.33 lt
	MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt		STROBY Wg (Kresomix-methyl)	0.2 kg
	HEADLAND PANDA	5 lt		Frutrel	2.5 lt
21/06/2015	PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 kg		MANTRAC 500	1 lt
	NIMROD (Bupirimate)	0.6 lt		Difference (Difenoconazole 25%)	0.2 lt
	RUNNER (Methoxyfenozide)	0.6 lt	17/06/2016	Mix-Mate	0.45 lt
	MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt		PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 kg
	STOPPIT	10 lt		STROBY Wg (Kresomix-methyl)	0.2 kg
01/07/2015	PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 kg		Systhane 20 EW (Mycolbuntanil)	0.33 lt
	CORAGEN (Chlorantraniliprole)	0.175 lt		RUNNER (Methoxyfenozide)	0.4 lt
	Cosine (Cyflufenamid)	0.5 lt		Difference (Difenoconazole 25%)	0.2 lt
	MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt	25/06/2016	Mix-Mate	0.45 lt
	STOPPIT	10 lt		Clayton Core (Captan 80.0%)	2 kg
11/07/2015	PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 kg		Cosine (Cyflufenamid)	0.5 lt
	NIMROD (Bupirimate)	0.6 lt		Difference (Difenoconazole 25%)	0.2 lt
	MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt		Frutrel	2.5 lt
	STOPPIT	10 lt		MANTRAC 500	0.5 lt
21/07/2015	TOPENCO 100 EC (Penconazole)	0.5 lt	05/07/2016	Fontelis (Penthiopyrad 20.0%)	0.75 lt
	CORAGEN (Chlorantraniliprole)	0.175 lt		CORAGEN (Chlorantraniliprole)	0.175 lt
	MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt		Difference (Difenoconazole 25%)	0.2 lt
	STOPPIT	10 lt		MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt
31/07/2015	TOPENCO 100 EC (Penconazole)	0.5 lt		HEADLAND PANDA	5 lt
	MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt	15/07/2016	Mix-Mate	0.45 lt
	STOPPIT	10 lt		PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 kg
10/08/2015	SENIPHOS	10 lt		Cosine (Cyflufenamid)	0.5 lt
	MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt		Maxicrop Xtra-fol	3 lt

Bellis (Boscolid + Pyraclostrobin)	0.8 kg
SENIPHOS	10 lt
MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt
Bellis (Boscolid + Pyraclostrobin)	0.8 kg
SENIPHOS	10 lt
MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt
	SENIPHOS MAXICROP TRIPLE Bellis (Boscolid + Pyraclostrobin) SENIPHOS

2015

Farm 2:

25/07/2016	Fontelis (Penthiopyrad 20.0%)	0.75 lt
	CORAGEN (Chlorantraniliprole)	0.175 lt
	MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt
	Potassium Nitrate G Grade	3 kg
04/08/2016	SENIPHOS	10 lt
	MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt
	C-Tech Urea	3 kg
	FERLEAF	1 lt
	Systhane 20 EW (Mycolbuntanil)	0.33 lt
14/08/2016	Systhane 20 EW (Mycolbuntanil)	0.33 lt
	MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt
	Potassium Nitrate G Grade	3 kg
24/08/2016	Bellis (Boscolid + Pyraclostrobin)	0.8 kg
	SENIPHOS	10 lt
03/09/2016	Bellis (Boscolid + Pyraclostrobin)	0.8 kg
	SENIPHOS	10 lt

2016

Date	Treatments	Rate per hectare	Date	Treatments	Rate per hectare
26/03/2015	Headland Inorganic Liquid Copper	2.5 lt	22/03/2016	Headland Inorganic Liquid Copper	2.5 lt
05/04/2015	SYLLIT 400 SC	2.5 lt	31/03/2016	SYLLIT 400 SC	2.5 lt
	C-Tech Urea	2 kg	10/04/2016	Pyrus 400 SC (Pyrimethanil 40.0%)	0.75 lt
	Pyrus 400 SC (Pyrimethanil 40.0%)	0.75 lt		DITHIANON Flowable (Dithianon)	1.1 lt
13/04/2015	DITHIANON Flowable (Dithianon)	1.1 lt		C-Tech Urea	2 kg
	EQUITY	1 lt	20/04/2016	DITHIANON Flowable (Dithianon)	1.1 lt
	OPTE B	1 lt		KINDRED (Meptyldinocap)	0.6 lt
	ZINTRAC	1 lt		MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt
	C-Tech Urea	2 kg		ZINTRAC	1 lt
23/04/2015	KINDRED (Meptyldinocap)	0.6 lt		OPTE B	1 lt
	PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 kg	29/04/2016	Mix-Mate	0.25 lt
	MAINMAN (Flonicamid)	0.14 kg		PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 kg
	HEADLAND PANDA	5 lt		CALYPSO (Thiacloprid)	0.375 lt
02/05/2015	TOPENCO 100 EC (Penconazole)	0.5 lt		TOPAS (Penconazole)	0.5 lt
	PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 kg		MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt
	Pyrus 400 SC (Pyrimethanil 40.0%)	1 lt		HEADLAND PANDA	5 lt
	Bellis (Boscolid + Pyraclostrobin)	0.8 kg	09/05/2016	Mix-Mate	0.25 lt
	C-Tech Urea	3 kg		PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 kg
10/05/2015	TOPENCO 100 EC (Penconazole)	0.5 lt		TOPAS (Penconazole)	0.5 lt
	PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 kg		MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt
	MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt		HEADLAND PANDA	5 lt
	Difference (Difenoconazole 25%)	0.2 lt	18/05/2016	Mix-Mate	0.45 lt
	SENIPHOS	10 lt		Clayton Core (Captan 80.0%)	2 kg
20/05/2015	PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 kg		Geoxe (Fludioxonil)	0.45 kg
	Systhane 20 EW (Mycolbuntanil)	0.33 lt		Systhane 20 EW (Mycolbuntanil)	0.33 lt
	STROBY Wg (Kresomix-methyl)	0.2 kg		MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt
	CALYPSO (Thiacloprid)	0.375 lt	28/05/2016	Mix-Mate	0.25 lt
	Frutrel	5 lt		PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 kg
30/05/2015	PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 kg		CALYPSO (Thiacloprid)	0.375 lt
	Systhane 20 EW (Mycolbuntanil)	0.33 lt		Systhane 20 EW (Mycolbuntanil)	0.33 lt
	STROBY Wg (Kresomix-methyl)	0.2 kg		MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt
	Frutrel	5 lt		Frutrel	5 lt

	Difference (Difenoconazole 25%)	0.2 lt	07/06/2016	Mix-Mate	0.45 lt
09/06/2015	PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 kg		Clayton Core (Captan 80.0%)	2 kg
	Cosine (Cyflufenamid)	0.5 lt		Systhane 20 EW (Mycolbuntanil)	0.33 lt
	MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt		STROBY Wg (Kresomix-methyl)	0.2 kg
	HEADLAND PANDA	5 lt		Frutrel	5 lt
19/06/2015	PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 kg	15/06/2016	Mix-Mate	0.45 lt
	NIMROD (Bupirimate)	0.6 lt		PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 kg
	RUNNER (Methoxyfenozide)	0.6 lt		STROBY Wg (Kresomix-methyl)	0.2 kg
	MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt		Systhane 20 EW (Mycolbuntanil)	0.33 lt
	STOPPIT	10 lt		Difference (Difenoconazole 25%)	0.2 lt
29/06/2015	PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 kg		RUNNER (Methoxyfenozide)	0.4 lt
	CORAGEN (Chlorantraniliprole)	0.175 lt		MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt
	Cosine (Cyflufenamid)	0.5 lt	23/06/2016	Mix-Mate	0.45 lt
	MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt		Clayton Core (Captan 80.0%)	2 kg
	STOPPIT	10 lt		Cosine (Cyflufenamid)	0.5 lt
09/07/2015	PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 kg		Difference (Difenoconazole 25%)	0.2 lt
	NIMROD (Bupirimate)	0.6 lt		MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt
	MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt		Frutrel	5 lt
	STOPPIT	10 lt	03/07/2016	Fontelis (Penthiopyrad 20.0%)	0.75 lt
19/07/2015	TOPENCO 100 EC (Penconazole)	0.5 lt		CORAGEN (Chlorantraniliprole)	0.175 lt
	CORAGEN (Chlorantraniliprole)	0.175 lt		Difference (Difenoconazole 25%)	0.2 lt
	MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt		MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt
	STOPPIT	10 lt		HEADLAND PANDA	5 lt
29/07/2015	TOPENCO 100 EC (Penconazole)	0.5 lt	13/07/2016	Mix-Mate	0.45 lt
	MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt		PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 kg
	STOPPIT	10 lt		Cosine (Cyflufenamid)	0.5 lt
08/08/2015	SENIPHOS	10 lt		Maxicrop Xtra-fol	3 lt
	MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt	23/07/2016	Fontelis (Penthiopyrad 20.0%)	0.75 lt
18/08/2015	Bellis (Boscolid + Pyraclostrobin)	0.8 kg		CORAGEN (Chlorantraniliprole)	0.175 lt
	SENIPHOS	10 lt		Difference (Difenoconazole 25%)	0.2 lt
	MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt		MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt
28/08/2015	Bellis (Boscolid + Pyraclostrobin)	0.8 kg		Potassium Nitrate G Grade	3 kg
	SENIPHOS	10 lt	02/08/2016	Systhane 20 EW (Mycolbuntanil)	0.33 lts
	MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt		Delan Pro (12.50% Potassium phosphonate)	2.5 lt
12/11/2015	OPTE B	2 lt		MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt
	ZINTRAC	1 lt		Potassium Nitrate G Grade	3 kg
	BITTERSALZ	7 kg	12/08/2016	Systhane 20 EW (Mycolbuntanil)	0.33 lt
	C-Tech Urea	3 kg		PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 kg
				MAXICROP TRIPLE	2 lt
				Potassium Nitrate G Grade	3 kg
			22/08/2016	Bellis (Boscolid + Pyraclostrobin)	0.8 kg
				PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 kg
				SENIPHOS	10 lt
			01/09/2016	Bellis (Boscolid + Pyraclostrobin)	0.8 kg
				SENIPHOS	10 lt
			21/10/2016	PP Captan 80 Wg (Captan)	2 kg
				BITTERSALZ (EPSOTOP)	8 kg
					<i>A</i> 11

Maxicrop Xtra-fol ZINTRAC 700

OPTE B

1 lt

1 lt

2 lt